
CITY OF SILVERTON 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING      
Monday, December 04, 2023 – 6:30 pm  

Council Chambers – 421 South Water Street and Zoom  

Americans with Disabilities Act – The City of Silverton intends to comply with the A.D.A. The meeting location 
is accessible to individuals needing special accommodations such as a sign language interpreter, headphones, 
or other special accommodations for the hearing impaired. To participate, please contact the City at 503-
874-2216 at least 48 hours prior to the meeting. 

A copy of the full packet is available on the City’s website at https://silverton.or.us/meetings. In accordance 
with House Bill 2560 and City of Silverton Resolution 22-06, the meeting will be held in a hybrid format: in 
person, and electronically using the Zoom web conference platform. Please submit written comments to 
publiccomment@silverton.or.us by 3:00 p.m. on Monday, December 04, 2023. Comments received will be 
shared with the City Council and included in the record. If you wish to participate through the Zoom web 
conference platform, see meeting information below.   

 
Zoom meeting link: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86069656539?pwd=YTVWb1ptdk1uQkRrUGJTbDFnVUo4UT09 
Webinar ID: 860 6965 6539 
Passcode: 848702 
Telephone: 1 253 215 8782  
     
 

AGENDA 

I. OPENING CEREMONIES - Call to Order, Pledge of Allegiance and Roll Call 

II. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  
2.1 Minutes from November 06, 2023, City Council Meeting and the November 20, 2023, 

City Council Work Session.   
 

III. PUBLIC COMMENT – This is a business meeting of the City Council.  The City values and 
welcomes public input.  Please address the Council as a whole and not individual Council 
Members.  Do not address staff or members of the audience.  Council action on items brought 
up in Public Comment is limited by the Oregon Open Meeting Law. The Council may direct staff 
to study the matter and reschedule it for further consideration later.  Items on the agenda will not 
be heard or discussed during Public Comment but will be accepted at that place on the agenda. 
Individuals are limited to three (3) minutes. 

IV. PROCLAMATION  
 4.1 Kiwanis Club of Silverton Day – December 05, 2023 
  

V. SCHEDULED PRESENTATIONS 
 5.1 Silverton Chamber of Commerce Monthly Report – Executive Director Stacy Palmer 

 
VI. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

6.1 Zone Change Public Hearing – Community Development Director Jason Gottgetreu 
 
6.2 Annexation Public Hearing - Community Development Director Jason Gottgetreu 

https://silverton.or.us/meetings
mailto:publiccomment@silverton.or.us
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86069656539?pwd=YTVWb1ptdk1uQkRrUGJTbDFnVUo4UT09


 
VII. DISCUSSION/ACTION 

7.1 Water Quality DEQ MAO Update – Water Quality Supervisor Brad Jensen 
 
VIII. CONSENT 

8.1 Emergency Operation Plan Updates – City Manager Cory Misley 
 
8.2 Civic Center Change Order Ratification – Community Development Director Jason 

Gottgetreu 
 
8.3 Annual SDC Report FY 2022-2023 - Deputy City Manager/Finance Director 

Kathleen Zaragoza 
  

IX. COMMITTEE APPOINTMENTS 
 9.1 Reappointment to the Oregon Garden Foundation Board 
 

X. CITY MANAGER UPDATE 
 
XI. COUNCIL COMMUNICATIONS 

XII. ADJOURNMENT 



 

November 06, 2023, Silverton City Council Meeting Minutes - Page 1 of 7 
 

CITY OF SILVERTON 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES  
Council Chambers 421 S Water Street and Zoom Web Conference Platform 
 
November 06, 2023, 6:45 pm 
 
 

I. OPENING CEREMONIES – Call to Order, Pledge of Allegiance & Roll Call  
 
Mayor Freilinger called the meeting to order at 6:47 p.m. The City Council and staff were present both in person and 
through the virtual meeting platform Zoom. Mayor Freilinger explained the meeting was being held in a hybrid format, 
pursuant to City of Silverton Resolution 22-06, adopted March 7, 2022.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

STAFF PRESENT:  
City Manager Cory Misley, Community Development Director Jason Gottgetreu, Police Chief Jim Anglemier, Public 
Works Director Travis Sperle, Assistant to City Manager/Human Resources Coordinator Tammy Shaver.  
 

II. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
Councilor Sutton moved to approve the October 02, 2023, Regular Session Meeting Minutes, and the October 16, 
2023, Work Session Minutes. Councilor Miller seconded.  No discussion. Motion passed unanimously. (7-0-0) 

 
III. PUBLIC COMMENT 

Wilma “Trudy” Riggs, Silverton, Oregon 
Ms. Riggs expressed concerns about the crosswalk located at N. Water Street and High Street.  She is concerned about 
the visibility of pedestrians when using the crossing and felt the vehicles parked in the adjacent parking spaces obstruct 
the view of those pedestrians. Ms. Riggs also talked about “Danger Hill” and the significant number of vehicles she 
watched during Halloween evening in the area of Steelhammer and E. Main Street, she counted two hundred (200) 
cars in the span of a couple of hours and said there is no safe place to walk.  
 
 

IV. SCHEDULED PRESENTATIONS 
4.1 Silverton Chamber of Commerce Executive Director, Stacy Palmer 
Mrs. Palmer read the monthly update (Attachment A) Silverton Business Group meets Wednesday mornings at 8:00 
a.m. at Silver Falls Brewery, except on the third Wednesday of the month when they host the 'Lunch & Learn' from 
11:30 a.m. to 12:45 p.m. The next meeting is scheduled for November 15, 2023, and will feature City Manager Cory 
Misley. 
 

Present 
 

X 

 Absent 
 
 

  
  
Mayor Jason Freilinger 

X 
 

 
   

Council President Elvi Cuellar Sutton 
 

X 
 

 
 

Jess Miller 
 

X 
 

 
 

April Newton 
 

X 
 

 
 

Eric Hammond  
 

X 
 
  

 
Marie Traeger 

 
X 

 
 

 
Matt Gaitan 



 

November 06, 2023, Silverton City Council Meeting Minutes - Page 2 of 7 
 

This week, the Chamber is holding a special going away party for Assistant Fire Chief Ed Grambusch.  Ed has been 
a valuable participant in the Silverton Business Group Meetings and will be missed. 
 
Mrs. Palmer wanted to congratulate Guerra’s Restaurant for winning the Marion County Employment First Award 
last month.  The award recognizes employees, employers, and employment professionals who champion the cause of 
Employment First for people with disabilities in our communities.  
 
The North Marion Tourism Collaborative recently completed their Strategic Plan and established a Board for 
oversight. Mrs. Palmer let us know she was selected to be a part of the Board to represent tourism promoters and the 
Silverton community.   
 
Mrs. Palmer said they are waiting to hear back on a Travel Oregon grant which would help provide digital resources 
and training for our tourism-facing businesses in the region. They are also working on additional grants to help provide 
training opportunities for Chamber members in everything from marketing, QuickBooks, human resources, or 
anything the group decides it might need.   
 
The Goblin Walk on Halloween was a huge success.  There were trick-or-treat spots all over town and feedback 
indicates they were busy.  The Chamber handed out over 100 pounds of candy.  Mrs. Palmer thanked the Silverton 
Police Department for their efforts to close Main Street, keep our children safe, and for all they do to be a part of and 
encourage the activities occurring in town. 
 
The First Friday Tree Lighting will be held on Friday, December 1, 2023, at 6:00 p.m. Wave Broadband is presenting 
the tree lighting, the program starts at 6:00 p.m. and the tree lighting is at 7:00 p.m. Town Square Park will be decorated 
with lights and garland on the Sunday after Thanksgiving, November 26, 2023, starting at 10:00 a.m.  The lights will 
be installed on the big tree the following Tuesday, November 28, 2023.   
 
The Silverton Mt. Angel Shop Hop has been revamped.  This year there are about thirty (30) businesses participating 
and to fill out your passport you need to visit less shops than last year, however, you must make a purchase to get a 
stamp.  You can fill out multiple passports as long as you make the necessary number of stops at participating 
merchants and make a purchase at each one.  The Hop starts November 24, 2023, and runs through December 12, 
2023.  Winners will be drawn at the December 13, 2023, Silverton Business Group Meeting. 
 
The 2024 First Citizen Banquet is scheduled for Saturday, February 17, 2024, at the Oregon Garden. Mrs. Palmer 
reminded us to nominate deserving people for the First Citizen, Distinguished Service, and Business of the Year 
awards. You can send the Chamber an email to nominate. 
 
4.2 Marion County Economic Development Strategy Update – Marion County Economic Development Program 
Manager, AIC Kelli Weese, AICP  
Ms. Weese talked about the update to the Strategic Plan and their goal to make certain they are getting input from 
cities.  She emphasized it is important for them to help cities grow employment, keep existing jobs, promote 
community, and develop, and add capital improvements; anything that would improve the standard of living.   
 
Ms. Weese talked about funding coming from Oregon Lottery proceeds which are being utilized to encourage growth. 
Typically, that amounts to about two million dollars ($2,000,000) per year, and they work to leverage those dollars.  
This year there was over nineteen million dollars ($19,000,000), which is an anomaly, the majority will be used for 
the canyon to help with wildfire recovery. 
 
Ms. Weese mentioned several communities they are helping with projects.  On November 17, 2023, they will be 
closing their public outreach.  She wants to know how Silverton is doing, how they can better support Silverton and 
in what ways we can collaborate.  The presentation (Attachment B) contains a page “Get Involved!” with QR codes 
and a survey, she requests input from the City. Included is a public survey and anyone is welcome to complete it. 
 
 
 
 
 



 

November 06, 2023, Silverton City Council Meeting Minutes - Page 3 of 7 
 

V. PUBLIC HEARING 
5.1   Manufactured Home Rehabilitation Program and Adopt Resolution 23-28 – A Resolution Supporting Assisted 
Housing Programs, Community Development Director Jason Gottgetreu. 
Community Development Director Jason Gottgetreu yielded the floor to John Schmidt, Mid-Willamette Valley 
Council of Governments (MWVCOG) Housing Rehabilitation Loan Manger, who was invited to speak because the 
City is completing a Manufactured Housing Rehabilitation Grant Program, awarded February 2022. Schmidt told 
Council seventeen (17) homeowners benefited from this grant program in Silverton, one hundred sixty-five thousand, 
nine hundred and fifty-two dollars ($165,952) was spent in our community.  Other communities benefiting from this 
program included Stayton and Hubbard.  A total of three hundred forty-two thousand, eight hundred and fifty-three 
dollars ($342,853) was spent assisting homeowners who live in manufactured home parks in the three communities.  
 
Mayor Freilinger asked Schmidt to explain Silverton’s unique position and role in this group.  Schmidt explained the 
City began meetings during the latter part of 2021, there were Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Covid 
-19 funds available, the City applied for and partnered with Stayton and Hubbard and were awarded four hundred and 
seventy thousand dollars ($470,000).  
 
Councilor Newton asked if the program was ending, and Schmidt confirmed it was.  He also said there is the potential 
for future funding but the City would have to apply again, this time through Marion County.   
 
Mayor Freilinger clarified the resolution was for the purpose of supporting assisted housing programs. Schmidt 
explained the public hearing and the resolution were requirements of the grant to close it.   
 
Mayor Freilinger opened the public hearing regarding Manufactured Home Rehabilitation Program and to take 
comments about local government performance and adopt Resolution 23-28 at 7:25 p.m. 
 
No public comment. 
 
Mayor Freilinger entertained a motion to close the public hearing.  
 
Councilor Sutton moved to close the public hearing.  
 
The Public Hearing closed at 7:26 p.m. 
 
A motion was made by Councilor Sutton to pass Resolution No. 23-28, A Resolution Supporting Assisted Housing 
Programs.  Councilor Miller seconded.  No discussion.  Motion passed unanimously (7-0-0). 
 

VI. DISCUSSION/ACTION 
6.1 Authorize the City Manager to Amend the contract with Compass Project Solutions, for the Civic Center Project 
- Community Development Director Jason Gottgetreu 
Louis Mendoza and Ricardo Becerril from Compass Project Solutions joined Community Development Director Jason 
Gottgetreu.  Gottgetreu provided a summary about the need for the amendment and extension.  Gottgetreu explained 
the extension is not caused by a single reason.  Some of the reasons for the amendment and extension include, supply 
chain issues, including the generator, which was ordered about 60 weeks ago, and was just delivered, change orders 
which fall into different categories, incorrect installations, and City requests for items to add resilience to the building, 
as well as design enhancement and clarification. 
 
Becerril agreed with Gottgetreu’s assessment of the reasons for the extension.  Becerril provided some history and a 
timeline.  Becerril informed Council there is about ten to twelve percent (10-12%) of the project left to complete. 
 
Mayor Freilinger invited public comment. 
 
 
 



 

November 06, 2023, Silverton City Council Meeting Minutes - Page 4 of 7 
 

Robert Wood, Silverton, Oregon 
Mr. Wood wanted to know the value of some of the outstanding change orders on the Civic Center Project. Gottgetreu 
said Compass is tracking the change orders known but not yet processed.  Mr. Wood also expressed concerns about 
potential extended overhead claims from subcontractors. Ricardo Becerril and Louis Mendoza, from Compass Project 
Solutions, responded they were aware and in active negotiations with the general contractor on their time extension.  
Becerril said there is no singular responsibility for the extension and a significant portion of the extension of the 
general contractor’s timeline is the contractor’s responsibility and they acknowledge they are responsible.  Becerril 
said the ensuing responsibility for the subcontractors would fall on the general contractor.  
 
Mr. Wood asked when substantial completion of the Civic Center Project would be occurring. Becerril and Mendoza 
said substantial completion would occur close to Christmas, December 25, 2023, and Compass recommended the City 
not take occupancy until February or March which would allow time to handle any punch list and quality control 
issues to the City’s and design team’s satisfaction.  
 
Mr. Wood then reiterated his first question asking if there was a value of the published or outstanding claims or change 
orders.  Mendoza and Becerril reminded Mr. Wood they were in negotiation with both the architect and the contractor 
and provided information on the project contingency.  Eighty-eight to ninety percent (88-90%) of the construction 
work has been completed.  Ninety-three percent (93%) of the original contingency has been spent. Becerril explained 
every dollar is of critical importance and all the known costs and exposures to the City should fall within the remaining 
contingency. 
 
Councilor Traeger asked why the agenda said substantial completion in February 2024 when Compass said December. 
Becerril clarified date at the end of February was final completion.   
 
A motion was made by Councilor Sutton to authorize the City Manager to amend the contract with Compass Project 
Solutions, Incorporated, to increase the not to exceed amount by one hundred thirty-two thousand nine hundred eighty- 
seven dollars and seventy cents ($132,987.70) to six hundred ninety thousand one hundred fifty-one dollars and sixty-
six cents ($690,151.66) for the Civic Center Project.  Councilor Newton seconded.  Motion passed unanimously (7-
0-0). 
 
6.2 Authorize the City Manager to Amend the Contract with Mackenzie Engineering Architect for the Civic Center 
Project to Increase the Not to Exceed Cost by $166,941.85 – Community Development Director Jason Gottgetreu 
Community Development Director Jason Gottgetreu explained this has many of the same highlights as the previous 
item on the agenda where it is the additional time causing the needed increase in the contract amendment and scope.  
Gottgetreu referenced a letter from Mackenzie September 27, 2023, and advised the City has talked with Mackenzie.  
 
Councilor Miller requested verification this amount falls within the previously mentioned contingency.  Ricardo 
Becerril, Compass Project Solutions, confirmed it did. 
 
Councilor Newton clarified the increase was not for the amount of nine hundred twenty-six thousand, nine hundred 
forty-one dollars and eighty-five cents ($926,941.85) but for one hundred sixty-six thousand, nine hundred forty-one 
dollars and eighty- five cents ($166,941.85). 
 
A motion was made by Councilor Sutton to authorize the City Manager to Amend the Contract with Mackenzie 
Engineering Architect for the Civic Center Project to Increase the Not to Exceed Cost by one hundred sixty-six 
thousand nine hundred forty-one dollars and eighty-five cents ($166,941.85) to nine hundred twenty-six thousand, 
nine hundred and forty-one dollars and eighty-five cents ($926,941.85).  Councilor Miller seconded.  Motion passed 
unanimously (7-0-0). 
 
 
 



 

November 06, 2023, Silverton City Council Meeting Minutes - Page 5 of 7 
 

VII. CONSENT 
A motion was made by Councilor Sutton to approve the Consent Agenda including agenda items 7.1-7.2. Councilor 
Miller seconded. No discussion. Motion passed unanimously (7-0-0).  

7.1  Resolution 23-29 – Authorizing Signers on City Bank Accounts  
7.2 Civic Center Change Order Ratification  
 

VIII. COMMITTEE APPOINTMENTS  
Mayor Freilinger brought up an opening on the Transportation Advisory Committee.  Jeff Tinkham, owner of the 
Noble Fox, applied last time and he still wishes to be a part of the committee.  Mayor Freilinger supports appointing 
him to the Committee.    
 
A motion was made by Councilor Miller to appoint Jeff Tinkham to the available opening on the Transportation 
Advisory Committee for the remainder of that term.  Councilor Newton seconded.  No discussion.  Motion passed 
unanimously (7-0-0). 
 
Mayor Freilinger requested a motion shrinking the Affordable Housing Task Force from thirteen (13) members to 
eleven (11) members.  He reminded everyone the Affordable Housing Task Force was not formed by resolution or 
ordinance. It was passed and created by a motion. 
 
Councilor Hammond asked how long the Affordable Housing Task Force would be needed.  Mayor Freilinger said it 
was not possible to provide a timeline because it can be intertwined with Planning and which can take considerable 
time to resolve issues. However, in the future, he and the Council will be considering a City policy about how task 
forces and committees should be formed to standardize the process. 
 
A motion was made by Councilor Hammond to change the membership for the Affordable Housing Task Force from 
thirteen (13) members to eleven (11) members.  Councilor Sutton seconded.  No discussion. Motion passed 
unanimously (7-0-0). 
 

IX. CITY MANAGER UPDATE 
City Manager Cory Misley provided an update of his first three (3) weeks and one (1) day as City Manager. He 
provided a snapshot of how he has been spending his time which included meeting with all the Council members 
individually and each department within the City.  Misley said he has at least been able to make introductions.  He 
has attended the following meetings, Environmental Management Urban Tree Committee, Affordable Housing Task 
Force, Urban Renewal Agency Advisory Committee and listened to a Planning Commission and Transportation 
Advisory Meeting.  Misley has plans to attend the upcoming Parks Master Plan Advisory Committee.  He has attended 
at least ten (10) meetings related to the Civic Center Project which is complex and in the eleventh (11th) hour.  Misley 
has had meetings with legal, attended a Chamber Breakfast, met with Stacy Palmer, Chamber Director, the YMCA, 
Silverton Area Community Aid (SACA), Sheltering Silverton, the Oregon Garden Foundation, Mural Society, fire 
district, and Regional Solutions from the Governor’s Office.  He is working to understand what is in motion, he wants 
to be as much assistance as possible when the calendar flips to 2024. He reminded Council there will be a budget 
check-in in December, to look at where things are at the mid-point of the fiscal year. 
 
Mayor Freilinger expressed his appreciation at how proactive City Manager Misley is being. He has received positive 
feedback from everyone who has interacted with Misley, and he is a positive addition to the City. 

 
X. COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 
Councilor Miller mentioned the parking layout and N. Main Street visibility and wanted to know if it was known 
whether any incidents have occurred there. Miller said he too has crossed that area and had concerns about visibility.  
He would like to look more closely into the situation to determine if there is a need to potentially move or reduce 
parking.  
 



 

November 06, 2023, Silverton City Council Meeting Minutes - Page 6 of 7 
 

The American Legion contacted Miller about including the City and City staff for the dedication of the Space Force 
Flag which will occur on December 20, 2023, at 12:00 p.m., at the Plaza where the Memorial is located.   
 
Councilor Newton talked about the mural for the Civic Center and the original spot proposed for its placement, she 
feels the location was good.  City Manager Misley let her know the Mural Society would be returning to share their 
current proposal during the City Council Work Session on November 20, 2023.  
 
Newton referenced Ms. Riggs’ concerns and said she lives in the same area and Main St. and Steelhammer are very 
busy there. She articulated a concern regarding where the City needs to initiate the process to start sidewalks.  She felt 
the lack of sidewalks by the Water Treatment Plant did not support the best image of the City. Newton would like 
Council and staff to keep this on their minds. 
 
Councilor Hammond expressed agreement with Councilor Newton on the sidewalk issue. Hammond said he has been 
researching the League of Oregon Cities (LOC) and heard they, who are our lobbying group, had been lobbying for 
changes to Measure 110. He said he has been deep diving into what the LOC does, and he thinks we need to be 
proactive about steering them to represent our City the way we want it represented.  Hammond believes we should 
have a voice and encourages communication with LOC. 
 
Councilor Gaitan read a statement about the importance of voting on November 7, 2023.  The Silver Falls School 
District has a bond being voted on and he emphasized how important our schools are for our children and how 
important it is to vote. 
 
Councilor Newton agreed with Gaitan and thanked him for making a statement about voting for our schools. 

 
Councilor Traeger wanted to follow up on the Veteran’s Day presentation on street banners.  She wanted to ensure it 
has not been overlooked or forgotten. Mayor Freilinger provided an update and said he has been talking with the City 
Manager and they are continuing to work on it.   
 
Traeger then asked if the City Manager has contacted the National Guard about the Community Center.  City Manager 
Misley said he has initiated contact with the representative we have historically worked with and is awaiting a 
response.  Misley said he has also been in contact with all the lessees of the building. Misley’s goal is to have a 
tentative direction by the end of December. 
 
Traeger expressed concern about the money being spent on the Civic Center.  She wanted to direct attention to the 
“promises” made to the community about the Civic Center and how the opening will be handled because the 
community will be scrutinizing it.  Traeger stated the community is noting the amount of money being spent and 
although she doesn’t know what a previous Council may have “promised” the community, they remember those 
statements and we need to be mindful of that. 
 
Councilor Sutton agreed with Councilors Miller, Newton, and Hammond regarding sidewalks and sidewalk 
placement.  Sutton agrees a safe place to walk is needed and would like to talk about it during goal setting. She 
expressed her concerns with “Danger Hill” and the original plan which is no longer in the budget.  Sutton also asked 
whose responsibility it was to clean the storm drains.  Public Works Director Travis Sperle explained it is the 
responsibility of Public Works, but they appreciate the assistance of the citizens.  Sutton believes the City should put 
something on social media encouraging residents to help by clearing debris or leaves away from the drains. 
 
Sutton asked about the speed zone change, Sperle responded he sent an email in to the Oregon Department of 
Transportation (ODOT) informing them the City did not agree with their assessment and would like the speed zone 
changed to what was originally asked for, thirty (30) miles per hour (mph) not thirty-five (35) mph and they agreed. 
Sperle further said the speed limit by Mountain View will be raised to forty-five (45) mph, as that area is in ODOT’s 
jurisdiction.  Sperle does not know when this will occur however, as soon as he has an update, he will advise Council.  
Sutton said this was a win and all of Council expressed their gratitude.  
 



 

November 06, 2023, Silverton City Council Meeting Minutes - Page 7 of 7 
 

Mayor Freilinger started his communication by talking about Transportation Committee related items, what happened 
on S. Water, if Council agreed, he would like the Committee to now look at North 1st St.  Freilinger says he hears a 
lot about safety and speed concerns from citizens.  He also wanted to see some focus on E. Main St by the skate park, 
Senior Center, and the Robert Frost School crossing.  He would like the Transportation Committee to look into these 
areas to see what speeds might be recommended.  Councilor Newton clarified; the speed was forty-five (45) mph from 
the Oregon Garden to the Senior Center.  Freilinger also requested attention to the High St. and Water St. intersection.  
Freilinger mentioned this might be fixable within the City Ordinance. 
 
Freilinger updated the Council on his meeting with Marion County Commissioner Bethel, he stated he was impressed 
with her depth of knowledge, passion, and willingness to help Silverton.  He would like to promote a Safe Routes to 
School program which would include improvements on Westfield St.  Commissioner Bethel offered County assistance 
to help write the grant and to partner with Silverton.  Bethel also expressed a willingness to partner with Silverton 
regarding affordable housing. 
 
Freilinger explained he has been in multiple conversations with the YMCA and SACA about the Community Center 
he plans to continue discussions.  In summary, they are waiting for the City to make a decision.  Freilinger wanted to 
discuss the Grand Opening of the Civic Center.  He has started discussions with City Manager Misley, about how it 
might be conducted.  Freilinger would like Council to let him know what they envision as their involvement. 
 
Freilinger wanted to make sure Council and the City were aware of two (2) subject matter town halls scheduled to 
occur in December.  The Parks and Rec Committee for public feedback is tentatively scheduled for the first week of 
December.  The Urban Renewal Agency, regarding the Main St. project, the details have not been set and he is still 
working on it.  Freilinger requested Council members make appearances at these events. 
 
Freilinger spoke about the All-Abilities Park.  He stated there is no scheduled opening date at this time.  They are on 
a weather delay, and he is working with the Public Works Director, Travis Sperle.  He cautioned everyone the park 
looks open, but it is not.  
 
Councilor Newton requested clarification regarding what remained to be done.  Freilinger responded there are a few 
amenities and the final poured layer which requires a full week above freezing and zero precipitation.  The contractor 
is watching the weather and ready to bring in crews.  The park is at the top of their list to be completed in the spring 
if the weather does not permit completing it before then.  
 

XI. ADJOURNMENT 
A motion was made by Councilor Sutton to adjourn.  Motion passed unanimously. (7-0-0). Meeting Adjourned at 
8:37 p.m.  
 
Respectfully submitted by: 
/s/Tammy Shaver – Assistant to the City Manager/Human Resources Coordinator 



 

November 20, 2023, Silverton City Council Work Session Minutes - Page 1 of 3 
 

CITY OF SILVERTON 
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES  
Council Chambers 421 S Water St and Zoom Web Conference Platform 
 
November 20, 2023, 6:30 pm 
 

I. OPENING CEREMONIES – Call to Order, Pledge of Allegiance & Roll Call  
Mayor Freilinger called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. The City Council and staff were present both in person and 
through the virtual meeting platform Zoom. Mayor Freilinger explained the meeting was being held in a hybrid format, 
pursuant to City of Silverton Resolution 22-06, adopted March 7, 2022.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

STAFF PRESENT:  
City Manager Cory Misley, Community Development Director Jason Gottgetreu, Public Works Director Travis 
Sperle, Chief of Police Jim Anglemier, Assistant to City Manager/Human Resources Coordinator Tammy Shaver 

 
II. DISCUSSION 

2.1 Update on Sheltering Silverton Project Completion and Opening, Sarah White, Sheltering Silverton  
          Executive Director 
Ms. White let Council know the project came in on time and under budget. It is functionally complete with a few 
finishing touches being applied. White said they are addressing parking. On November 21, 2023, at 1:00 p.m., the 
ribbon cutting, and formal opening will be held at 832 McClaine St., Silverton, OR.   
 
White thanked City staff, Travis Sperle, Mike Dahlberg, and Daryl Jones for being helpful and supportive. 
 
Monday, November 13, 2023, their operations were transferred to the shelter on McClaine Street, and they have been 
at capacity, serving fourteen (14) people per night since the transfer. White said they have had to turn some people 
away until the pallet shelters (cabins) are ready to open, there are four (4) of them, and once open, they will be able to 
serve twenty (20) people per night.  
 
White and her staff are working with Public Works to determine how best to share the space.  They currently have 
four (4) parking spaces and there are ten (10) staff members serving fifteen (15) to twenty-five (25) people per day. 
Sheltering Silverton staff have been parking offsite to free up those parking spaces. 
 
Councilor Sutton wanted to know how many people were being turned away.  White said they turned away three (3) 
people today.  Sutton asked for clarification if this was the average number daily.  White said it has been more lately, 
which is normal because of the weather, they always see a “spike” in numbers when the weather turns. She went on 
to say, they have funding to put people in hotel rooms which involves a process of prioritization, families with children 

Present 
 

X 

 Absent 
 
 

  
  
Mayor Jason Freilinger 

X 
 

 
   

Council President Elvi Cuellar Sutton 
 

X 
 

 
 

Jess Miller 
 

X 
 

 
 

April Newton 
 

X 
 

 
 

Eric Hammond  
 

X 
 
  

 
Marie Traeger 

 
X 

 
 

 
Matt Gaitan 



 

November 20, 2023, Silverton City Council Work Session Minutes - Page 2 of 3 
 

and medically fragile adults, particularly seniors.  They do have people in hotels in Salem to help manage the overflow.  
White emphasized they prioritize and serve people with a strong connection to the Silverton community.   
 
Councilor Sutton asked how Council could help with parking.  White said she was working with the owner of property 
adjacent to the driveway who has offered to let them gravel a grass lot and have ten (10) parking spaces.   
 
Councilor Newton wanted to know the statistics regarding finding permanent housing for those they serve. White 
responded they are averaging about five (5) individuals per month returning to permanent housing. The process 
involves intense case management, which includes people getting market rate housing, placement in adult foster care, 
assisted living, housing vouchers, and other arrangements.  The average for this year has been five (5) per month and 
over the past several years, White says they have helped over two hundred (200) people return to safe and stable 
housing.  
 
Newton followed up by asking what the average time is someone uses their services.  White said it varies, some are 
there for three (3) weeks and others only briefly.  They have those who are using their services today who were using 
their service four (4) years ago because they have barriers to housing. Families with children return to housing much 
quicker and average about three months maximum. 
 
Councilor Traeger asked if they were able to offer any other services with their case management such as drug and 
alcohol treatment or mental health aid. White said they work to get people connected to drug treatment programs, 
inpatient or outpatient. They work closely with Marion County Adult Behavioral Health, and they work with 
Bridgeway Community Connect and have them respond to the site as frequently as needed. 
 
Traeger also asked about the Safe Parking Program.  White reminded Council the program ended during the summer 
because of staffing. 
 
Councilor Newton expressed concern about issues which may come up with Sheltering Silverton’s facility being so 
close to Public Works and wanted to know if any help could be provided to facilitate coexistence.  City Manager Cory 
Misley responded, the parking issue is on the City’s radar, he wants to meet with them onsite to discuss strategies to 
mitigate the parking concerns. Misley stated we need to look at this through several lenses and a thorough discussion 
could be held during a meeting onsite. 
 
Councilor Hammond asked what issues might come up which would require resolution in the future. He identified a 
lack of sidewalk connection and asked what else there might be. White said the biggest thing is asking the community 
for patience as they work on issues and processes.   
 
White emphasized her request for patience and believes the City and Sheltering Silverton have similar goals. 

 
       2.2 Update on Civic Center Mural Concept – Silverton Mural Society 
Norm English and John Guy discussed the location for the mural. Their proposal, after collaborating with City 
Manager Cory Misley and Community Development Director Jason Gottgetreu, is to place the mural on the 1st Street 
side of the Civic Center which will make it highly visible to northbound traffic on 1st Street.  English and Guy both 
agree the location in the new proposal works and the mural may be more visible at this location than the original 
proposed location on the west side of the building. Their only requirement was the mural be “highly visible.”   
 
Councilor Traeger asked if the pattern would be the same or similar.  English confirmed it would be.  Traeger then 
asked if the mural cost of seventeen thousand one hundred and seventy-nine dollars ($17,179) covers everything.  He 
confirmed it did. 
 
Councilor Gaitan said he felt it would be in a highly visible and welcoming location and verified where it will be 
placed.  It will be located between Festival Street and A Street on 1st Street.   English affirmed. Gaitan then asked if 
the cost deviated from the previous estimate.  They responded it was the same. 
 
Mayor Freilinger said this was a great idea and he felt all parties agreed.  Council, staff, and the Mural Society were 
in favor of the placement of the mural.  City Manager Cory Misley will be checking on what is needed to move 
forward. 



 

November 20, 2023, Silverton City Council Work Session Minutes - Page 3 of 3 
 

 
       2.3 Presentation on Communications Team Survey - Councilor Gaitan and City Manager Cory Misley 
Councilor Gaitan began by providing some background information and referred to Council’s goals, of which 
communication was one of the primary goals.  Gaitan said he has been working with the Team since the first of the 
year and they began to explore various communication solutions.  Gaitan talked about some of the technologies which 
were being explored, demos he and the team participated in, and how they may help increase two-way communication.  
He said he felt the technologies were up to staff to determine how to increase their efficiency. 
 
Gaitan went on to say, he felt the Team was attempting to find solutions without enough data to inform them. It was 
then they decided to send out the survey. Gaitan encouraged Council to review the results if they hadn’t already.  He 
identified challenges with the perception of some events as the City’s responsibility to communicate when they were 
events the Chamber of Commerce would be communicating.  
 
City Manager Misley said staff could create a report or executive summary of the survey without editorializing it or 
forming conclusions.  Misley discussed the original goal of the Communications team to enhance internal and external 
communication.  He referenced a 2016 Communications Plan he recently had brought to his attention.  Misley said it 
was important we use what we have for communication and make sure we assess how we are doing with what we 
have and how might we want to elevate that with targeted initiatives or platforms or whatever it may be.  Misley wants 
to make sure we’re educating and working with residents to ensure they’re getting the benefits of what is currently in 
place. 
 
Misley asked for time to allow the Team to digest the results and determine if the current resources were being used 
to their fullest. 
 

III. Council Communications 
 

Councilor Newton attended the Chamber Lunch and Learn featuring City Manager Cory Misley.  Newton wanted to 
express how well the City Manager did during his presentation.  She felt his more informal approach, letting people 
ask questions, was well done and elicited information a more formal presentation may have missed.  Newton also 
wanted to bring Council’s attention to a concern about topics being brought up during meetings with no follow up or 
follow through.  Newton wants Council to be thoughtful of that and circle back to things and try to find solutions, 
especially to the things which come up frequently. 
 
Councilor Gaitan commented on Councilor Newton’s thoughts expanding by saying he thinks it is part of the speed 
in which government works. 
 
Councilor Traeger expressed how pleased she is to be a member of the Tourism Committee. Traeger advised Council 
of grants have been given to the following, the Gordon House for air conditioners, the Christmas Market at the Oregon 
Garden Resort, the Brewfest for Homer Davenport Days, the Stout and Owl Fest for the Fox Foundation, the Chamber 
First Friday, Paws in the Park, some more funds for the art association for the Art Festival, and Silverton in Bloom.  
 
Mayor Freilinger said he had nothing new to bring up.  He expressed some thoughts about items Newton and Gaitan 
brought up.  He said former Councilor Sears used to keep a spreadsheet and would bring items up at Council meetings.  
The Mayor agrees government does not move fast enough but he believes things are moving more quickly in the City 
than previously.  He said Council could move things along almost as fast as they would want by signing resolution 
after resolution, however, the work would not get completed.  Mayor Freilinger said there are three things which 
significantly impact the speed things get accomplished, money, public input, and the volume staff can handle at one 
time.  He has spoken with City Manager Misley to discuss prioritization and getting things done not just as timely as 
possible but done well.  Council goal setting is coming up in January and he believes a targeted, focused approach on 
goals including where Council can determine what is needed to move forward quickly.   
 

ADJOURNMENT 
A motion was made by Councilor Sutton to Adjourn. Meeting Adjourned at 7:28 pm. 

 
Respectfully submitted by: 
/s/Tammy Shaver – Assistant to the City Manager/Human Resources Coordinator 



 
 

 
 
WHEREAS, the Kiwanis Club of Silverton is celebrating their 60th year of Active Community 
Service to the residents of the Silverton community and more importantly to the youth; and 

WHEREAS, in addition to improving the lives of children in Silverton and communities around the 
world, Kiwanis Club members promote the development of community leaders, positive role models, 
intercultural understanding and cooperation, and community service; and 

WHEREAS, the first Kiwanis Club started its service in Detroit, Michigan, USA in 1915 and since 
December 5, 1963, the date their Club Charter was first issued, the Kiwanis Club of Silverton has 
exemplified the motto of Kiwanis International by continually serving the children in our community; 
and 

WHEREAS, the club has undertaken significant projects for the betterment of our youth, especially 
young children, including continuous sponsorship of Every Child A Swimmer, Kiwanis Terrific Kids, 
Silverton Pet Parade, Letters to Santa, Silverton High School Key Club, Academic Scholarships, 
Doernbecher Hospital Kiwanis Children's Cancer Program, and Kiwanis International campaign to 
Eliminate maternal/neonatal tetanus, to name a few; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the Silverton City Council extends their sincere appreciation to the Kiwanis Club of 
Silverton for their 60 years of dedicated service for their many contributions to the Silverton 
community. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Silverton City Council hereby proclaims December 5, 2023, as: 

"KIWANIS CLUB OF SILVERTON DAY" 

and asks all citizens of the City of Silverton and surrounding areas to congratulate the members of the 

Kiwanis Club of Silverton for their participation in such an honorable organization. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, we hereunto set our hands and cause the Seal of the City of Silverton to be 

affixed this 4th day of December 2023. 
 
 

 
 

       
                                                                                                       Mayor Jason Freilinger 

CITY OF SILVERTON 
PROCLAMATION 

KIWANIS CLUB OF SILVERTON DAY 
DECEMBER 5, 2023 

 



SILVERTON CITY COUNCIL STAFF REPORT 
TO THE HONORABLE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCILORS 

 
 

City of Silverton | 306 S. Water St., Silverton, OR 

Recommendation: 
The Planning Commission recommends the City Council Adopt Ordinance No. 23-07, Denying a 
Zone Change from R-1 to R-5 at 602 Eureka Avenue. 
 
Background:  
The applicant submitted an application on October 10, 2023 requesting a Zone Change for 602 
Eureka Avenue to change the zoning of the site from R-1, Single Family Residential to R-5, Low 
Density Residential.  The site is 5.15 acres in area and is currently vacant.  This would allow the 
site to develop between 5 and 10 unit per acre for an overall density range of 25 to 51 dwelling 
units.  The existing development capacity of the site under the R-1 zoning is 42 dwelling units. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Attachments:  

1. ZC-23-01 Staff Report 
2. November 14, 2023 Draft Planning Commission Minutes 
3. PC Resolution No. 23-07 
4. City Council Ordinance No. 23-07 

 

 

Agenda Item No.: Topic: 
6.1 Ordinance No. 23-07 - 

Denying a Zone Change from 
R-1 to R-5 at 602 Eureka 
Avenue.  

Agenda Type: 

Public Hearing 

Meeting Date:  

December 4, 2023 
Prepared by: Reviewed by: Approved by: 

Jason Gottgetreu Cory Misley Cory Misley 

Budget Impact Fiscal Year Funding Source 
None 2023-2024 N/A 



 

November 14, 2023, City of Silverton Planning Commission Regular Meeting  Page 1 of 14 

CITY OF SILVERTON 1 
PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES 2 

7:00 P.M.                   November 14, 2023                                                                                                                                                          3 
The Planning Commission of the City of Silverton, met in person at the Silverton High School 4 
Library, located at 1456 Pine Street with a Teleconference option through the virtual meeting 5 
platform, Zoom on November 14, 2023 at 7:02 p.m. with Madam Vice-Chair Kaser presiding. 6 
 7 

I. I. PLANNING COMMISSION ROLL CALL: 8 
 9 

Present 
 

 Absent 
 

  

  X  Chairman Clay Flowers 
X    Madam Vice-Chair Cara Kaser  
  X  David Castle 

X    Peter Matzka 
X    Rich Piaskowski 
X    Morry Jones  
X    Randell Walling 

 10 
STAFF PRESENT:   11 
Community Development Director, Jason Gottgetreu, Associate Planner Shauna Godlevsky, 12 
Planning and Permit Assistant, Cleone Cantu.   13 
 14 
II. MINUTES: None. 15 
 16 
 17 
III. BUSINESS FROM THE FLOOR: None.  18 
 19 
IV.     AGENDA:  20 
  21 
 22 
4.1 File Number AN-23-01. Annexation application to annex 827 Railway Avenue NE into the City 23 
Limits and zone the property GC, General Commercial. The total area of the annexation request is 24 
1.48 acres. The purpose of the annexation is to allow the existing building to be able to connect to 25 
the City sewer and water system. The application will be reviewed per Silverton Development Code 26 
sections 4.10.140.  27 
 28 
 29 
4.2 File Number ZC-23-01. Zone Change Application to change the zoning of 602 Eureka Avenue 30 
from R-1, Single Family Residential to R-5, Low Density Residential. The site is 5.15 acres in area 31 
and is currently vacant. The application will be reviewed per Silverton Development Code sections 32 
4.7.300. 33 
 34 
 35 
 36 
4.1 File Number AN-23-01. Annexation application to annex 827 Railway Avenue NE into the City 37 
Limits and zone the property GC, General Commercial. The total area of the annexation request is 38 
1.48 acres. The purpose of the annexation is to allow the existing building to be able to connect to 39 



 

November 14, 2023, City of Silverton Planning Commission Regular Meeting  Page 2 of 14 

the City sewer and water system. The application will be reviewed per Silverton Development Code 1 
sections 4.10.140.  2 
 3 
Madam Vice-Chair Kaser reviewed the Public Hearing procedures for a formal Quasi-judicial 4 
meeting and opened the public hearing at 7:04pm.  5 
 6 
No Commissioners abstained, claimed conflict of interest, or declared ex parte contact for the 7 
application before them. No member of the audience wished to challenge the jurisdiction of the 8 
Planning Commission to hear the matter at hand. No member of the audience wished to 9 
challenge the Planning Commission for bias, or conflict of interest.  10 
 11 
Director Gottgetreu presented the annexation application to annex 827 Railway Avenue NE into the 12 
City Limits and zone the property GC, General Commercial. The property is near an acre and a half and 13 
the annexation would allow the existing building and potential future buildings to connect to City water 14 
and sewer. The subject property is currently surrounded by the City limits on all sides classifying the 15 
location in the unannexed enclave. The site is currently developed for a manufacturing and production 16 
use, and a masonry business is on site. Director Gottgetreu referred to the City’s Comprehensive Plan and 17 
provided the current zoning of the site and adjacent sites in the area; with this the annexation was a 18 
logical allowance. The public facilities, transportation network, and utilities were then provided. Director 19 
Gottgetreu outlined the historical use of the property which created consistency if the property were to be 20 
annexed. The urbanization of the subject property was iterated along with potential economic impacts. 21 
The applicant had submitted a conceptual site plan of the property providing potential expansion, a visual 22 
example was provided.  23 
 24 
Director Gottgetreu opened the floor for questions.  25 
   26 
Commissioner Piaskowski inquired about utility capacity versus current utilization.  27 
 28 
Director Gottgetreu provided the process for the current sewer and water lines on the property.  29 
 30 
Commissioner Matzka inquired about the water quantity use, will there be a higher demand.  31 
 32 
Director Gottgetreu stated generally industrial manufacturing uses are not a high demand on water 33 
systems.  34 
 35 
Commissioner Piaskowski and Director Gottgetreu discussed future application for the site and design 36 
review requirements.  37 
 38 
Commissioner Jones and Director Gottgetreu discussed the zoning for the property.  39 
 40 
Madam Vice Chair Kaser provided the parameters for public testimony.  41 
 42 
Applicant(s) Testimony: 43 
 44 
Steve Kay, applicant representative of Cascadia Planning and Development Services, PO 45 
Box 1920 Silverton, OR 97381.  46 
The applicant stated the property owner currently operates Kaufman Masonry within an existing 47 
warehouse structure near nine thousand square feet. The business is a multi-generational 48 
business and has been a piece of the Silverton community since 1956. Kaufman Masonry 49 



 

November 14, 2023, City of Silverton Planning Commission Regular Meeting  Page 3 of 14 

specializes in fireplace, concrete block, brick, and stone construction. The company has 1 
completed notable public projects around Silverton, including the Veteran Memorial at Town 2 
Square Park, and the mosaic fountain in Coolidge McClaine Park. A portion of the warehouse is 3 
leased to Tiny Mountain Homes, which construct homes in entirety. The subject property is a 4 
small island within Marion County, however parcels to the East, West, and South are all 5 
currently within City limits. Use of the property is currently constrained by the reliance on a well 6 
on the site, and a septic holding tank which needs to be pumped every couple weeks. The 7 
proposed annexation will allow the existing warehouse to connect to City water, and sanitary 8 
sewer services within Railway Avenue. The submitted concept plan illustrated the property has 9 
potential to develop a secondary warehouse would provide additional manufacturing and 10 
production companies in Silverton. Future development would then be subject to City standards 11 
with upgrades to the existing parking lot and landscaping. The applicants have reviewed the staff 12 
report and do not have any concerns; they feel it is a cohesive representation of how the 13 
application meets criteria for approval.  14 
 15 
Steve Kay opened the floor for questions. There were none.  16 
 17 
PROPNENT TESTIMONY: There were no comments. 18 
 19 
OPPONENT TESTIMONY: There were no comments.  20 
 21 
NEUTRAL TESTIMONY: There were no comments. 22 
 23 
STAFF FOLLOW UP: There were no comments.  24 
 25 
REBUTTAL: There were no comments.  26 
 27 
Commissioner Matzka moved to close the Public Hearing, Commissioner Walling seconded the 28 
motion and the hearing was closed by consensus at 7:19pm.  29 
 30 
DISCUSSION: 31 
Commissioner Piaskowski stated they do not have any concerns regarding the application, it 32 
meets the criteria for annexation. Their questions had been answered regarding utility capacity 33 
and can be revisited during design review. Commissioner Piaskowski would vote to approve the 34 
application.  35 
 36 
Commissioner Matzka concurred with Commissioner Piaskowski and stated they do not see any 37 
issues with the application. It made logical sense.  38 
 39 
Commissioner Jones was in favor of the application.  40 
 41 
Madam Vice Chair Kaser stated the application made logical sense as the property was an island 42 
of County jurisdiction in the middle of the City.  43 
 44 
Commissioner Walling motioned to recommend approval of the application to the City Council. 45 
Commissioner Matzka seconded the motion, and it passed unanimously.  46 



 

November 14, 2023, City of Silverton Planning Commission Regular Meeting  Page 4 of 14 

 1 
4.2 File Number ZC-23-01. Zone Change Application to change the zoning of 602 Eureka Avenue 2 
from R-1, Single Family Residential to R-5, Low Density Residential. The site is 5.15 acres in area 3 
and is currently vacant. The application will be reviewed per Silverton Development Code sections 4 
4.7.300. 5 
 6 
No members of the Planning Commission wished to abstain or declare conflict of interest.  7 
 8 
Commissioner Jones declared ex parte contact. They reside near the property and drive by it 9 
every day. They received a phone call from a citizen regarding the application and 10 
Commissioner Jones recommended they attend the meeting. Commissioner Jones stated they are 11 
willing and able to make a decision solely based on evidence.  12 
 13 
No member of the audience wished to challenge the jurisdiction of the Planning Commission to 14 
hear the matter before them. No member of the audience wished to challenge any individual 15 
member of the Planning Commission for bias or conflict of interest.  16 
 17 
Madam Vice-Chair Kaser reviewed the guidelines for public testimony.  18 
 19 
Director Gottgetreu reviewed the zone change application for 602 Eureka Avenue. The 20 
application requested a zone change from R-1, Single Family Residential to R-5, Low Density 21 
Residential. The site is located on the South side of Eureka Avenue and South of Keene avenue, 22 
the property is 5.15 acres and currently vacant. The site underwent a previous land use decision 23 
by the Planning Commission in 2021 and was approved by the City Council for a 21-lot 24 
subdivision under the R-1 zoning district designated single family on the City’s Comprehensive 25 
Plan. The R-5 zone is listed as a compatible zoning district with the single-family residential plan 26 
designation. Density requirements for R-5 zoning are development between five and ten units per 27 
acre; comparatively the R-1 zone requires properties to develop at densities between two and six 28 
units per acre. With this, theoretically, under R-1 zoning, density for the property has potential to 29 
develop between ten and thirty-one units. Per State law House Bill 2001 the property may be 30 
developed to the approved 21-lot subdivision with duplexes resulting in 42 dwellings. Under the 31 
R-5 zoning, the property would have the potential to develop between 26 and 52 dwellings on 32 
the site.  33 
 34 
Director Gottgetreu addressed the Comprehensive Plan from an alternate point, which indicates 35 
multifamily development should be encouraged, especially, but not limited to, areas close to the 36 
central business district, or the walking districts to neighborhood commercial areas, or areas of 37 
mixed-use designation. Additionally multifamily development should be scattered around the 38 
community and not concentrated in any one area, preferably scattered within existing 39 
neighborhoods.  40 
 41 
Director Gottgetreu referred to the City’s Housing Needs Analysis which was adopted as a 42 
support document to the Comprehensive Plan in 2020. The document identified a deficit of 43 
housing for low-income households indicating a need for a wider range of housing types for 44 
renters and homeowners. The Housing Needs Analysis additionally indicated a deficit of land for 45 
three hundred and four multifamily style dwelling units; not necessarily affordable units, but 46 
multifamily style units; over the twenty-year planning period. Since the housing needs analysis 47 



 

November 14, 2023, City of Silverton Planning Commission Regular Meeting  Page 5 of 14 

in 2020, ninety-seven multifamily units have been approved for development.   1 
 2 
Director Gottgetreu presented the maximum traffic impact potential of the development. The 3 
data was gathered from the Institute of Transportation Engineer Trip Generation Manual and 4 
provided PM peak trips with differential between single family occupancy and multifamily 5 
occupancy. R-1 single family occupancy for the site would add 21 PMPHT power trips to the 6 
transportation system, duplexes would add an estimated 42 PMPHT trips to the transportation 7 
system. If the site were developed under the 51-unit multifamily development proposal (with an 8 
assumption of apartments) 31 PMPHT trips would be added to the transportation network; there 9 
is a possibility for flexibility with this assumed amount as R-5 zoning allows for a variety of 10 
uses.  11 
 12 
Director Gottgetreu then displayed a visual example of the previously approved subdivision site 13 
plan and informed the Planning Commission of the available utilities on the site. The differential 14 
between R-1 and R-5 zoning was then provided with development housing options for each 15 
category. Altering the current zoning for the site to R-5 would allow multiple styles of 16 
development. Approval would depend on the development application displaying code 17 
compliance and require additional public process and review. Director Gottgetreu then 18 
summarized the potential density options for the site with comparison of R-1 and R-5 zoning. 19 
They then addressed the drainage for the site as public comment had initiated concern. 20 
Topography maps were displayed to the Planning Commission to illustrate the specifications of 21 
the area along with the development standards for stormwater detention and retention and 22 
potential flood events. Director Gottgetreu then elucidated the applicants previous plan for 23 
stormwater. Public comment had additionally iterated concern for wetlands on the property to 24 
which Director Gottgetreu confirmed the applicant had proposed to protect the wetlands.   25 
 26 
Director Gottgetreu opened the floor for questions.  27 
 28 
Commissioner Walling requested clarification on the drainage for the property.  29 
 30 
Director Gottgetreu and Commissioner Walling discussed the proposed plan for stormwater.  31 
 32 
Commissioner Jones and Director Gottgetreu discussed the water on the site and the possible 33 
water usage if the application were approved and 51-units were developed. Updating the water 34 
treatment plan was then discussed, there is not a current timeline. Commissioner Jones inquired 35 
about density development for the site and if the Master Plan had indicated a need for housing 36 
development in the area. Director Gottgetreu referred to the Housing Needs Analysis and 37 
provided elucidation. Commissioner Jones and Director Gottgetreu then discussed the landscape 38 
conservation standards for the site and the Oregon Garden access easement and water line use. 39 
Pedestrian connectivity for the site was then discussed.  40 
 41 
Commissioner Matzka asked for clarification on the current subdivision approval and the 42 
potential buildable lot/units if the zoning change were allowed.  43 
 44 
Director Gottgetreu outlined the approved lot potential and the possible development under R-5 45 
zoning.  46 



 

November 14, 2023, City of Silverton Planning Commission Regular Meeting  Page 6 of 14 

Commissioner Matzka and Director Gottgetreu discussed design criteria, density, and structure 1 
standards, for R-1 and R-5 zoning.  2 
 3 
Commissioner Piaskowski referenced the wetlands on the property in correlation with drainage 4 
volumes and requested clarification on the proposed drainage location for the site.  5 
 6 
Director Gottgetreu and Commissioner Piaskowski discussed guidelines and process for 7 
development near wetlands. Drainage capacity was then spoken about in relation to R-1 and R-5 8 
zoning. Commissioner Piaskowski mentioned a four hundred- and fifty-year-old Oak tree in the 9 
wetland area. Director Gottgetreu conveyed general sustainability for Oak trees and direction of 10 
drainage on the site.  11 
 12 
The Planning Commission collectively discussed the modification of subsurface water flow on 13 
the site.  14 
 15 
Madam Vice Chair Kaser and Director Gottgetreu discussed the applicant’s capability of 16 
beginning the development process for the current approved application. Discussion was then 17 
had on the zoning approval retainment with the land and the extension process for the application 18 
and the applicants current request for extension.  19 
 20 
Madam Vice Chair Kaser stated per the code the applicant is not obligated to present a 21 
development plan for rezoning consideration.  22 
 23 
Director Gottgetreu elucidated the review criteria for the application.  24 
 25 
Commissioner Piaskowski asked if there were water pressure issues in the adjacent residential 26 
areas; additionally, they inquired about the available utility capacities.  27 
 28 
Commissioner Walling and Director Gottgetreu discussed the current subdivision approval 29 
regarding drainage and the wetlands with the potential of revisiting the topics if a new 30 
development plan were submitted.  31 
 32 
 Commissioner Piaskowski inquired about the design review process and minimum development 33 
densities.  34 
 35 
Commissioner Jones and Director Gottgetreu discussed current developable lots within the City 36 
of Silverton and the housing deficit.  37 
 38 
Madam Vice Chair Kaser asked for clarification on conditioning the application for approval and 39 
the process for encumbrance on the previous approval.   40 
 41 
Commissioner Walling and Madam Vice Chair Kaser discussed the process for disapproval of 42 
the application.  43 
 44 
APPLICANT(S) TESTIMONY:  45 
 46 



 

November 14, 2023, City of Silverton Planning Commission Regular Meeting  Page 7 of 14 

Britney Randall with Brand Land Use, representing the developer and property owner, 1 
1720 Liberty Street SE, Salem Oregon 97302 2 
Britney stated they have reviewed the staff report and concur with the findings. They noted the 3 
applicant prepared and provided a detailed narrative addressing the criteria to uphold the 4 
required burden of proof for the application; specifically highlighting pages nine through twelve. 5 
Britney referenced a subsection of page ninety-three: “the requested designation for the site has 6 
been evaluated against relevant comprehensive plan policies and on balance could be found to 7 
be more supportive of the comprehensive plan as a whole than the current designation” and 8 
stated the staff report did an excellent job of going through and itemizing the housing needs 9 
analysis and how the [proposed zone change] could fill a deficit in the City for alternative 10 
housing types. Under the current subdivision approval generally single-family homes are 11 
developed, after further review the potential for R-5 zoning was considered to fill the void. The 12 
applicant(s) had a pre-application conference with City staff where a presentation was given for 13 
the high [density] designation; with this, the applicants took consideration for feedback from 14 
staff and community input from the previous application. Britney stated the applicant(s) 15 
reevaluated their development plan after review of the Housing Needs Analysis and the City’s 16 
Comprehensive Plan. Future development other than the approved subdivision would be before 17 
the Planning Commission again and be subject to public process and development standards. 18 
Britney addressed the public comment that stated the entire property was wetlands, the applicant 19 
wished to clarify there is a small area on the site designated as wetlands and it would remain and 20 
be protected, any change from the current subdivision approval would be subject to the rules and 21 
regulations of the Department of State Lands. Britney then went over the minimum density for 22 
the site. They addressed concern over utility capacities and stated the development would be 23 
connected to City services. The applicant had minimal focus on presenting a development design 24 
as there had not been a decision made; future development design will be to City standards.  25 
 26 
The floor was opened for questions.   27 
 28 
Commissioner Matzka and Britney clarified the minimum density for the site currently is ten 29 
units.  30 
 31 
Commissioner Piaskowski asked if the applicant is potentially moving forward with the current 32 
approved lot layout.  33 
 34 
Britney stated the 21-lot subdivision would meet the criteria for R-5 zoning, should the 35 
application be approved it affords flexibility for a new plan to be presented to the City.  36 
 37 
Commissioner Piaskowski and Britney discussed the flexibility options if the zone were 38 
changed. There was not a solid design to present.  39 
 40 
Commissioner Jones referenced the minutes from the previous application meeting and stated the 41 
architect had relayed there had been a typo for duplex development, and the proposal intention 42 
was for single-family homes. With this, Commissioner Jones asked why the applicant changed 43 
their mind to switch to R-5 zoning.  44 
 45 
Britney stated they were not included in the original approval, they were unaware of which 46 



 

November 14, 2023, City of Silverton Planning Commission Regular Meeting  Page 8 of 14 

architect made the statement, and iterated the R-5 zone change is to allow flexibility and 1 
different housing types. They want to fill the gap that is seen in Silverton’s Housing Needs 2 
Analysis and reiterated over and over in the Comprehensive Plan. The applicant may still move 3 
forward with the development of 21 single-family dwellings as currently approved; R-5 zoning 4 
affords more flexibility.  5 
 6 
Commissioner Jones referred to the minutes from the previous meeting and iterated comment of 7 
economics determining the number of lots. They stated an assumption for economics being the 8 
driving force behind the zone change request.  9 
 10 
Britney stated it is the flexibility of being able to develop the property appropriately with what 11 
the housing need shows Silverton need.  12 
 13 
Commissioner Matzka asked for clarification on the wording of gap in housing in Silverton; how 14 
will the zone change fill the gap.  15 
 16 
Britney stated the gap is shown in the staff report and is shown in the Housing Needs Analysis. 17 
There is a surplus of single-family homes and a lack of differentiated housing types like 18 
duplexes, tri-plex’s, townhomes, cottages, multi-family apartments. The zone change would 19 
continue to allow the 21 single-family dwellings but would afford the ability to fill the gaps of 20 
the missing housing types in Silverton.  21 
 22 
Commissioner Matzka and Britney discussed the potential of changing the lot design for the 23 
property.  24 
 25 
Commissioner Piaskowski asked if there was a timeline to develop conceptual design.   26 
 27 
Britney stated there was not a current timeline for conceptual design, there is a deadline for the 28 
subdivision of 2025.  29 
 30 
Commissioner Piaskowski stated general process for zone change applications, typically the 31 
Planning Commission is provided with design to assist in the decision-making process for the 32 
application to ensure it meets the required criteria.  33 
 34 
Britney stated if the design changed from the current zone approval, it would be presented once 35 
again to meet the criteria for approval. 36 
 37 
Madam Vice-Chair Kaser inquired about the driver for zone change.  38 
 39 
Britney stated the ability to diversify the housing type [in Silverton] and have more flexibility. 40 
 41 
Madam Vice Chair Kaser asked for description of the community outreach the applicant had 42 
completed to assist in their request for zone change.  43 
 44 
Britney stated there had not been community outreach. Based on information they gathered from 45 
City staff at the pre-application conference their proposal was revised to R-5 zoning which falls 46 



 

November 14, 2023, City of Silverton Planning Commission Regular Meeting  Page 9 of 14 

under the current Comprehensive Plan designation and meets statewide planning goals.      1 
 2 
PUBLIC TESTIMONY:      3 
 4 
Proponant Testimony: There was none.  5 
 6 
Opponent Testimony:  7 
Dean and Lauren Christensen, owners of 110 Jade Hills Silverton, Oregon 97381 & 412 8 
Eureka Silverton, Oregon 97381 9 
The two properties are downstream from the property in question. Dean stated they were not 10 
necessarily speaking against the development. They had concerns and questions related to the 11 
drainage. Dean relayed the previous plan addressed stormwater management by hitting the 12 
southerly drainage way as it moves past the Oregon Garden and their properties, and not the 13 
northerly drainage way. If the developer were to move forward and submit additional revised 14 
plans and receive approval, they would continue to meet the criteria for stormwater management 15 
from the City of Silverton. Additionally meet the criteria through drainage easements or 16 
whatever needn’t be sure charging the southerly drainage way with their stormwater and not 17 
impacting their properties below with additional stormwater runoff. Lastly, Dean stated as 18 
property owners downstream it is important, they do not receive negative impact from 19 
stormwater in annual or an one-hundred-year event.  20 
 21 
Commissioner Matzka asked about water flow near their property, has there been changes within 22 
the last ten years on their property or near the wetland area.  23 
 24 
Dean stated they had not noticed changes within the last ten years, there were significant changes 25 
with the development of the Oregon Garden in the wetland area.  26 
 27 
Jenny Siewell, 847 Woodland Drive, Silverton Oregon 97381 28 
Jenny relayed concern for the families who live on Eureka and Edison road; It was their 29 
understanding that the water that feeds the properties is gravity fed. There have been water 30 
pressure issues, and they have run out of water in the past. With the addition of 21 to 51 homes 31 
Jenny stated they were concerned about the people’s water capability with the gravity being fed 32 
on Edison.  33 
 34 
Director Gottgetreu clarified the proposed development would be on a separate system and 35 
provided information on the utilities.  36 
 37 
Jenny reiterated the potential number of homes on the property and relayed concern for increased 38 
traffic in the area directly related to a nearby church and school. Jenny has witnessed children 39 
and pedestrians’ traffic in general in the area and inquired if speed zones would be altered.  40 
Director Gottgetreu inferred the developer would be required to install sidewalks on the frontage 41 
of the property near eleven-hundred feet, but they do not have to connect to existing systems on 42 
Eureka. In terms of traffic and pedestrian crossings, these elements are addressed as development 43 
is constructed.  44 
 45 
Lastly, Jenny asked for clarification on the process if the R-5 zoning were approved and what the 46 



 

November 14, 2023, City of Silverton Planning Commission Regular Meeting  Page 10 of 14 

design criteria would be with public process.  1 
 2 
Madam Vice Chair Kaser clarified the processes and criteria for zone changes, and stated the 3 
applicant would need to return to the Planning Commission if they proposed design other than 4 
the approved 21-lot subdivision.  5 
 6 
Stephen Purdy, 884 Woodland Drive, Silverton Oregon 97381   7 
Stephen relayed concern for the flexibility the applicant referred to in terms of site development. 8 
They asked if the zone change would allow for manufactured homes. 9 
 10 
Director Gottgetreu stated there is a State law that cites any lot that allows a single-family home 11 
must also allow a manufactured home.   12 
 13 
Stephen iterated confusion and frustration toward the applicant for not providing a direct answer 14 
on future design yet requesting the zone change. The flexibility comments did not provide 15 
clarification.  16 
 17 
Neutral Testimony:  18 
Mike Bliss, 879 Woodland Drive, Silverton Oregon 97381  19 
Mike inquired about the process for denial of the application and what the criteria are.   20 
 21 
Madam Vice-Chair Kaser referenced page 89 of the staff report and stated the decision is a 22 
Quasi-Judicial zoning amendment. They then summarized the eight criterium the Planning 23 
Commission must utilize for consideration of the application to remain in compliance with the 24 
statewide planning goal and relevance to the Comprehensive Plan of the City.   25 
 26 
Director Gottgetreu and Mike discussed density potential and the applications compatibility with 27 
the City’s Comprehensive Plan and Housing Needs Analysis.  28 
 29 
Madam Vice-Chair Kaser provided elucidation on the process for consideration of the 30 
application.  31 
 32 
Rebecca Murphy, 614 Keene Avenue, Silverton Oregon 97381 33 
Rebecca stated they are a lifetime Silverton resident and they have four young children. Their 34 
main concern is traffic and safety, with pertinence to the approved subdivision and the 35 
application. Rebecca asked the applicant to keep children in mind and consider provisions for 36 
sidewalks and a turn lane. They asked for consideration on moving the forty-five mile an hour 37 
sign located in the area, currently the area is not safe.  38 
 39 
Director Gottgetreu provided information on how community members can request a speed limit 40 
change.  41 
Written Testimony: See attached.  42 
 43 
Rebuttal:  44 
Britney stated regarding the unknown for development, it will be submitted in the future. To 45 
determine feasibility is very expensive. To state putting the cart before the horse to approve the 46 



 

November 14, 2023, City of Silverton Planning Commission Regular Meeting  Page 11 of 14 

zone change, prior to seeing what would be proposed, in Britney’s opinion, was the opposite. 1 
They relayed coming to the [Planning Commission] with the 21-lot subdivision previously was 2 
putting the cart before the horse before exploring all the opportunities that could be available on 3 
the site. Britney iterated the applicant was not putting effort into being untransparent, they are 4 
simply unaware of what the recommendation will be. If the application were to be approved then 5 
the next step would be to develop feasibility and determine what sort of development makes 6 
sense; then it would go through the same process of public hearings etc. depending on what is 7 
proposed. Britney wanted to reiterate that any future development must happen for the frontage 8 
of the site to be improved, meaning sidewalks etc. if the 21-lot subdivision continues, those 9 
improvements would be made under approval. The applicants recognize and understand the 10 
concerns surrounding neighbors and citizens. They have taken it into consideration and will 11 
continue to if a different proposal is brought forward.  12 
 13 
Commissioner Piaskowski stated concern for being unaware of the future development plans. 14 
They asked if the Planning Commission extended the review period, was there potential for the 15 
applicant to return with conceptual designs.  16 
 17 
Britney said providing a conceptual design is not a part of the criteria, therefore they did not 18 
think they could do that. It would be an additional investment, especially if the applicant was 19 
unaware of the direction the [Planning Commissions decision was leaning] for any future 20 
proposal to be subject for review.  21 
 22 
Commissioner Piaskowski agreed in the accuracy of Britney’s statement, and added conceptual 23 
designs would assist in the decision-making process to ensure congruency with the 24 
Comprehensive Plan for the City.  25 
 26 
Britney stated they believed they submitted supporting evidence and the staff report was clearly 27 
directed at the criteria; they thought the application displayed satisfactory criteria and upheld the 28 
burden of proof. 29 
 30 
Commissioner Matzka iterated in the initial approval of the 21-lot site, there were discussions 31 
about constructing a sidewalk across Eureka avenue. There was not a determination on whether 32 
it was possible due to unconstructed sidewalks in the area. Commissioner Matzka asked if there 33 
was a required crosswalk for the 21-unit approved development for pedestrians.  34 
 35 
Commissioner Jones recalled discussion on safe routes to school with an island community on a 36 
busy forty-five mile an hour road.  37 
 38 
Commissioner Matzka iterated the applicant is asking for freedom to develop without confirming 39 
the pedestrian safety for the current 21-lot subdivision approval.  40 
 41 
Director Gottgetreu stated previously John Rasmussen an engineer with Marion County 42 
commented on the crosswalk initiation, Eureka avenue is Marion County jurisdiction.   43 
 44 
Britney added there are proportionality laws, should a greater density development be proposed, 45 
the proportionality improvements could go up, therefore there could potentially be additional 46 



 

November 14, 2023, City of Silverton Planning Commission Regular Meeting  Page 12 of 14 

requirements.    1 
 2 
Commissioner Matzka added they were stating there was no confirmation for successful 3 
pedestrian crossing for the current approved development at its density.  4 
 5 
Commissioner Walling asked for clarification on the potential approval of the R-5 rezoning, the 6 
applicant had stated they were unaware if they would continue to move forward with the 21-lot 7 
subdivision or develop an alternative. If the R-5 were approved, the minimum density would be 8 
twenty-five units, therefore Commissioner Walling added the 21-lot subdivision would not be 9 
developed.  10 
 11 
Britney disagreed.  12 
 13 
There was collective discussion on the potential development of the site under R-1 and R-5 14 
zoning. Additionally, discussion was had on if the R-5 zoning were approved and if it is not 15 
congruent with the approved site plan, what the next steps would be.  16 
 17 
Commissioner Walling iterated, the applicant is asking for an opportunity to develop either R-1 18 
or R-5 zoning because the [Commission] cannot encumber a previously granted approval [the 19 
21-lot subdivision). Commissioner Walling asked if the applicant would be agreeable with 20 
maintaining the R-1 zoning and returning with a plan displaying the need for R-5 density in the 21 
community.  22 
 23 
The Commission considered continuing the hearing to receive additional information.  24 
 25 
Director Gottgetreu provided clarification on code allowance for the development situation.  26 
 27 
Commissioner Matzka moved to close the public hearing, Commissioner Walling seconded the 28 
motion and it passed unanimously.  29 
 30 
The Public Hearing was closed at 9:20pm. The Planning Commission recessed until 31 
9:33pm.  32 
 33 
DISCUSSION:   34 
The Planning Commission considered the unique position they were in with the approved 35 
subdivision and requested R-5 zoning. There was collective discussion on the previous 36 
application meeting and the process that led to approval from the City Council.  37 
 38 
Madam Vice-Chair Kaser read the eight criterion for the application consideration.  39 
 40 
Concern was relayed for lack of information and insight into the applicants motive for rezoning 41 
and their plan for development. Additional information was preferred to ensure the rezoning for 42 
R-5 density aligned with the City’s Comprehensive Plan and met the criterium. The Planning 43 
Commission reviewed page ninety-two of the staff report which did find the R-5 zoning to be 44 
compatible with the Comprehensive Plan designation. Pedestrian safety and connectivity to 45 
schools was considered with a higher density for the property.   46 



 

November 14, 2023, City of Silverton Planning Commission Regular Meeting  Page 13 of 14 

Commissioner Piaskowski asked Director Gottgetreu for clarification on the Comprehensive 1 
Plan identifying the area as single-family, within the staff report criterion two, single family 2 
would include R-1, R-5 and others. Commissioner Piaskowski requested confirmation if R-5 was 3 
included.  4 
 5 
Director Gottgetreu stated R-1 and R-5 are compatible zoning districts for the property within the 6 
Comprehensive Plan.   7 
 8 
The Planning Commission considered negative impacts if the application were approved. They 9 
referred to the eight criterion and found inconsistencies. Under House Bill 2001 the applicant can 10 
develop 42-units on the property. There was discussion on the applicant satisfying the burden of 11 
proof to increase the density from what had been previously approved.   12 
 13 
Madam Vice-Chair Kaser stated the Planning Commission is restricted on their process for 14 
consideration of the application. They believed the application met the criteria. Negative impacts 15 
can be subjective, the applicant has shown they meet the requirements needed; Madam Vice-16 
Chair Kaser stated they could not find constraints that were within what was allowed for 17 
consideration.   18 
 19 
Commissioner Walling motioned to recommend the City Council approval of the proposed zone 20 
change as it meets the criteria, Madam Vice-Chair Kaser seconded the motion.  21 
 22 
Commissioner Piaskowski reiterated for Commissioner Jones the following: The Housing Needs 23 
Analysis summarized in the report identifies that there is a deficit. There is a benefit of making 24 
the zone change, however as reported there are ninety-seven lots approved for multi-family, so 25 
the City has several years to meet the housing need; therefore, Commissioner Piaskowski stated 26 
they do not believe it is critical for the property to be designated as R-5 for purposes of meeting 27 
the Housing Needs Analysis. An additional inconsistency lay with the Comprehensive Plan, 28 
number two, four, and five do not align in their opinion.  29 
 30 
Commissioner Matzka agreed with Commissioner Piaskowski and stated the application did not 31 
align with having additional housing in an island community targeting needed housing that will 32 
have school aged children in the household. If the location had connectivity, it would be feasible, 33 
but [if approved] the creation of an island community with higher density outside of the walking 34 
ability into the infrastructure of our community is not agreeable. With this, Commissioner 35 
Matzka stated, the [application] does not meet the comprehensive goals, plans of the school 36 
district, the City, or the transportation network.   37 
 38 
Madam Vice-Chair Kaser stated they do not view the property as an island, the site has an 39 
approved plan currently. Frontage and sidewalks will be developed, unfortunately with County 40 
roads some infrastructure is not the City’s jurisdiction. The property is near a neighborhood, it is 41 
not segregated. The differential between R-1 to R-5 zoning is the shortest route to increasing 42 
housing, the Planning Commission and the City Council will be reviewing future site-plans for 43 
code compliance, Madam Vice-Chair Kaser believed the application met criteria looking strictly 44 
at what the Planning Commission was legally allowed to consider.   45 
 46 



 

November 14, 2023, City of Silverton Planning Commission Regular Meeting  Page 14 of 14 

The Planning Commission considered the adjacent properties and future frontage requirements. 1 
Lack of information from the applicant was reiterated.  2 
 3 
Commissioner Matzka relayed additional concern for approving the application.  4 
 5 
The motion did not pass, 1:4 6 
 7 
Commissioner Piaskowski motioned to recommend to the City Council the denial of the 8 
proposed zone change as it does not meet the review criteria, Commissioner Walling seconded 9 
the motion and it passed, 4:1.  10 
 11 
IV.REPORTS AND COMMUNICATIONS: 12 
Director Gottgereu informed the Planning Commission of upcoming meetings.  13 
 14 
Commissioner Matzka requested new public notice signs.  15 
 16 
V. ADJOURNMENT:  17 
The meeting was adjourned at 10:22pm 18 
 /s/ Cleone Cantu,  19 
Planning and Permit Assistant.  20 







City of Silverton Ordinance No. 23-07  Page 1 
of 3  

CITY OF SILVERTON 
ORDINANCE  

23-07 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE SILVERTON CITY COUNCIL DENYING A ZONE 
CHANGE TO ZONE 602 EUREKA AVENUE R-5, LOW DENSITY RESIDENTIAL.  
MARION COUNTY ASSESSOR’S MAP 071W03A TAX LOT 0600 
 
WHEREAS, a Zone Change application was made by Charles Weathers (Orreo LLC) PO Box 
2717 Salem OR 97308 to change the zoning of 602 Eureka Avenue from R-1, Single Family 
Residential to R-5, Low Density Residential; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission met in a duly advertised Public Hearing on November 
14, 2023 to consider the proposed Zone Change, allowed testimony, reviewed the application; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, following public testimony, the Planning Commission deliberated and 
recommends the City Council hold a public hearing to deny the proposed application (ZC-23-
01); and 
 
WHEREAS, after proper legal notice, a Public Hearing before the City Council was held on 
December 4, 2023, to consider ZC-23-01.  All interested parties participated and had an 
opportunity to be heard.  The City Council reviewed all matters presented to it. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF SILVERTON ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS:  
 
Section 1: The City Council finds that the burden of proof for the zone change has not been 

met and the request does not meet the applicable review criteria; therefore, the 
request to change the Zoning from R-1 to R-5 for the property is denied. 

 
Section 2: In support of its decision, the City Council adopts the findings contained in 

“Exhibit A”. 

Section 3: This ordinance is and shall be effective within 30 days of its passage.  

Ordinance adopted by the City Council of the City of Silverton, this 4th day of December 2023.  
 
 

________________________________ 
Mayor, City of Silverton 

       Jason Freilinger 
ATTEST: 
 
_________________________________ 
City Manager/Recorder, City of Silverton 
Corey Misley 

 



City of Silverton Ordinance No. 23-07  Page 2 
of 3  

ZC-23-01 
 

The City Council of the City of Silverton adopts the following findings: 
 

1. The applicant submitted an application requesting a Zone Change to change the zoning of 
602 Eureka Avenue (Marion County Assessor’s Map 071W03A Taxlot 0600) from R-1, 
Single Family Residential to R-5, Low Density Residential. 

 
2. The Planning Commission met in a duly advertised Public Hearing on November 14, 

2023, to consider the proposed Zone Change, allowed testimony, and reviewed the 
application.  Following public testimony, the Planning Commission deliberated and 
recommends the City Council hold a public hearing to deny the proposed application (ZC-
23-01). 

 
3. After proper legal notice, a Public Hearing before the City Council was held on December 

4, 2023, to consider ZC-23-01.  All interested parties participated and had an opportunity 
to be heard. 

 
4. The following findings relate to non-compliance with criterion 2, 4, 5 and 6. 

 
2.  Approval of the request is consistent with the relevant comprehensive plan 

policies and on balance has been found to be more supportive of the 
comprehensive plan as a whole than the old designation; 

 
4.  The requested designation is consistent with the comprehensive plan map 

pattern and any negative impacts upon the area resulting from the change, if 
any, have been considered and deemed acceptable by the city; 

 
5.  A public need will be met by the proposed change that is not already met by 

other available properties, or the amendment corrects a mistake or 
inconsistency in the comprehensive plan or zoning map regarding the property 
which is the subject of the application; 

 
6.  The property and affected area are presently provided with adequate public 

facilities, services and transportation networks to support the use, or such 
facilities, services and transportation networks are planned to be provided in 
the planning period 

 
4.1 The requested designation for the site has been evaluated by the Planning 

Commission against relevant comprehensive plan policies and on balance could be 
found to be less supportive of the comprehensive plan as a whole than the old 
designation.  The Planning Commission found that the area the site is located in is 
predominantly larger lots with lower than typical urban densities and a higher 
density development would not be more supportive, nor would it be consistent with 
the map pattern due to the larger than expected difference in density which would 
constitute an unacceptable negative impact.  



City of Silverton Ordinance No. 23-07  Page 3 
of 3  

 
4.2 The goal of the Urbanization element of the Comprehensive Plan (Comp Plan) is to 

“Provide adequate land to meet anticipated future demands for urban development 
in a logical and orderly manner.”  A Policy of the Urbanization element indicates 
that multiple family development will be encouraged, especially in but not limited 
to, areas close to the central business district, or within walking distance of 
neighborhood commercial area, or in areas designated for mixed use.  It is also 
desired that multiple family development should be scattered around the community 
and not concentrated within any one particular area.  Small developments which fit 
in the existing neighborhood are preferred.  The site is located approximately 3,500’ 
from the central business district.  The Planning Commission found that the area in 
not close to the central business district and is not connected to business district with 
a sidewalk system.  The Planning Commission found the development would not fit 
in the existing neighborhood due to the larger than average lot size found in the 
neighborhood where a more dense development would not fit with the character of 
the existing neighborhood. 
 

4.3 The Planning Commission found that the public need identified by the 2020 Housing 
Needs Analysis is an additional 304 units over the next 20 years, or 15 per year, 
where 97 multifamily units have been approved in the 3 years since the HNA 
adoption, thereby it is not critical that this property be zoned to R-5 to potentially 
meet the need. 
 

4.4 The Planning Commission found that the area does not currently have adequate 
pedestrian transportation networks within the area due to a lack of a sidewalk 
connection from the site to the existing sidewalk network 730 feet away on the 
eastern side of Eureka Avenue.  The pedestrian transportation network along Eureka 
Avenue is not planned to be provided in the planning period.  The sidewalk project 
to connect the area to the transportation network is listed as an Aspirational Project 
in the City’s Transportation System Master Plan, which are identified as 
transportation investments that are not reasonably expected to be funded by 2040. 

 
 



City of Silverton 

 Community Development  

 306 South Water Street 

 Silverton, OR 97381 

 

CC STAFF REPORT  
 

PROCEDURE TYPE   III  

 

FILE NO.   ZC-23-01 

 

LAND USE DISTRICT: 

R-1, SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL   

 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION:  

ASSESSOR MAP#:  071W03A  

LOT#:  00600  

SITE SIZE:  5.15 ACRES  

ADDRESS:  602 EUREKA AVE.  

 

APPLICANT: 
CHARLES WEATHERS, ORREO, LLC  
PO BOX 2717  
SALEM, OR 97308  
 

APPLICANT’S REPRESENTATIVE 

BRITANY RANDALL, BRAND LAND USE, LLC  
12150 JEFFERSON HWY 99E SE  
JEFFERSON, OR 97352  
 

CONTACT PERSON: 
BRITANY RANDALL  503-680-0949  
 

PROPERTY OWNER: 
CHARLES WEATHERS, ORREO, LLC  
PO BOX 2717  
SALEM, OR 97308  
 

LOCATION:  LOCATED ON THE SOUTHWEST SIDE 

OF EUREKA AVE BETWEEN WOODLAND DRIVE 

NE AND VICTORIA LANE. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT ACTION:   ZONE CHANGE APPLICATION TO CHANGE THE ZONING OF 602 

EUREKA AVENUE FROM R-1, SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL TO R-5, LOW DENSITY RESIDENTIAL.  THE 

SITE IS 5.15 ACRES IN AREA AND IS CURRENTLY VACANT.   

 

 

DATE:  NOVEMBER 22, 2023 

 

Attachments A. Vicinity Map and Review Criteria 

 B.  Applicant’s Narrative  

 C. Conditions of Approval 

D. Staff Report 

E. Testimony 

 

 



 

 

ATTACHMENT A:  VICINITY MAP & SITE PLAN 

 

 

Case File:  ZC-23-01 
Vicinity Map and Surrounding Land Use Districts 

 
North – R-1, Single Family Residential 

East – R-1, Single Family Residential  

South – P, Public Overlay 

West – R-1, Single Family Residential 

 

 
 

 



 



 

ATTACHMENT B:  APPLICANT’S FINDINGS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  















































































 

 

ATTACHMENT C:  CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

 

 

 
 



 

ATTACHMENT D:  STAFF REPORT, ZC-23-01 
 

I.  REVIEW CRITERIA -  

 

Zone Change 

 

4.7.300 Quasi-judicial amendments.  Criteria for Quasi-Judicial Zoning Amendments. The city 

shall consider the following review criteria and may approve, approve with conditions or deny a 

quasi-judicial amendment based on the following; if the application for an amendment originates 

from a party other than the city, the applicant shall bear the burden of proof. 

 

1.  Approval of the request is consistent with the statewide planning goals; 

2.  Approval of the request is consistent with the relevant comprehensive plan policies and on 

balance has been found to be more supportive of the comprehensive plan as a whole than 

the old designation; 

3.  The requested designation is consistent with any relevant area plans adopted by the city 

council; 

4.  The requested designation is consistent with the comprehensive plan map pattern and any 

negative impacts upon the area resulting from the change, if any, have been considered and 

deemed acceptable by the city; 

5.  A public need will be met by the proposed change that is not already met by other available 

properties, or the amendment corrects a mistake or inconsistency in the comprehensive plan 

or zoning map regarding the property which is the subject of the application; 

6.  The property and affected area are presently provided with adequate public facilities, 

services and transportation networks to support the use, or such facilities, services and 

transportation networks are planned to be provided in the planning period; and 

7.  The amendment conforms to other applicable provisions of this code, such as the 

transportation planning rule requirements incorporated into SDC 4.7.600. 

8.  Any amendment involving a change to the city’s urban growth boundary shall conform to 

applicable state planning rules for such amendments. 

 

 

II.  APPLICABLE STANDARDS 

 

A.  Silverton Development Code (SDC): 

 

Article 4 – Administration of Land Use Development  

Section 4.1.400 Type III Procedure (Limited Land Use Decision) 

Section – 4.7.300 Quasi-Judicial Amendments 

 

Article 2 – Land Use Districts 

Section 2.2.110 Residential Districts – Allowed Land Uses 

Section 2.2.120 Residential Districts – Development Standards 

 



 

Article 3 – Community Design Standards 

Section 3.1.200 Vehicle Access and Circulation 

Section 3.2.200 Landscape Conservation 

Section 3.4.100 Transportation Standards 

Section 3.4.300 Sanitary Sewers, Street Lights 

Section 3.4.400 Storm Drainage and Erosion Control 

Section 3.4.500 Sidewalks  

 



 

III.  FINDINGS 

 

A. Background Information: 

 

1. The applicant submitted a Zone Change Application to change the zoning of 602 

Eureka Avenue R-1, Single Family Residential to R-5, Low Density Residential.   

 

2. The subject property has frontage along Eureka Avenue, a collector roadway under 

Marion County jurisdiction.  The site is zoned R-1, Single Family Residential. 

 

3. Citizen testimony was received. 

 

4. Notice was mailed to all property owners and residents within 700’ of the site on 

October 25, 2023.  The notice was published in the Statesman Journal on November 1, 

2023.  The site posted on November 2, 2023. 

 

B. Silverton Development Code: 

 

1. Article 4 – Administration of Land Use and Development 

 
Section 4.1.500  Type IV Procedure 

 

A minimum of two hearings, one before the Planning Commission and one before the City 

Council, are required for all Type IV applications  
 

Findings:  This application is being reviewed through a Type IV procedure.  The applicant 

submitted an application on October 6, 2023.  A public notice for this request was mailed 

to all property owners within 700 feet of the site on October 25, 2023.  The notice was 

published in the Statesman Journal on November 1, 2023.  The site posted on November 2, 

2023.  The application will be before the Planning Commission November 14, 2023 and 

will be before the City Council December 4, 2023.  

 

Section 4.7.300   Quasi-Judicial Amendments 

 
 

Criteria for Quasi-Judicial Zoning Amendments. The city shall consider the 

following review criteria and may approve, approve with conditions or deny a 

quasi-judicial amendment based on the following; if the application for an 

amendment originates from a party other than the city, the applicant shall bear 

the burden of proof. 

 

1.  Approval of the request is consistent with the statewide planning goals; 
 

Findings:  The City of Silverton adopted the Comprehensive plan to be consistent with the 

statewide planning goals and has been acknowledged by the State.  

 

2.  Approval of the request is consistent with the relevant comprehensive plan policies 

and on balance has been found to be more supportive of the comprehensive plan as 

a whole than the old designation; 
 



 

Findings:  The applicant submitted an application requesting a Zone Change to change the 

zoning of 602 Eureka Avenue from R-1, Single Family Residential to R-5, Low Density 

Residential.   

 

The site has frontage on Eureka Avenue which is a Collector Roadway under Marion County 

jurisdiction.  The site is designated Single Family Residential on the Comprehensive Plan 

and is zoned R-1, Single Family Residential.  As shown on the Zoning Compatibility Matrix, 

the R-5 zone is a compatible zoning district with the Single Family Comprehensive Plan 

Designation.   

 

 
The R-5 Zone requires property to develop at densities ranging from five dwellings per acre 

to not more than 10 dwellings per acre.  The R-1 Zone requires property to develop at 

densities ranging from 2 to 6 units per acre.  The site is 5.15 acres in size, which under the 

current zoning would allow between 10 and 31 units to be developed on the site.  Previous 

site approval for a 21 lot subdivision could result in 42 dwellings on site per HB 2001 as each 

lot could develop as a duplex.  The known development capacity of the site is 42 dwellings 

which is above the stated max density in the Silverton Development Code and is allowed by 

HB 2001.  The zone change would allow the site to develop between 26 and 52 units.  The 

zone change effectively allows the site to develop 10 additional dwelling units over the R-1 

development capacity.  The zone change would be in compliance with the comprehensive 

plan designation as shown in the above table.   

 

The goal of the Urbanization element of the Comprehensive Plan (Comp Plan) is to “Provide 

adequate land to meet anticipated future demands for urban development in a logical and 

orderly manner.”  A Policy of the Urbanization element indicates that multiple family 

development will be encouraged, especially in but not limited to, areas close to the central 

business district, or within walking distance of neighborhood commercial area, or in areas 

designated for mixed use.  It is also desired that multiple family development should be 



 

scattered around the community and not concentrated within any one particular area.  Small 

developments which fit in the existing neighborhood are preferred.  The site is located 

approximately 3,500’ from the central business district.  The Planning Commission found 

that the area in not close to the central business district and is not connected to business 

district with a sidewalk system.  The Planning Commission found the development would not 

fit in the existing neighborhood due to the larger than average lot size found in the 

neighborhood where a more dense development would not fit with the character of the 

existing neighborhood.  

 

The City adopted a Housing Needs Analysis (HNA) as a support document to the 

Comprehensive Plan which found that Silverton has an existing deficit of housing affordable 

for low-income households, which indicates a need for a wider range of housing types for 

renters and homeowners.  About 30% of Silverton’s households are cost burdened (paying 

more than 30% of their income on housing), including a cost-burden rate of 46% for renter 

households.   

 

Silverton is planning for continued growth in single-family detached housing but more 

growth in single-family attached and multifamily dwelling units is needed to meet the City’s 

housing needs.  The factors driving the shift in types of housing needed in Silverton include 

changes in demographics and decreases in housing affordability.  The aging of Baby 

Boomers and the household formation of Millennials will drive demand for renter and 

owner-occupied housing, such as single-family detached housing, townhouses, duplexes, 

triplexes, quadplexes, and apartments.  Both groups may prefer housing in walkable 

neighborhoods, with access to services. 

 

Diversification of housing types can help reduce the lack of affordable housing, especially 

for middle-income households. About 442 new households will have incomes between 

$34,700 and $83,280.  These households will all need access to affordable housing, such as 

the housing types described above. 

 

The Housing Element of the Comprehensive lists policies to ‘Encourage opportunities which 

will provide affordable housing to meet the needs of low income, elderly, handicapped, 

families, and individuals within the Silverton area’, ‘Provide opportunities for the 

development of attached and detached single-family and multi-family dwellings such as 

duplexes, row houses, and town house apartments’, and ‘Allow accessory dwelling units, 

subject to city development and building regulations, in all residential zones’.   

 

The City Council has adopted goals to ‘develop the Housing Strategy Implementation Plan’ 

and ‘further develop and implement strategies for affordable housing’. 

 

The requested designation for the site has been evaluated by the Planning Commission 

against relevant comprehensive plan policies and on balance could be found to be less 

supportive of the comprehensive plan as a whole than the old designation.  The Planning 

Commission found that the area the site is located in is predominantly larger lots with lower 

than typical urban densities and a higher density development would not be more supportive, 

nor would it be consistent with the map pattern due to the larger than expected difference in 

density which would constitute an unacceptable negative impact.   

 



 

3.  The requested designation is consistent with any relevant area plans adopted by the 

city council; 
 

Findings:  The 2008 Parks Master Plan identifies a connector route dissecting the subject 

property connecting The Oregon Garden to Pettit property/downtown.   

 

The 2021 Water Master Plan calls for a new connection to the Anderson PRV zone in front 

of the property.  Applicant notes that the zone change doesn’t impact the cities ability to 

undertake the project. 

 

4.  The requested designation is consistent with the comprehensive plan map pattern 

and any negative impacts upon the area resulting from the change, if any, have 

been considered and deemed acceptable by the city; 
 

Findings:  The zoning is consistent with the comprehensive plan map designation.  The area 

has Public use to the south and the remaining area is single family residential.  The potential 

negative impact on the area resulting from the change would be an increase in traffic based 

on increase in density of 10 dwelling units for the site over the existing zoning.   

 

Though, according to the Institute of Transportation Engineers Trip Generation Manual, a 

duplex is estimated as adding 2 p.m. peak hour trips (PMPHT) to the transportation system, a 

single family dwelling is estimated as adding 1 PMPHT, and an apartment is estimated as 

adding .62 PMPHT.  Using these estimates, the previous 21 lot single family subdivision, if 

developed with all single family dwellings, would add 21 PMPHT trips to the transportation 

system.  If the 21 lot subdivision were developed entirely as duplexes as allowed per HB 

2001, 42 PMPHT would be added to the transportation system.  If the site were to develop as 

a 51 unit multifamily development, 31 PMPHT would be added to the transportation system.   

 

The Planning Commission found that the area the site is located in is predominantly larger 

lots with lower than typical urban densities and a higher density development would not be 

more supportive, nor would it be consistent with the map pattern due to the larger than 

expected difference in density which would constitute an unacceptable negative impact. 

 

5.  A public need will be met by the proposed change that is not already met by other 

available properties, or the amendment corrects a mistake or inconsistency in the 

comprehensive plan or zoning map regarding the property which is the subject of 

the application; 
 

Findings:  The following is an analysis of the remaining properties zoned for multi-family 

development.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

2. South Water Street Creekside Area  

1306-1318 S Water 

 

Three properties zoned R-5 with a 

combined area of 32,701 sq ft (15,338; 

8,300 and 9,063 sq ft) with a gross density 

range of 3.75-7.5 units. 

 

The southern two properties have 

constructed a single family dwelling on the 

parcel.  1 dwelling unit each 

 

30% of the northern property is in the 

floodplain.  The Riparian Corridor 

Boundary appears to follow the Flood 

Plain Boundary. 

 

Approximate 3,300 sq ft building 

envelope.  Approximately 1 dwelling unit 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

4. 407 S First St   

 

4,471 sq ft.  Small flat property, 

development of a single family 

dwelling possible 

 

5. 122 Fiske Street 

 

3,670 square foot property behind 

church parking lot will need frontage 

onto a public street or access easement.  

One dwelling likely. 

 

 

7. Hill Street 

 

13,779 square feet.  The site is 

significantly impacted by hillside.  Less 

than 800 square feet of area under 12% 

slope with the majority of the site in the 

15-25% range, 1 dwelling likely. 

 

 

 

8. 623 McClaine Street 

 

21,976 square feet heavily impacted by 

steep slopes.  Approximate 7,000 sq ft 

building envelope.   

2-4 dwelling units  

 

9. Webb Street 

 

Three developable properties range in 

size from 1,665 to 3,336 square feet.  

3-4 dwelling possible, 

 

10. Brown Street   

 

The area contains four properties 

totaling 65,806 square feet.  Area lacks 

adequate storm drainage system.  

Storm drainage improvements would 

have to be installed south to Webb 

Street prior to development.  No other 

constraints exist on the site.  Northern 

property currently being used as a 



 

school parking lot.  8-15 dwelling units.  A three lot partition has received tentative approval 

for the site. 

 

The range of possible dwelling units for the vacant multi-family properties in the City Limits 

is 17-27 dwelling units.  It should be noted that there are currently zero vacant properties 

zoned RM-20, Multi-Family High Density.   

 

Silverton’s 654 acres of buildable land in the UGB has the capacity to accommodate 2,320 

new dwelling units.  While Silverton’s forecast for demand is for 1,158 new dwelling units, 

Silverton has a deficit of capacity for 304 dwelling units in the Multifamily plan designation 

(over the 2020 to 2040 period). The following summarizes Silverton’s land sufficiency 

results by plan designation:  

 

▪ Single-Family: Silverton has a surplus of capacity for about 1,409 dwelling units, or 381 

gross acres of land to accommodate growth. 

▪ Multifamily: Silverton has a deficit of capacity for about 304 dwelling units, or 17 gross 

acres of land to accommodate growth. 

Silverton has a deficit of land for 304 dwelling units in the Multifamily plan designation 

(about 17 gross acres). Currently, Silverton’s available land in its Multifamily plan 

designation is zoned at densities consistent with the Single-Family plan designation which 

cannot accommodate most multifamily housing types.  Addressing this deficit is key to 

meeting Silverton’s housing needs over the 20-year period. 

 

Since the HNA, 97 units of multifamily housing have been approved but has yet to be built.  

4 units have been built. 

 

The Planning Commission found that the public need identified by the 2020 Housing Needs 

Analysis is an additional 304 units over the next 20 years, or 15 per year, where 97 

multifamily units have been approved in the 3 years since the HNA adoption, thereby it is not 

critical that this property be zoned to R-5 to potentially meet the need. 

 

6.  The property and affected area are presently provided with adequate public 

facilities, services and transportation networks to support the use, or such facilities, 

services and transportation networks are planned to be provided in the planning 

period; and 
 

Findings:  The site is adjacent to the City water and storm sewer systems and is located 

approximately 165’ from sanitary sewer.  There is a 12” water main on the mid-level zone 

running north from the PRV station that ends along the frontage of the site.  It is feasible to 

run a 8” line from the end of this 12” across Eureka to supply water to a potential 

development.  This will allow the services to be put in without individual Pressure Reducing 

Valves.  To provide sufficient fire flow it would be feasible to come off the cross on the line 

running to the Oregon Garden and run 8” lines north and south to any hydrants needed.  The 

transportation network is currently in place. 

 

The Planning Commission found that the area does not currently have adequate pedestrian 

transportation networks within the area due to a lack of a sidewalk connection from the site 



 

to the existing sidewalk network 730 feet away on the eastern side of Eureka Avenue.  The 

pedestrian transportation network along Eureka Avenue is not planned to be provided in the 

planning period.  The sidewalk project to connect the area to the transportation network is 

listed as an Aspirational Project in the City’s Transportation System Master Plan, which are 

identified as transportation investments that are not reasonably expected to be funded by 

2040. 

 

7.  The amendment conforms to other applicable provisions of this code, such as the 

transportation planning rule requirements incorporated into SDC 4.7.600. 
 

Findings:  The transportation planning rule is not applicable.   

 

8.  Any amendment involving a change to the city’s urban growth boundary shall 

conform to applicable state planning rules for such amendments. 

 

Findings:  The request does not involve a change to the Urban Growth Boundary.   

 

Article 2 – Land Use Districts 

 

Section 2.2.110  Residential Districts – Allowed Land Uses 
 

Findings:  The site is requesting to be zoned R-5, Low Density Residential.  If the if were 

rezoned, in addition to the single family homes, duplexes, and accessory dwelling units 

allowed in the R-1 zone, single family attached, cottage clusters, and multi-family (3 or 

more dwellings on a lot) would be allowed if zoned R-5, within the 5 to 10 unit per acre 

ranged.  A subsequent land use application would have to be submitted in order to develop 

the allowed uses of the site.   

 

Section 2.2.120  Residential Districts – Development Standards 
 

Findings:  The maximum density for the R-5 zone is 10 dwelling units per acre.  The site is 

5.15 acres in size which allows a maximum density of 52 dwelling units for the site.  The 

lot size allowed for single family homes in the R-5 zone is 5,000 square feet versus the 

7,000 square feet for R-1 lots.  

 

Article 3 – Community Design Standards 

 

Section 3.1.200  Vehicular Access and Circulation 
 

This Section implements the access management policies of the City of Silverton 

Transportation System Plan.  The intent of this Section is to manage vehicular access and 

on-site circulation to ensure the continued operational safety, capacity and function of the 

transportation system. 
 

Findings:  The site has frontage on Eureka Avenue which is a Collector Roadway under 

Marion County jurisdiction.  As part of any future development, an Access Permit would 

required from  Marion County for access to Eureka Avenue which would likely preclude or 

limit direct driveway access to Eureka. 

 



 

A 22 foot wide access and utility easement traverses the site from Eureka Avenue to the 

Oregon Garden.  The easement would have to be maintained in any future development 

application.   

 

In accordance with SMC 13.70.110 any development would be subject to Transportation 

SDC charges.   

 

Section 3.2.200  Landscape Conservation 
 

Where protection is impracticable because it would prevent reasonable development of 

public streets, utilities, or land uses permitted by the applicable land use district, the city 

may allow removal of significant vegetation from the building envelope as defined by 

required yard setbacks. 
 

Findings:  Significant vegetation exists on the site.  Any development plan would have to 

incorporate the landscape conservation standards as well as the protection standards for any 

Oak tree greater than 30” located on the subject site.   

 

Section 3.4.100  Transportation Standards 
 

Findings:    The site is 5.15 acres  and was previously approved for a 21 lot subdivision 

which could result in 42 dwellings on site per HB 2001.  The zone change would permit a 

maximum of 10 units per acre allowing 52 dwellings total, a net increase of 10 units from 

the R-1 zone.  According to the Institute of Transportation Engineers Trip Generation 

Manual, a duplex is estimated as adding 2 p.m. peak hour trips (PMPHT) to the 

transportation system, a single family dwelling is estimated as adding 1 PMPHT, and an 

apartment is estimated as adding .62 PMPHT.  Using these estimates, the previous 21 lot 

single family subdivision, if developed with all single family dwellings, would add 21 

PMPHT trips to the transportation system.  If the 21 lot subdivision were developed 

entirely as duplexes as allowed per HB 2001, 42 PMPHT would be added to the 

transportation system.  If the site were to develop as a 51 unit multifamily development, 31 

PMPHT would be added to the transportation system. 

 

Section 3.4.200  Public use (park) areas. 
 

 

Findings:  The park land dedication section of the code allows the City to require 

park land dedication that is proportionate in impact to the proposed development 

consistent with the Park & Recreation Master Plan.  The Parks & Rec Master Plan 

does not recommend any additional Pocket Parks, which are small parks typically less 

than 2 acres in size.  The smallest park type the Master Plan recommends is a 

neighborhood park, which is typically 3-30 acres in size.  It is estimated that the park 

land dedication of the subdivision, should the City go that route, would be about 0.8 

acres in size at the cost of the City collecting Parks System Development Charges 

from the development.  Since the Parks & Rec Master Plan does not recommend 

acquiring additional land for pocket parks, the City is inclined to accept the Parks 

System Development Charges from the development.  All new dwellings will have to 

pay all applicable Parks and Recreation System Development Charges. 

 

Section 3.4.300  Sanitary Sewers, Water, Street Lights and Fire Protection. 
 



 

Sanitary sewer system and water system improvements shall be installed with new 

development in accordance with the City’s Sanitary Sewer Master Plan, Water System 

Master Plan, and Public Works Design Standards. When streets are required to be stubbed 

to the edge of the subdivision, sewer and water system improvements shall also be stubbed 

with the streets, except where the Public Works Director finds that future extension is not 

practical due to topography or other constraints. 
 

Development permits for sewer and water system improvements shall not be issued until the 

Public Works Director has approved all sanitary sewer and water plans in conformance 

with City standards. 
 

Findings:  Sanitary sewer exists approximately 165’ Northwest of the site and has 

adequate size to serve development capacity of a zone change.  A water main is located 

at Eureka Avenue and available to the site.  Any new development will have to pay all 

applicable SDC fees during the building permit process.  Any development would have 

to meet all applicable fire code regulations. 

 

 

Section 3.4.400  Storm Drainage and Erosion Control 
 

Findings:  A storm drainage and erosion control plan meeting Public Works Design 

Standards will be required prior to issuance of a development permit.   

 

There is downstream capacity and an approved point of discharge.  Any future 

development would be required to detain on site per public works standards.  

 

In accordance with SMC 13.70.110 any new dwellings will be required to pay a stormwater 

SDC charge at the time when a building permit is issued. 

. 

 

Section 3.4.500 Sidewalks 
 

Sidewalks shall be constructed on all public streets in the City by the owners of property 

next adjacent thereto. 
 

Findings:  Full urban frontage improvements would likely be conditioned upon a 

development application, including sidewalks.   

 

 

 

 

 

IV.  SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION 

 

Findings have been made for all of the applicable Code sections.   

 

The Planning Commission held a public hearing to evaluate the proposed zone change and 

recommends the City Council deny the application as it does not meet all the review criteria.   

 

Once the City Council receives Planning Commission’s recommendation on the zone, the 

Council will review the findings and the recommendation in a public hearing.   



 

 

The Planning Commission finds the application, as presented, does not meet the applicable City 

codes and requirements and recommends the Council deny the application. 

 

City Council Options: 

 

The City Council shall: 

 

a.  Approve, approve with modifications, approve with conditions, deny, or adopt an alternative 

to the application, or remand the application to the planning commission for rehearing and 

reconsideration on all or part of the application; 

 

b.  Consider the recommendation of the planning commission; however, the city council is not 

bound by the commission’s recommendation; and 

 

c.  Act by ordinance, which shall be signed by the mayor after the council’s adoption of the 

ordinance. 

   



19 of 26 

ATTACHMENT E:  TESTIMONY 
 

 

City of Silverton  

306 S Water Street  

Silverton, OR 97381  

 

Re: File No.: ZC-23-01  

 

To Whom It May Concern:  

 

I would like to express my deep concerns about the proposed development at 602 Eureka 

Avenue.  

 

The Oregon Garden Resort is surely the most valuable asset of the City of Silverton. Available 

for all Oregonians and tourists alike, it is a peaceful, spacious, and beautiful place, hosting over 

50,000 guests per year. From the moment one enters the welcoming gate on Cascade Highway, 

one is surrounded by the natural beauty of the Garden. The driveway meanders past towering 

oaks through ponds, undergrowth, and botanical wonders as it winds past the Gordon House 

and the Schmidt Pavilion. It is clear from that moment that you are entering a Garden.  

 

Imagine, then making the last right turn past the Pavilion, and laying your eyes on twenty two 

houses crammed onto what used to be a wild wetland, feeding the ponds below by a stream 

during the winter months that is sometimes is too deep and fast to cross.  Even in summer there 

is water moving below ground, as that rather narrow ‘crevasse’ is the only way out of the little 

valley above.  

 

There is also no fence high enough to hide that ugly vision from visitors to the Garden, since 

the driveway itself is much higher in elevation.  So. sprawled out in front of you are 42 homes 

crammed onto tiny wedge-shaped lots with 2-3 SUVs parked in each of the tiny drive-ways –

forced by the proposed density of the development.  

 

The proposed subdivision would absolutely obliterate the entrance to the Oregon Garden.  

I urge you to vote down this horrible plan, and send the developers packing.  If they wish to 

come back with a plan for 3, 4, or even 5 homes on that property including a plan to safely 

move that water through to the lower ponds… so be it.  But please, do not allow them to cram 

so many doghouses on that very important greenspace. Once done, it cannot be undone.  

Please vote no on this badly planned development.  

 

Best regards, 

 

 
DR. MARK A. GUMMIN  

540 EDGEWOOD DRIVE 

SILVERTON, OR 97381 

 



20 of 26 



21 of 26 

 
 

 



22 of 26 

 

 



23 of 26 

 

 
 



24 of 26 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



25 of 26 

Jason Gottgetreu 

Community Development Director 

City of Silverton, OR 

We are concerned the proposed “602 Eureka” development will negatively impact our property and seek 
certainty that existing drainage dynamics are not altered by the development. We live at 420 Victoria Lane, 
directly west and downslope of the proposed development. Our property includes designated wetland areas 
and a wetland channel. Part of the criteria for adoption of the proposed zoning change requires that the 
“negative impacts upon the area resulting from the change, if any, have been considered and deemed 
acceptable by the city.”  

When the 602 Eureka property was first discussed for development several years ago, we spoke with the 
applicant’s representative about concerns about any change in the amount, timing or contaminant load of 
water run-off from the development. We also spoke with you, Jason, about this. We were told the 
development would have to address and comply with standards, and that a study of the geology and 
hydrology would be part of that assessment. 

We are particularly vulnerable because our home and property are directly downslope of the proposed 
development. We have already mitigated for winter waterflows as best we can (French drains, water 
passage through our crawlspace). We are also very alarmed about potential impacts of the development 
and its drainage management on our 450 year old Oregon white oak that is adjacent to the wetland 
channel. Arborists claim this single-trunk matriarch has the largest girth known for the species. We know 
these trees do not respond well to changes, whether it is changes in the amount or timing of surface or 
subsurface water flows, or soil compaction. For such mighty trees, they are very sensitive to changes in 
their environment. During our two decades here, we have taken care to protect this tree (e.g, not irrigating 
around it during summer months, having arborist check-ins, and branch/bough removal when needed). We 
can see what happened to a grove of Oregon white oak on the Oregon Garden property when drainage 
patterns changed and fear this could be the same fate for our tree if the amount or type of additional 
stormwater flow changes or if it includes contaminants.  

If approval of this development occurs, we are simply asking that we have proof that there will not be any 
changes to the patterns, amount and contaminant load of surface and subsurface drainage onto our 
property, and that the city and developer plan for positive outcomes for us and our down-channel neighbors.  

Thank you for consideration of this request. We copied City Councilors but were unable to find email 
addresses for the Planning Commission, so please ensure they are all forwarded a copy. Thanks.  

Sincerely,  

Julie and Ed Bowles (503-689-7351) 

420 Victoria Lane, PO Box 1224 

Silverton, OR 

 

 



26 of 26 

 



SILVERTON CITY COUNCIL STAFF REPORT 
TO THE HONORABLE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCILORS 

 
 

City of Silverton | 306 S. Water St., Silverton, OR 

Recommendation: 
Adopt Ordinance No. 23-06, annexing 1.48 acres of land located at 827 Railway Avenue into the 
City limits and zoning the property GC, General Commercial. The Planning Commission 
recommends the City Council approve the annexation request. 
 
Background:  
The applicant submitted an application on September 19, 2023, to annex 827 Railway Avenue into 
the City limits and zoning the property GC, General Commercial.  The total area of the annexation 
request is 1.48 acres.  The purpose of the annexation is to allow the existing building to be able to 
connect to the City water system and sewer system.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Attachments:  

1. AN-23-01 Staff Report 
2. November 14, 2023, Draft Planning Commission Minutes 
3. PC Resolution No. 23-06 
4. City Council Ordinance No. 23-06 

 

 

Agenda Item No.: Topic: 
6.2 Ordinance No. 23-06 -

Consider a request to annex 
827 Railway Avenue into the 
City Limits and zone the 
property GC, General 
Commercial.  

Agenda Type: 

Public Hearing 

Meeting Date:  

December 4, 2023 
Prepared by: Reviewed by: Approved by: 

Jason Gottgetreu Cory Misley Cory Misley 

Budget Impact Fiscal Year Funding Source 
None 2023-2024 N/A 



City of Silverton 

 Community Development  

 306 South Water Street 

 Silverton, OR 97381 

 

CC STAFF REPORT  
 

PROCEDURE TYPE   IV  

 

FILE NUMBER:  AN-23-01 

 

LAND USE DISTRICT: 

IC, INDUSTRIAL COMMERCIAL   

 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION:  

ASSESSOR MAP#:  061W34CA  

LOTS #:  00700  

SITE SIZE:  1.48 ACRES  

ADDRESS:  827 RAILWAY AVE. NE 

 

APPLICANT: 

RAILWAY INVESTMENTS LLC  

827 RAILWAY AVENUE NE  

SILVERTON, OR 97381  

 

APPLICANT’S REPRESENTATIVE: 

CASCADIA PLANNING & DEV. SERVICES  

PO BOX 1920  

SILVERTON, OR 97381  
 

 

OWNER: 

RAILWAY INVESTMENTS LLC  

827 RAILWAY AVENUE NE  

SILVERTON, OR 97381  
 

LOCATION:  ON THE SOUTH SIDE OF RAILWAY 

AVE.   

 

 

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT ACTION:  ANNEXATION APPLICATION TO ANNEX 827 RAILWAY AVE NE INTO 

THE CITY LIMITS AND ZONE THE PROPERTY GC, GENERAL COMMERCIAL.  THE TOTAL AREA OF THE 

ANNEXATION REQUEST IS 1.48 ACRES.  THE PURPOSE OF THE ANNEXATION IS TO ALLOW THE EXISTING 

BUILDING AND A FUTURE BUILDING TO BE ABLE TO CONNECT TO THE CITY SEWER AND WATER SYSTEM.  

   

 

DATE:  NOVEMBER 22, 2023 

 

 

 

 

Attachments A. Vicinity Map and Review Criteria 

 B.  Applicant’s Narrative  

C. Staff Report 

D. Testimony 

 



AN-23-01  

ATTACHMENT A:  VICINITY MAP & REVIEW CRITERIA 

 

Case File:  AN-23-01 
Vicinity Map and Surrounding Land Use Districts 

 
North – UT-5 (Urban Transition) 

East – IP (Industrial Park) 

South – LI (Light Industrial) 

West – LI (Light Industrial) 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 



AN-23-01  

REVIEW CRITERIA:  When reviewing a proposed annexation of land, the Planning Commission and 

City Council will consider the following standards and criteria:  
 

A.  Adequacy of access to the site; and 

B.  Conformity of the proposal with the city’s comprehensive plan; and 

C.  Adequate public facilities, services, and transportation networks are in place or are planned 

to be provided concurrently with the development of the property. If extension or upgrading 

of any improvement is necessary to serve the area, such extension must be consistent with 

the city’s infrastructure plans and must be an orderly and efficient arrangement for the 

extension of public services; and 

D.  The new area will meet city standards for any public improvements which may be necessary 

to serve the area (including but not limited to streets, including sidewalks, sanitary sewer, 

water, storm drainage); and 

E.  The area to be annexed is contiguous to the city and represents a logical direction for city 

expansion; and 

F.  The area is within the urban growth boundary, unless a health hazard due to failing septic 

systems or groundwater supplies is found to exist; and 

G.  The proposed use of the property is consistent with the applicable comprehensive plan 

designation; and 

H.  The proposed annexation shall be consistent with all applicable goals and policies of the 

Silverton comprehensive plan; and 

I.  Shall be in compliance with applicable sections of ORS Chapter 222; and 

J.  Natural hazards identified by the city, such as wetlands, floodplains and steep slopes, have 

been addressed; and 

K.  Urbanization of the subject property shall not have a significant adverse effect on areas 

identified or designated in the comprehensive plan as open space or as significant scenic, 

historic or natural resource areas; and 

L.  Economic impacts which are likely to result from the annexation shall be evaluated in light 

of the social and physical impacts. The overall impact which is likely to result from the 

annexation and development shall not have a significant adverse effect on the economic, 

social and physical environment of the community, as a whole. 

M. If the proposed area for annexation is to be residentially zoned, there must be less than a five-

year supply of vacant and redevelopable land in terms of dwelling units per acre within the 

current city limits. “Redevelopable land” means land zoned for residential use on which 

development has already occurred but on which, due to present or expected market forces, 

there exists the likelihood that existing development will be converted to more intensive 

residential uses during the planning period. The five-year supply shall be determined from 

vacant and redevelopable land inventories and by the methodology for land need projections 

from the housing element of the comprehensive plan. If there is more than a five-year supply 

but less than an eight-year supply, the city may consider additional factors, such as the 

likelihood of vacant parcels being developed in the near future, to determine if the public 

good would be served by the annexation. Properties proposed for annexation that have a 

current or probable public health hazard due to lack of full city water or sanitary sewer may 

be exempt from this criterion; and 

N. Promotes the timely, orderly and economic provision of public facilities and services; and 

O. The annexation is reasonable and that the public interest, present and future, will be best served 

by annexing the property. 

 
 

 

 

 



AN-23-01  

ATTACHMENT B:  APPLICANT’S NARRATIVE 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

CITY OF SILVERTON 
APPLICATION FOR 
LAND USE REVIEW 

 
 

 

RAILWAY INVESTMENTS 
ANNEXATION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Location: 827 Railway Avenue NE 
  Silverton, OR 97381 

Tax Lot 700 of  
Tax Map 61W34CA in 

  Marion County, Oregon 
 
 
 Prepared by: Steve Kay, AICP 

   Mason McGonagall, PhD Arch 
 
 
 Prepared for: Railway Investments, LLC 
  827 Railway Ave NE 
  Silverton, OR  97381 
 

 

 

 

 

August 25, 2023 

  
   

 
 

 
PO Box 1920, Silverton, OR  97381 

 www.cascadiapd.com / 503-804-1089 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



APPLICANT’S STATEMENT 
 
 
 
 PROJECT NAME:     Railway Investments Annexation 
 
 
 REQUEST:     Annexation with Automatic Zoning Map 

Amendment to GC (General Commercial) 
 
 
 LEGAL DESCRIPTION:    Tax Lot 700 
       Tax Map 61W34CA 
      Marion County, Oregon 
 
 
 APPLICANT’S 
 REPRESENTATIVE:     Steve Kay, AICP 
        Cascadia Planning + Development Services 
        P.O. Box 1920 
        Silverton, OR  97381 
        503-804-1089   
        steve@cascadiapd.com 
 
 
 APPLICANT/OWNER:     Railway Investments, LLC 
        827 Railway Ave NE 
        Silverton, OR  97381 
 
 
 PROPERTY SIZE:     1.46 acres +/- 
 
 
 LOCATION:      827 Railway Avenue NE 
        Silverton, OR 97381 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



August 10, 2023                                                         Railway Investments Annexation          Page 3      

I. APPLICABLE REGULATIONS 

 
 

A. Silverton Development Code: 
 

   Article 2: Land Use (Zoning) Districts   
    Chapter 2.3: Commercial Districts 
   Article 4: Administration of Land Use and Development    
    Chapter 4.10: Annexations 
     

 
 B. Silverton Comprehensive Plan 
 
   Urbanization Element 
   Agricultural Lands Element 
   Open Space, Natural and Cultural Resources Element 
   Air, Water, and Land Resources Quality Element 
   Natural Hazards Element 
   Housing Element 
   Economy Element 
   Transportation Element 
   Energy Element 
   Public Facilities and Services Element 
   Citizen Involvement Element 
 

  
 C. Statewide Planning Goals 
 
   Goal 1: Citizen Involvement 
   Goal 2: Land Use Planning 
   Goal 3: Agricultural Lands 
   Goal 4: Forest Lands 
   Goal 5: Open Spaces, Scenic and Historic Areas and Natural Resources 
   Goal 6: Air, Water and Land Resource Quality 
   Goal 7: Areas Subject to Natural Disasters or Hazards 
   Goal 8: Recreational Needs 
   Goal 9: Economic Development 
   Goal 10: Housing 
   Goal 11: Public Facilities 
   Goal 12: Transportation 
   Goal 13: Energy Conservation 
   Goal 14: Urbanization 
 
 
 
 
 
 



August 10, 2023                                                         Railway Investments Annexation          Page 4      

III. BACKGROUND: 
 
The applicant, Railway Investments, is requesting land use approval of a Minor Annexation Application 
to include the subject property within the city limits of Silverton.  The subject site consists of Tax Lot 700 
of Tax Map 61W34CA and is addressed as 827 Railway Avenue NE.  The attached Existing Conditions 
Plan indicates that the 1.46 acre site is currently designated Commercial on the Silverton 
Comprehensive Plan Map and is zoned Industrial/Commercial on the Marion County Zoning Map.  
Following annexation approval, the site will automatically be zoned GC (General Commercial).  The 
attached Existing Conditions Plan indicates that the site is an unincorporated island that is directly 
adjacent to the city limits of Silverton and is located within the City’s Urban Growth Boundary (UGB).   
 
The attached Existing Conditions Plan demonstrates that the site generally slopes down from the 
southeast to northwest corner of the property (see Exhibit 3).  The property is clear of native vegetation 
and currently contains a 9,035 sq. ft. industrial use building with an existing asphalt storage yard 
covering the remainder of the site.  No natural hazards, natural resources, or critical areas are identified 
on the parcel. 
 
In 2011, a series of interactive community workshops were initiated by the City of Silverton to develop a 
vision for Silverton’s West-Side area.  This focused planning area includes the subject site.  The project 
was guided by a Project Advisory Committee comprised of local citizens, business owners, organizations, 
government agencies, and elected officials.  As a result of this effort, an urban design framework and 
transportation plan strategies were identified to ensure that future development was consistent with 
the community’s vision.  On June 3, 2013, the Silverton City Council adopted the West-Side Land Use 
and Transportation Plan as a supporting document to the City’s Comprehensive Plan and a refinement 
to the City’s Transportation System Plan (TSP).  The proposed Zoning Map designation and low-impact 
light industrial use on the site is consistent with the adopted area plan.   
 
As demonstrated by the attached Existing Conditions Plan, the subject property is located adjacent to 
Railway Avenue NE.  When public facilities for Phase I of the West-Side Gateway project were 
constructed, additional right-of-way was dedicated along the road frontage.  The West-Side Gateway 
improvements included increasing the street pavement width to 30-ft., providing storm system 
improvements, and installing a curb and 5-ft. sidewalk along the street frontage.  Therefore, the site’s 
road frontage currently complies with Silverton Local Street standards. 
 
As indicated by the attached Existing Conditions Plan, public utilities are in the vicinity of the subject site 
and can accommodate commercial and industrial uses on the site.  Public water and sanitary sewer 
service will be provided by connecting to the existing main lines within Railway Avenue NE.  Stormwater 
is currently managed by collecting stormwater on the site and discharging it into the public drainageway 
on the north side of Railway Avenue.  Since the subject property is included in Silverton’s Water, 
Sanitary Sewer, and Stormwater Master Plan planning areas, the adjacent public facilities and utilities 
were sized to accommodate full development of the site. 
 
This Applicant’s Statement addresses the applicable provisions of the Silverton Development Code, 
Statewide Planning Goals, and Silverton Comprehensive Plan.  Copies of the signed Application Form, 
Property Deed, and Preliminary Plans have been attached to this narrative. The exhibits and narrative 
demonstrate that the submitted land use application meets the criteria for approval. 
 
 
 



August 10, 2023                                                         Railway Investments Annexation          Page 5      

IV. FINDINGS 
 
 
A. SILVERTON DEVELOPMENT CODE 
 
ARTICLE 2: LAND USE (ZONING) DISTRICTS 
 
 CHAPTER 2.3:  COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 
 
  Section 2.3.110: Commercial Districts – Allowed Land Uses 
 

Table 2.3.110 identifies the land uses that are allowed in the 
commercial districts. The specific land use categories are 
described and uses are defined in Chapters 1.5 and 1.6 SDC. 

 
COMMENT: 
 
The attached Existing Conditions Plan indicates that the subject site is currently developed with a 9,035 
sq. ft. warehouse structure with an associated asphalt storage yard and parking area.  The building 
contains Kaufman Mason, which is operated by the applicant and property owner, Railway Investments 
LLC.  Kaufman Masonry is a company that specializes in fireplace, concrete block, brick, and stone 
construction.  A portion of the structure is also leased to Tiny Mountain Houses for the construction of 
towable tiny homes.   
 
Upon annexation, the subject site will be automatically zone GC (General Commercial).  Both of the 
existing businesses currently undertake all manufacturing and production activities within the existing 
structure. The attached Concept Plan indicates that following the proposed annexation, the applicant 
intends to develop an additional 6,000 sq. ft. warehouse structure in the southwest corner of the site for 
manufacturing and production use.  Per Table 2.3.110, manufacturing and production is permitted in the 
GC zone when the use is fully enclosed within a structure. 
 
 
ARTICLE 4: ADMINISTRATION OF LAND USE AND DEVELOPMENT 
 
 CHAPTER 4.10:  ANNEXATIONS 
 

Section 4.10.120: Application and Fee. 
 

An application for annexation shall be filed with the city and 
accompanied by the appropriate fee. Additional land use 
applications may be filed concurrently with an annexation 
application contingent on approval of the annexation. At a 
minimum the application shall include: 
 
A.  A complete application signed by each property owner or 

a signed notarized letter of authorization from the 
property owner allowing the city to process an application 
received from a third party; and 

 



August 10, 2023                                                         Railway Investments Annexation          Page 6      

COMMENT: 
 
As required, the submitted Annexation Application form has been signed by the property owner of the 
subject site (see Exhibit 1). 
 

B.  Signed notarized statements by anyone leasing or renting 
the property stating that they have no objection to the 
annexation; and 

 
COMMENT: 
 
The property owner operates Kaufman Masonry out of the existing structure and has rented a portion of 
the warehouse to Tiny Mountain Houses.  As required, a signed statement has been provided by the 
tenant indicating that they have no objection to the annexation (see Exhibit 1).  
 

C.  A mailing list of all current property owners and residents 
within 500 feet of the subject site, as certified by a title 
company or by the Marion County tax assessor’s office, as 
accurate and complete as found on the most recent 
property tax assessment roll where the subject property is 
located; and 

 
COMMENT: 
 
The City of Silverton has provided a property owner and resident mailing list which meets the standards 
of this section. 
 

D.  A copy of the current deed(s); and 
 
COMMENT: 
 
A copy of the current property deed has been attached to this Applicant’s Statement (see Exhibit 2). 
 

E.  A legal description of the territory to be annexed, meeting 
the relevant requirements of ORS Chapter 308. If such a 
description is not submitted, a boundary survey may be 
required. A lot and block description may be substituted 
for the metes and bounds description if the area is platted. 
If the legal description contains any deed or book and page 
references, legible copies of these shall be submitted with 
the legal description; and 

 
COMMENT: 
 
The attached property deed includes a legal description which meets the standards of this section (see 
Exhibit 2). 
 

F.  Two full quarter-section county tax assessor’s maps, with 
the subject property(ies) outlined; and 



August 10, 2023                                                         Railway Investments Annexation          Page 7      

 
COMMENT: 
 
As required, the applicant has submitted a tax map with this application (see Exhibit 4). 
 

G.  A written applicant’s statement addressing each review 
criteria. It shall be the applicant’s responsibility to submit 
a complete application which addresses the review criteria 
listed in SDC 4.10.140. Upon determination that the 
application is complete, a public hearing shall be 
scheduled before the planning commission followed by a 
public hearing before the city council; and 

 
COMMENT: 
 
This narrative addresses each of the Annexation application review criteria. 
 

H.  Eighteen full-sized and one reduced (11 inches by 17 
inches) conceptual site plan for properties to be developed 
with a subdivision or planned development.  

 
COMMENT: 
 
The applicant is not proposing a subdivision or planned development. Therefore, the above standards 
do not apply. With approval of the application, the subject site will be zoned GC upon annexation into 
the city limits of Silverton.  The applicant has attached a Concept Plan and intends to submit a future 
Design Review application for the development of a new industrial use warehouse structure in the 
southwest corner of the site. 
 

I. If applicable, a double-majority worksheet, certification of 
ownership and voters. Certification of legal description 
and map on forms provided by the city; 

 
COMMENT: 
 
All property owners within the proposed annexation area have signed the attached application form.  
Therefore, a double-majority worksheet is not applicable to this annexation request. 
 

J.  A narrative statement explaining the conditions 
surrounding the proposal and addressing the factors 
contained in the review criteria, as relevant, including: 

 
1.  Statement of availability, capacity and status of 

existing water, sewer, drainage, transportation, park 
and school facilities; and 

 
 
 
 



August 10, 2023                                                         Railway Investments Annexation          Page 8      

COMMENT: 
 
As indicated by the attached Existing Conditions Plan, public utilities are in the vicinity of the subject site 
and can accommodate full development of the property.  Public water and sanitary sewer service will be 
provided by extending services from the existing main lines within Railway Avenue NE.  Stormwater is 
currently managed by collecting stormwater from impervious surfaces and discharging it into the public 
drainageway on the north side of Railway Avenue.  Since the subject property is included in Silverton’s 
Water, Sanitary Sewer, and Stormwater Master Plan planning areas, recently installed public facilities 
within Railway Avenue have been sized to accommodate development on the site.  Phase I of the West-
Side Gateway Planned Development also widened the south side of Railway Ave NE, installed drainage 
improvements, and added a curb and sidewalk, bringing the site’s frontage into compliance with Local 
Street standards.   
 

2.  Statement of increased demand for such facilities to 
be generated by the proposed development; and 

 
COMMENT: 
 
The applicant has attached a Concept Plan which indicates that the applicant intends to develop a 
warehouse building for permitted commercial and industrial uses in the southwest corner of the site 
(see Exhibit 3).  Prior to submitting a Design Review application, the applicant will set up a Pre-
Application Conference with City Staff.  Based on the projected number of daily trips, the City will 
determine if a traffic impact statement needs to be submitted with the land use application.  Using this 
calculation, Transportation SDCs will be assessed by the City before a building permit is issued for the 
development.  These fees will be used by the City to mitigate transportation impacts that are generated 
by the new development. 
 
Similarly, the cost for increased demand for other services will be assessed by the City.  The City’s 
adopted utility master plans have determined the proportional cost of expanded services due to new 
development.  Using these mechanisms, Water System, Sewer System, and Storm Drainage SDCs will 
also be assessed when building permits are issued for the future warehouse building. 
 

3.  Statement of additional facilities, if any, required to 
meet the increased demand and any proposed 
phasing of such facilities in accordance with 
projected demand; and 

 
COMMENT: 
 
As discussed above, future development of the site can be accommodated by existing sanitary sewer, 
water, stormwater, transportation facilities. To address the proportional costs of future service and 
facility needs, Water System, Sewer System, and Storm Drainage SDCs will be collected for the proposed 
warehouse structure when building permits are issued for the subject site.   
 

4.  Statement outlining method and source of financing 
required to provide additional facilities, if any; and 

 
 
 



August 10, 2023                                                         Railway Investments Annexation          Page 9      

COMMENT: 
 
Since the subject site is included in Silverton’s Water, Sanitary Sewer, and Stormwater Master Plan 
planning areas, the recently installed adjacent public facilities within Railway Avenue were sized to 
accommodate full development of the property.  No additional public facilities will be required to serve 
the subject site after the annexation. 
 

5.  Statement of overall development concept and 
methods by which the physical and related social 
environment of the site, surrounding area and 
community will be enhanced; and 

 
COMMENT: 
 
On June 3, 2013, the Silverton City Council adopted the West-Side Land Use and Transportation Plan as a 
supporting document to the City’s Comprehensive Plan.  The subject site is located within the 
boundaries of this area plan.  Based on community discussions and an analysis of urban growth 
boundary needs, the area plan identifies the need to develop the West Silverton employment area with 
a business park and low-impact industrial development for job creation.   
 
The attached Concept Plan indicates that following the proposed annexation, the applicant intends to 
develop the site with an additional warehouse (see Exhibit 4).  A future Design Review application will be 
submitted for development of the structure.  This additional structure will encourage economic 
development and create additional employment opportunities.  Therefore, the proposed annexation 
and subsequent development will help enhance the physical and social environment, consistent with 
the community’s vision for the West-Side area. 
 

6.  Statement of potential physical, aesthetic, and 
related social effects of the proposed or potential 
development on the community as a whole and on 
the small subcommunity or neighborhood of which it 
will become a part; and proposed actions to mitigate 
such negative effects, if any; and 

 
COMMENT: 
 
The attached Concept Plan illustrates that the proposed annexation and future development on the site 
will result in a number of positive effects for the community.  With the annexation, the City will start 
receiving property tax revenue from existing assessed improvements on the site.  This revenue will help 
fund park, transportation, police, code enforcement, and planning services within the city limits.  The 
existing structure will also be required to connect to the public water and sanitary sewer main lines 
within Railway Avenue, helping to safeguard environmental resources within the community. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



August 10, 2023                                                         Railway Investments Annexation          Page 10      

Following the annexation, the applicant intends to develop a new 6,000 sq. ft. warehouse structure in 
the southwest corner of the site (see Exhibit 3).  This structure will support economic development and 
job creation in Silverton.  The planned development will include the installation of landscape 
improvements within the parking area to improve the aesthetics of the existing development.  In 
addition, Transportation, Sanitary Sewer, Water, and Park SDCs will be paid when building permits are 
obtained for the new building.  The City will use those funds to increase the capacity of those public 
facilities for the citizens and business of Silverton. 

 
7.  Statement indicating the type and nature of any 

comprehensive plan text or map amendments that 
may be required to complete the proposed 
development; 

 
COMMENT: 
 
As demonstrated by the Concept Plan, once annexed, the applicant will utilize the subject site for a 
permitted use in the GC Zone.  Therefore, a Comprehensive Plan text or map amendment is not 
required. 
 

K.  Annexation agreement. There may be instances in which 
an applicant may offer additional considerations in 
support of an annexation application. Such considerations 
shall be considered as part of an annexation application. 
These considerations shall be formalized through a 
development agreement; 

 
COMMENT: 
 
The applicant and the City have not discussed the option of an annexation agreement for this 
application.  
 

L.  The application fee for annexations and a deposit which is 
adequate to cover any and all costs related to the election 
as established by resolution of the city council. 

 
COMMENT: 
 
As required, the Annexation application fee has been submitted to the City. 
 
 Section 4.10.140: Review criteria. 

 
When reviewing a proposed annexation of land, the planning 
commission and city council will consider the following 
standards and criteria; the applicant shall bear the burden of 
proof. 
 
A.  Adequacy of access to the site; and 

 
 



August 10, 2023                                                         Railway Investments Annexation          Page 11      

COMMENT: 
 
As indicated by the attached Existing Conditions Plan, the subject property currently has adequate site 
access from the adjacent right-of-way, Railway Avenue NE (see Exhibit 3).  The existing frontage 
improvements were upgraded to meet current City standards when Phase I of the West-Side Planned 
Development project was constructed.  The submitted Concept Plan demonstrates that when a future 
warehouse is developed on the property, the access point will move to the east and will comply with 
City standards.    
 

B.  Conformity of the proposal with the city’s comprehensive 
plan; and 

 
COMMENT: 
 
As mentioned above, with approval of the Annexation application, the subject site will be automatically 
zoned GC when it is included in Silverton’s city limits.  The applicant has attached a Concept Plan which 
illustrates the intent to develop an additional warehouse on the site for manufacturing and production 
uses within a fully enclosed structure (see Exhibit 3).  The following comments demonstrate how the 
Annexation application conforms to applicable elements of the City’s Comprehensive Plan:  
 
 Urbanization Element 
 

The goal of the Urbanization Element of the Comprehensive Plan is to provide an adequate 
land supply of buildable residential, commercial, and industrial land within the City’s UGB 
area.  To evaluate commercial and industrial land needs, the City directed the preparation of 
an Economic Opportunity Analysis in 2011.  The applicant’s Concept Plan demonstrates that 
existing and future uses on the site will align with the current Commercial Comprehensive 
Plan Map designation, and automatic General Commercial Zoning Map designation upon 
annexation.  Therefore, the requested annexation is consistent with the Urbanization 
Element. 

 
 Agricultural Lands Element 
 

The goal of the Agricultural Lands Element is to preserve and maintain agricultural lands.  
The policies of the Agricultural Element include working with Marion County to zone areas 
of land between the city limits and the Urban Growth Boundary for 5-acre minimum lots.  
The subject site, which is located within Silverton’s Urban Growth Area, is not utilized for 
agricultural purposes and is currently zoned Industrial/Commercial by Marion County.  
Therefore, the proposed annexation and intended use of the site is consistent with the 
Agricultural Lands Element. 

 
 Open Space, Natural and Cultural Resources Element 
 

The goal of this element is to preserve and conserve open space, and natural and cultural 
resources.  The Silverton Comprehensive Plan does not identify or designate any portion of 
the subject site as open space, or as significant scenic, historic or natural resource areas.  
Therefore, the proposed annexation will further the objectives of this Comprehensive Plan 
element.   

 



August 10, 2023                                                         Railway Investments Annexation          Page 12      

 Air, Water and Land Resources Quality Element 
 

The goal of this element is to maintain and improve the quality of air, water and land 
resources.  Future development of the property will require connection to the City’s sanitary 
sewer, water, and stormwater systems.  By adhering to the City’s environmental standards, 
the proposed fully enclosed manufacturing and production use will comply with the goals 
and policies of this element.  

 
 Natural Hazard Element 
 

The goal of the Natural Hazards Element is to protect life and property from natural 
disasters and hazards.  The attached Existing Conditions Plan demonstrates that there are 
no floodplains or steeply sloped areas on the subject site.  Therefore, the proposed 
annexation conforms with this element of the Comprehensive Plan. 

 
 Housing Element 
 

Objectives of the Housing Element coincide with City comprehensive plan elements and 
policies to encourage commercial development and job growth in close proximity to 
residential zones.  The subject site will be zoned GC upon annexation.  The submitted 
Concept Plan indicates that the site currently contains 9,035 sq. ft. warehouse and an 
additional 6,000 sq. ft. structure will be constructed in the southwest corner of the property 
(see Exhibit 3).  The City’s adopted West-Side Land Use and Transportation Plan identifies 
the need for employment opportunities near planned residential uses to the south of the 
subject property.  Therefore, the annexation complements the policies and goals of the 
Housing Element,  particularly for Silverton’s West-Side area. 

 
 Economy Element 
 

The goal of the Economy Element is focused on the diversification and improvement of the 
local economy.  The proposed annexation will allow the subject site to connect to City 
utilities and develop a new warehouse structure on the property.  The planned development 
will generate the development of additional jobs for Silverton’s manufacturing and 
production workforce.  As such, the proposed annexation will help further the goals and 
policies of the Economic Element.  

 
 Transportation Element 
 

The goal of the Transportation Element is to provide a safe, convenient, aesthetic, and 
economical transportation system.  The Existing Conditions Plan demonstrates that the 
site’s frontage along Railway Avenue NE was fully improved to City standards when Phase I 
of the West-Side Gateway project was constructed.  Therefore, the proposed annexation 
complies with the Transportation Element. 

 
 
 
 
 
 



August 10, 2023                                                         Railway Investments Annexation          Page 13      

 Energy Element 
 

The goal of the Energy Element is to conserve and reuse energy resources.  The proposed 
annexation will encourage energy conservation by maximizing employment opportunities 
that are conveniently located within bicycling and walking distance of housing in Silverton’s 
West-Side area.  Energy conservation will also be encouraged through building code 
compliance when an additional warehouse is developed on the site. 

 
 Public Facilities and Services Element 
 

The goal of the Public Facilities and Services Elements of the Comprehensive Plan is to 
provide orderly and efficient public facilities and services to meet the needs of Silverton 
residents.  As demonstrated by the attached Existing Conditions Plan, the subject property is 
located adjacent to Railway Avenue NE.  When public facilities for Phase I of the West-Side 
Gateway project were constructed, additional right-of-way was dedicated along the road 
frontage.  The West-Side Gateway improvements included increasing the street pavement 
width to 30-ft., providing storm system improvements, adding a curb, and installing a 5-ft. 
sidewalk along the street frontage.  Therefore, the site’s road frontage currently complies 
with Local Street standards. 
 
As indicated by the attached Existing Conditions Plan, public utilities are located in the 
vicinity of the property and can accommodate commercial and industrial uses on the site.  
Public water and sanitary sewer service will be provided by connecting to the existing main 
lines within Railway Avenue NE.  Stormwater is currently managed by collecting stormwater 
on the site and discharging it into the drainageway on the north side of Railway Avenue.  
Since utilities within Railway Avenue were upgraded during the last 10 years, and the 
subject property is included in Silverton’s Water, Sanitary Sewer, and Stormwater Master 
Plan planning areas, these public facilities were sized to accommodate full development of 
the site. 

 
 Citizen Involvement Element 
 

The goal of the Citizen Involvement Element is to ensure that residents in the planning area 
have an opportunity to be involved in all phases of the planning process.  As discussed 
throughout this Applicant’s Statement, the subject site is located within the West-Side Land 
Use and Transportation Plan area.  In 2011, a series of interactive community workshops 
were initiated by the City of Silverton to develop a vision for Silverton’s West-Side area.  The 
project was guided by a Project Advisory Committee comprised of local residents, business 
owners, local organizations, government agencies, and elected officials.  As a result of this 
effort, an urban design framework and transportation plan strategies were identified to 
ensure that future development was consistent with the community’s vision.  On June 3, 
2013, the Silverton City Council adopted the West-Side Land Use and Transportation Plan as 
a supporting document to the City’s Comprehensive Plan.   

 
 
 
 
 
 



August 10, 2023                                                         Railway Investments Annexation          Page 14      

The requested Minor Annexation land use application is required to follow the City’s Type IV 
review procedure.  With public hearings held before the Planning Commission and City 
Council, the submitted land use application will satisfy the goal and policies of the Citizen 
Involvement Element of the Comprehensive Plan. The public hearings allow an un-biased 
decision-making body to consider citizen input, the City’s staff report, and findings from the 
submitted application when determining whether the proposal meets the City’s clear and 
objective review criteria.  As required, the public hearings will be noticed in advance of the 
meetings. 

 
C.  Adequate public facilities, services, and transportation 

networks are in place or are planned to be provided 
concurrently with the development of the property. If 
extension or upgrading of any improvement is necessary 
to serve the area, such extension must be consistent with 
the city’s infrastructure plans and must be an orderly and 
efficient arrangement for the extension of public services; 
and 

 
COMMENT: 
 
The subject site is currently located within Silverton’s Urban Growth Boundary, therefore the property is 
also included in the City’s public facilities, services, and transportation system planning area.  The City’s 
Transportation System Plan, Water Master Plan, Sewer Master Plan, and Storm Water Master Plan have 
evaluated existing public facilitates and services in the vicinity of the subject site and have determined 
needs for future development.  Public facility needs for the subject site were also evaluated during 
development of the West-Side Land Use and Transportation Plan, which is a refinement of the City’s 
Transportation System Plan.   
 
The Existing Conditions Plan demonstrates that adequate public facilities, services, and transportation 
networks are in place to serve the subject property. Phase I of the West-Side Gateway project widened 
the south side of Railway Ave NE, installed drainage improvements, and added a curb and sidewalk, 
bringing the site’s frontage into compliance with Local Street standards.    Also, when the Fire District 
extended the sanitary sewer main and connected to City service in 2019, a sewer lateral was installed 
and capped for 827 Railway Avenue NE.  The attached Existing Conditions Plan indicates that a water 
main is currently located on the north side of Railway Avenue.  Following the annexation, public water 
and sanitary sewer connections will be made for the existing warehouse structure.  Stormwater will 
continue to be managed by collecting stormwater on the site and discharging it into the drainageway on 
the north side of Railway Avenue.  Since the subject property is included in Silverton’s Water, Sanitary 
Sewer, and Stormwater Master Plan planning areas, the adjacent public facilities were sized to 
accommodate full development of the site. 
 

D.  The new area will meet city standards for any public 
improvements which may be necessary to serve the area 
(including but not limited to streets, including sidewalks, 
sanitary sewer, water, storm drainage); and 

 
 
 
 



August 10, 2023                                                         Railway Investments Annexation          Page 15      

COMMENT: 
 
The attached Existing Conditions Plan demonstrates that recent transportation improvements to 
Railway Avenue meet current Local Street standards.  As discussed above, upgrades to public sanitary 
sewer and storm facilities within Railway Avenue were also recently made in conformance with City 
Master Plan requirements.  In addition, the existing public water line within the right-of-way has the 
capacity to serve full development of the site.  Therefore, additional public facilities are not required to 
serve the annexation territory. 
 

E.  The area to be annexed is contiguous to the city and 
represents a logical direction for city expansion; and 

 
COMMENT: 
 
The attached Existing Conditions Plan indicates that the subject property is located adjacent to Silverton 
Fire District Station 1 to the east, and Storage Deport to the west and south, both of which are currently 
within the city limits of Silverton.  To the north of the site is Railroad Avenue NE, the Union Pacific 
Railroad right-of-way, and Silverton Road NE.  Since this property is an island of land under County 
jurisdiction that is contiguous to the city limits, the proposed annexation represents a logical direction 
for city expansion.  
 

F.  The area is within the urban growth boundary, unless a 
health hazard due to failing septic systems or groundwater 
supplies is found to exist; and 

 
COMMENT: 
 
As indicated by the attached Existing Conditions Plan, the subject property is currently located within 
Silverton’s Urban Growth Boundary. 
 

G.  The proposed use of the property is consistent with the 
applicable comprehensive plan designation; and 

 
COMMENT: 
 
 
Consistent with the current Commercial designation on the Comprehensive Plan Map, the subject site 
will be automatically zoned GC when the property is annexed.  The existing structure on the site is 
currently used for manufacturing and production activities.  The attached Concept Plan indicates that 
following the proposed annexation, the applicant intends to develop an additional 6,000 sq. ft. 
warehouse structure in the southwest corner of the site for manufacturing and production use.  Per 
Table 2.3.110, manufacturing and production is permitted in the GC zone when the use is fully enclosed 
within a structure.  Therefore, the proposed use is consistent with the site’s Comprehensive Plan Map 
designation.   
 

H.  The proposed annexation shall be consistent with all 
applicable goals and policies of the Silverton 
comprehensive plan; and 

 



August 10, 2023                                                         Railway Investments Annexation          Page 16      

COMMENT: 
 
The applicant has demonstrated how the proposed annexation is consistent with the goals of the 
Silverton Comprehensive Plan under the response to Section 4.10.140(B).  The applicant’s statement 
addresses applicable policies of the Silverton Comprehensive Plan in the narrative provided below. 
 

I.  Shall be in compliance with applicable sections of ORS 
Chapter 222; and 

 
COMMENT: 
 
The proposed annexation is a land use application which follows the City’s Type IV review procedure.  As 
required by State law, the City’s Type IV procedure is consistent with the annexation procedures of ORS 
Chapter 222.  Therefore, the Annexation Application complies with applicable sections of ORS Chapter 
222. 
 

J.  Natural hazards identified by the city, such as wetlands, 
floodplains and steep slopes, have been addressed; and 

 
COMMENT: 
 
The attached Existing Conditions Plan demonstrates that there are no floodplains or steeply sloped 
areas on the subject site.  In addition, no on-site drainageways or potential wetlands are located on the 
property.  
 

K.  Urbanization of the subject property shall not have a 
significant adverse effect on areas identified or designated 
in the comprehensive plan as open space or as significant 
scenic, historic or natural resource areas; and 

 
COMMENT: 
 
The Silverton Comprehensive Plan does not identify or designate any portion of the subject site as open 
space, or as significant scenic, historic or natural resource areas. 
 

L.  Economic impacts which are likely to result from the 
annexation shall be evaluated in light of the social and 
physical impacts. The overall impact which is likely to 
result from the annexation and development shall not 
have a significant adverse effect on the economic, social 
and physical environment of the community, as a whole.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



August 10, 2023                                                         Railway Investments Annexation          Page 17      

COMMENT: 
 
The submitted Concept Plan indicates that the site currently contains 9,035 sq. ft. warehouse.  An 
additional 6,000 sq. ft. structure will be constructed in the southwest corner of the property when city 
services are available following the annexation (see Exhibit 3).  The existing and planned manufacturing 
and production use will help further the goals of the West-Side Land Use and Transportation Plan, which 
identifies the need for employment opportunities near planned residential uses in the planning area.  
Another measurable economic benefit of the proposed annexation is the additional property tax 
revenue will be available for City services.  The attached Concept Plan also demonstrates that additional 
aesthetic enhancements to the gateway area will be provided when landscaping is installed along the 
street frontage with the future warehouse structure on the site (see Exhibit 3).  Based on these factors, 
the proposed annexation and future development on the site will provide positive effects on the 
community. 
 
 Section 4.10.150: Annexation Applications Involving Comprehensive Plan 

Amendments. 
 

Applications for annexation involving comprehensive plan 
amendments submitted by property owners shall be reviewed 
semi-annually in April and October by the planning commission 
with a recommendation to the council. The city council, planning 
commission, or community development director may also 
initiate plan amendments. Such initiations are made without 
prejudice towards the outcome. 

 
COMMENT: 
 
The applicant is not requesting a Comprehensive Plan Amendment.  Therefore, this section does not 
apply. 
 
 Section 4.10.170: Zoning. 

 
Upon annexation, the zoning of annexed property shall be 
compatible with the comprehensive plan designation as 
provided on the annexation zoning matrix. Zoning other than 
that shown on the matrix requires approval of a comprehensive 
plan map amendment and/or a zoning map amendment.  

 
COMMENT: 
 
With approval of the proposed annexation, the property will be zoned GC (General Commercial), 
consistent with the existing Commercial Comprehensive Plan Map designation.  As discussed above, 
existing and planned uses on the site are permitted in the GC zone. 
 
 
B. SILVERTON COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
 
URBANIZATION ELEMENT 
 



August 10, 2023                                                         Railway Investments Annexation          Page 18      

 Residential Development 
  
  Policy 7: Orderly Growth 
 

Orderly growth within the residentially designated land between the 
city limits and the urban growth boundary will be encouraged by 
discouraging partitions that impede redevelopment at urban densities at 
a later date. 

 
COMMENT: 
 
The overall goal of the Urbanization Element of the Comprehensive Plan is to provide an adequate 
supply of buildable residential, commercial, and industrial land within the City’s UGB in accordance with 
state law.  Once annexed, the subject site will be located within the General Commercial District, which 
supports commercial use, light-industrial activities, and job creation.  Per the attached Concept Plan, the 
site can be fully developed with the addition of a 6,000 sq. ft. warehouse after the parcel is annexed and 
city services are available.  Since future development will increase job opportunities, and the property is 
in close proximity to residential uses in the West-Side Gateway neighborhood, the proposed annexation 
will promote orderly growth.  As such, adding this property to the city limits helps further the 
Urbanization Element of the Comprehensive Plan.  
 
 Industrial Development  
 
  Policy 19: Preservation of Industrial Lands 
 

Land designated for industrial use shall be preserved for that use 
unless the size shape, topography, adjacent uses, or other factors limit 
the reasonable industrial use of the property. 

 
COMMENT: 
 
The attached Existing Conditions Plan indicates that the subject site is currently developed with a 9,035 
sq. ft. warehouse structure with an associated asphalt storage yard and parking area.  The attached 
Concept Plan indicates that following the proposed annexation, the applicant intends to develop an 
additional 6,000 sq. ft. warehouse structure in the southwest corner of the site for manufacturing and 
production use.  The adopted West-Side Land Use and Transportation Plan indicates that that general 
commercial, business park, and light-industrial activities are appropriate uses in the West Silverton 
Employment Area.  Following the annexation, when the site is automatically zoned GC, manufacturing 
and production within a fully enclosed structure will be a permitted use in the zone.  Therefore, the 
proposed annexation and intended use of the site is consistent with the above policy. 
 
 Urbanization 
 
  Policy 23: Annexation Criteria 
 
COMMENT: 
 
The annexation criteria of this section have been addressed under the applicant’s response to Sections 
4.10.140(C)-(H) of the Silverton Development Code. 



August 10, 2023                                                         Railway Investments Annexation          Page 19      

 
  Policy 24: Zoning of Newly Annexed Areas 
 

The City of Silverton will assign zones to the newly annexed areas 
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan designation.  In cases where a 
Comprehensive Plan map not exist the Council may consider a 
designation which takes into account the need for housing, level of 
services as well as the need for other uses. 

 
COMMENT: 
 
The subject site is currently designated Commercial on the Silverton Comprehensive Plan Map.  With 
approval of this Annexation application, the subject property will be automatically zoned GC on the 
Silverton Zoning Map.  As discussed above, the property is currently served with public transportation 
and utility services meeting City standards.   
 
 
AGRICULTURAL LANDS ELEMENT 
 
  Policy 2: Work with Marion County to ensure orderly growth and redevelopment 

in the rural residential areas between the city limits and the urban 
growth boundary.  Do not permit subdivisions and partitions that would 
make redevelopment at urban density economically unfeasible at a later 
date.  Consider proposals for land division only if plans for efficient 
Redivision of the land at a later date area also presented.  Review the 
redevelopment plans for location of structures before issuing building 
permits.  Encourage Marion County to zone these areas for 5-acre 
minimum lots.  This minimum lot size should be reconsidered after 
Silverton has developed master sewer and water plans for the area 
within the urban growth boundary. 

 
COMMENT: 
 
The subject site, which is located within Silverton’s Urban Growth Area, is not utilized for agricultural 
purposes and is currently zoned Industrial/Commercial by Marion County.  Therefore, the proposed 
annexation and automatic General Commercial zone designation is consistent with the Agricultural 
Lands Element. 
 
 
OPEN SPACE, NATURAL AND CULTURAL RESOURCES ELEMENT 
 

Policy 1: Preserve agricultural land uses within the urban growth boundary until 
the public facilities and services needed for urban development are 
available. 

 
 
 
 
 



August 10, 2023                                                         Railway Investments Annexation          Page 20      

COMMENT: 
 
The overall goal of this element is to preserve and conserve open space, natural and cultural resources.  
The Silverton Comprehensive Plan does not identify or designate any portion of the subject site as open 
space, or as significant scenic, historic or natural resource areas.  In addition, the property is not utilized 
for agricultural purposes.  Therefore, the proposed annexation complies with the above policy.   
 

Policy 2: Preserve needed open space through: public acquisition as funds permit, 
development and maintenance of parkland and school grounds, 
setbacks, and limits on development in natural hazard areas. 

 
COMMENT: 
 
The attached Existing Conditions Plan demonstrates that there are no open space areas on the subject 
site.  Therefore, the proposed annexation will meet the objectives of this policy.   
 
 
AIR, WATER, AND LAND RESOURCES ELEMENT 
 

Policy 1: The City will do what is necessary to improve the water and sewerage 
treatment systems to meet state and federal standards as finances 
permit. 

 
COMMENT: 
 
The overall goal of this element is to maintain and improve the quality of air, water and land resources.  
When the subject property is annexed, connections to City sanitary sewer and water facilities will be 
required for the existing warehouse structure.  When an additional warehouse structure is developed in 
the southwest corner of the site following annexation, the proportional cost of expanding City services 
will be borne by the developer.  Water System and Sanitary Sewer SDCs will be collected when building 
permits are issued for the development.  Therefore, the proposed Annexation and future development 
will help further the objectives of this policy. 
 
 
NATURAL HAZARDS ELEMENT 
 

Policy 1: The City will prevent development in the areas of natural hazard unless    
 special design features adequately insure the safety and protection of 

life and property. 
 
COMMENT: 
 
The overall goal of the Natural Hazards Element is to protect life and property from natural disasters and 
hazards.  The attached Existing Conditions Plan demonstrates that there are no floodplains or steeply 
sloped areas on the subject site.  Therefore, the proposed will meet the goal of this element and the 
objectives of this policy.   
 
 
HOUSING ELEMENT 



August 10, 2023                                                         Railway Investments Annexation          Page 21      

 
  Policy 4: Encourage planned unit development, mixed use housing, and mixed 

housing with commercial uses as a means for broadening housing 
choices and creating sustainable neighborhoods. 

 
COMMENT: 
 
The overall goal of the Housing Element is to meet the projected housing needs of citizens in the 
Silverton area.  The above policy encourages locating housing near commercial uses.  As mentioned 
previously, additional job opportunities will be provided with the annexation since the applicant is 
planning to develop an additional warehouse structure on the site for manufacturing and production. 
Since the subject property is conveniently located near residential uses to the south of the site, a more 
sustainable neighborhood can be developed in the West-Side Area.  
   
 
ECONOMY ELEMENT 
 
  Policy 1: Provide land for light industrial development in an industrial park 

setting. 
 
COMMENT: 
 
The overall goal of the Economy Element is focused on the diversification and improvement of the local 
economy.  Based on community discussions about the aesthetics of the West-Side, as well as an analysis 
of residential verses industrial land use needs, the West-Side Land Use and Transportation Plan indicates 
that light-industrial and business park uses are desired for the area.  With the automatic rezoning of the 
property to GC, light industrial uses such as manufacturing and production will be permitted within fully 
enclosed buildings, consistent with the area plan.   
 
The attached Existing Conditions Plan indicates that the subject site is currently developed with a 9,035 
sq. ft. warehouse structure with an associated asphalt storage yard and parking area.  The building 
contains Kaufman Mason, which is operated by the applicant and property owner, Railway Investments 
LLC.  The attached Concept Plan indicates that following the proposed annexation, the applicant intends 
to develop an additional 6,000 sq. ft. warehouse structure in the southwest corner of the site for 
manufacturing and production use.  As such, the proposed Annexation will meet the goal of this 
Economic Element and the objectives of this policy.   
 
 
TRANSPORTATION ELEMENT 
 
  D. Street System 
 
   Policy 1: New street improvements shall be consistent with the general 

location, functional classification, and typical cross-sections (street 
standards) as set forth in the TSP. 

 
 
 
 



August 10, 2023                                                         Railway Investments Annexation          Page 22      

COMMENT: 
 
As demonstrated by the attached Existing Conditions Plan, the subject property is located adjacent to 
Railway Avenue NE.  When public facilities for Phase I of the West-Side Gateway project were 
constructed, additional right-of-way was dedicated along the road frontage.  The West-Side Gateway 
improvements included increasing the street pavement width to 30-ft., providing storm system 
improvements, and installing a curb and 5-ft. sidewalk along the street frontage.  Therefore, the site’s 
road frontage currently complies with Local Street standards, consistent with the goal of this element 
and the objectives of this policy.   
 
    Policy 5: In recognition that the entry points into the community along 

North First Street, Silverton Road, Oak Street, Pine Street, and 
South Water Street, will be some of the most heavily traveled 
routes into the community by tourists, the City of Silverton will 
develop strategies for “gateway” improvements. 

 
COMMENT: 
 
The community gateway on Silverton Road was studied during the development of the West-Side Land 
Use and Transportation Plan.  As discussed above, gateway improvements with Phase I of the West-Side 
Gateway project included the installation of street improvements along the site’s Railway Avenue 
frontage.   
 
  F. Pedestrian System 
 
    Policy 2: All new developments shall provide a sidewalk with curbs and 

gutters and storm drainage facility along the frontage of any 
arterial, collector, or residential street.  Any requirement for off-
street improvements shall be based on a rough proportionality of 
the impact of the new development. 

 
COMMENT: 
 
As demonstrated by the attached Existing Conditions Plan, a sidewalk and curb were previously installed 
along the Railway Avenue frontage in accordance with City standards (see Exhibit 3).  
 
 
ENERGY ELEMENT 
 
  Policy 4: “Strip” commercial and residential “sprawl” will be discouraged to 

reduce the number and length of automobile trips.  “Mixed use” areas 
that combine residential uses with neighborhood commercial activities 
will be encouraged as an alternative. 

 
 
 
 
 
 



August 10, 2023                                                         Railway Investments Annexation          Page 23      

COMMENT: 
 
The subject property is currently located adjacent to a commercial use to the west and south, and 
institutional use to the east of the site. To the southwest is the West-Side Gateway project, which 
includes single-family and multi-family housing.  The overall goal of the Energy Element is to conserve 
and reuse energy resources.  When the site is annexed, the applicant intends to develop another 
warehouse structure on the site for light industrial manufacturing and production.  Therefore, the 
annexation will help further the goal to establish and support the development of a mixed use area that 
provides convenient access for pedestrians and bicyclists, and discourage the number and length of 
automobile trips.   
 
  Policy 5: As need is shown and as funds become available the City will encourage 

establishment of a bike and pedestrian path system that connects 
residential areas with employment centers. 

 
COMMENT: 
 
As mentioned previously, Phase I of the West-Side Gateway project included the installation of a 
sidewalk and the widening of Railway Avenue.  Therefore, there is an existing continuous pedestrian and 
bicycle connection between the residential neighborhood to the southwest of the site, and also to the 
commercial uses to east of the site (see Exhibit 3). 
 
 
PUBLIC FACILITIES AND SERVICES ELEMENT 
 
COMMENT: 
 
The overall goal of the Public Facilities and Services Elements of the Comprehensive Plan is to provide 
orderly and efficient public facilities and services to meet the needs of Silverton residents.  The attached 
Existing Conditions Plan indicates that access to the site is currently provided from Railway Avenue NE, 
which was recently upgraded to meet Local Street standards.  Following the proposed annexation, 
connection to the existing sanitary sewer and water main lines within Railway Avenue will be provided 
for the existing warehouse structure.  Stormwater will continue to be managed by collecting drainage 
from impervious surfaces and discharging it into the public drainageway along the north side of Railway 
Avenue.  Therefore, the proposed annexation will meet the goal of the Public Facilities and Services 
Element.  
 
 
CITIZEN INVOLVEMENT ELEMENT 
 
COMMENT: 
 
The goal of the Citizen Involvement Element is to ensure that residents in the planning area have an 
opportunity to be involved in all phases of the planning process.  As required, the proposed Annexation 
application will follow the City’s Type IV review procedure, in accordance with this element. 
 
 
 
C. STATEWIDE PLANNING GOALS 



August 10, 2023                                                         Railway Investments Annexation          Page 24      

 
GOAL 1:  CITIZEN INVOLVEMENT 
 
 Summary:    Goal 1 calls for "the opportunity for citizens to be involved in all phases of the 

planning process."  
 
COMMENT: 
 
As mentioned throughout this Applicant’s Statement, a series of interactive community workshops were 
initiated by the City of Silverton to develop a vision for Silverton’s West-Side Area.  The project was 
guided by a Project Advisory Committee comprised of local property owners and residents, business 
owners, local organizations, government agencies, and elected officials.  As a result of this effort, an 
urban design framework and transportation plan strategies were identified to ensure that future 
development was consistent with the community’s vision.  On June 3, 2013, the Silverton City Council 
adopted the West-Side Land Use and Transportation Plan as a supporting document to the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan.  The subject site is included in the West-Side Area, and is designated Commercial 
on the Silverton Comprehensive Plan Map. 
 
The submitted Annexation application will follow the City’s Type IV review procedure.  With public 
hearings held before the Planning Commission and City Council, the submitted land use application will 
satisfy the Citizen Involvement Statewide Planning Goal.  Notice of the public hearings will be posted in 
accordance with the City’s Type IV review procedure. As a result, the proposed annexation allows 
citizens to be involved in all phases of the planning process. 
 
 
GOAL 2: LAND USE PLANNING  
 

Summary:    Goal 2 outlines the basic procedures of Oregon's statewide planning program. 
It says that land use decisions are to be made in accordance with a 
comprehensive plan, and that suitable "implementation ordinances" to put 
the plan's policies into effect must be adopted. It requires that plans be based 
on "factual information"; that local plans and ordinances be coordinated with 
those of other jurisdictions and agencies; and that plans be reviewed 
periodically and amended as needed.  

 
COMMENT: 
 
The submitted Annexation application is required to follow the City’s Type IV review procedure.  Public 
hearings will be held to allow an un-biased decision-making body to evaluate factual information and 
determine whether the application meets the City’s clear and objective land use review criteria.  This 
Applicant’s Statement addresses how the submitted application meets all of the applicable review 
criteria. 
 
In 2013, after a detailed evaluation of community preferences and land use needs, the West-Side Land 
Use and Transportation Plan was adopted as a supporting document to the Comprehensive Plan.  The 
proposed annexation and the low-impact light industrial use for the subject site is consistent with this 
plan.  Therefore, the proposal satisfies the Land Use Planning Goal.  
 
 



August 10, 2023                                                         Railway Investments Annexation          Page 25      

GOAL 3: AGRICULTURAL LANDS 
 
 Summary:    Goal 3 defines "agricultural lands." It then requires counties to inventory such 

lands and to "preserve and maintain" them through farm zoning. 
 
COMMENT: 
 
As mentioned previously, the subject site is currently under Marion County jurisdiction and is zoned 
Industrial/Commercial.  Therefore, the County has not inventoried the subject property as agricultural 
land and is not preserving the site through farm zoning.   As a result, the proposed annexation is 
consistent with the Agricultural Lands Planning Goal. 
 
 
GOAL 4: FOREST LANDS  
 
 Summary:    This goal defines forest lands and requires counties to inventory them and 

adopt policies and ordinances that will "conserve forest lands for forest uses." 
 
COMMENT: 
 
The subject site is currently zoned IC by Marion County.  Since the property does not include designated 
forest lands, the proposed use will not impact this Statewide Planning Goal.   
 
 
GOAL 5:  OPEN SPACES, SCENIC AND HISTORIC AREAS AND NATURAL RESOURCES  
 

Summary:    Goal 5 covers more than a dozen natural and cultural resources such as 
wildlife habitats and wetlands. It establishes a process for each resource to be 
inventoried and evaluated. If a resource or site is found to be significant, a 
local government has three policy choices: preserve the resource, allow 
proposed uses that conflict with it, or strike some sort of a balance between 
the resource and the uses that would conflict with it. 

 
COMMENT: 
 
The subject site is currently developed for light industrial and commercial uses.  Per City and County 
maps, the site does not contain designated open spaces, or significant natural or cultural resources.  
Therefore, the proposed annexation and use of the site complies with the objectives of this Statewide 
Planning Goal.  
 
 
GOAL 6: AIR, WATER AND LAND RESOURCES QUALITY  
 
 Summary:    This goal requires local comprehensive plans and implementing measures to 

be consistent with state and federal regulations on matters such as 
groundwater pollution. 

 
 
 



August 10, 2023                                                         Railway Investments Annexation          Page 26      

COMMENT: 
 
Following the proposed annexation, public water and sanitary sewer services will be extended to the 
existing warehouse structure on the subject property.  City utility services will also be extended to the 
future warehouse building in the southwest corner of the site.   As required, stormwater management 
will occur in accordance with City standards.  As such, the proposed annexation complies with this 
Statewide Planning Goal. 
 
 
GOAL 7: AREAS SUBJECT TO NATURAL DISASTERS AND HAZARDS 
 
 Summary:    Goal 7 deals with development in places subject to natural hazards such as 

floods or landslides. It requires that jurisdictions apply "appropriate 
safeguards" (floodplain zoning, for example) when planning for development 
there. 

 
COMMENT: 
 
The City of Silverton maintains maps of steeply sloped areas and floodplains within the City’s Urban 
Growth Boundary area.  The attached Existing Conditions Plan demonstrates that there are no 
floodplains or steeply sloped areas on the subject site.  Therefore, the proposed annexation complies 
with City safeguards to prevent new development in areas which are subject to natural disasters and 
hazards.  
 
 
GOAL 8: RECREATION NEEDS  
 
 Summary:    This goal calls for each community to evaluate its areas and facilities for 

recreation and develop plans to deal with the projected demand for them. It 
also sets forth detailed standards for expedited siting of destination resorts. 

 
COMMENT: 
 
The subject site is designated Commercial on the City Comprehensive Plan Map.  There are no identified 
or designated open spaces, or significant scenic, historic, or natural resources or recreation areas on the 
property.  Therefore, the current use and future development on the site will not impact the Recreation 
Needs Goal.   
 
 
GOAL 9: ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
 
 Summary:    Goal 9 calls for diversification and improvement of the economy. It asks 

communities to inventory commercial and industrial lands, project future 
needs for such lands, and plan and zone enough land to meet those needs. 

 
 
 
 
 



August 10, 2023                                                         Railway Investments Annexation          Page 27      

COMMENT: 
 
With the proposed annexation, the subject property will be automatically zoned General Commercial, 
consistent with the designation in the West-Side Land Use and Transportation Plan.  This area plan was 
adopted by the City in 2013 as a supporting document to the Comprehensive Plan.  The subject site was 
included in the “West Silverton Employment Area”, with a focus on job growth in commercial and light-
industrial business sectors.  Therefore, with the planned development of an additional warehouse 
structure for manufacturing and production on the site, the proposed annexation will help diversify the 
local economy, and will help provide additional developable land for commercial and light industrial 
uses. 
 
 
GOAL 10: HOUSING  
 
 Summary:    This goal specifies that each city must plan for and accommodate needed 

housing types, such as multifamily and manufactured housing. It requires each 
city to inventory its buildable residential lands, project future needs for such 
lands, and plan and zone enough buildable land to meet those needs. It also 
prohibits local plans from discriminating against needed housing types. 

 
COMMENT: 
 
The applicant’s proposal to annex the site and develop another warehouse will provide additional job 
opportunities for nearby residential neighborhoods.  As such, the proposal helps support Housing 
Planning Goal.  
 
 
GOAL 11: PUBLIC FACILITIES AND SERVICES  
 
 Summary:    Goal 11 calls for efficient planning of public services such as sewers, water, law 

enforcement, and fire protection. The goal's central concept is that public 
services should be planned in accordance with a community's needs and 
capacities rather than be forced to respond to development as it occurs. 

 
COMMENT: 
 
The Existing Conditions Plan demonstrates that adequate public services are in place to serve the 
subject property.  When the Fire District extended the sanitary sewer main in Railway Avenue and 
connected to City service in 2019, a sewer lateral was installed and capped for the subject site.  The 
attached Existing Conditions Plan indicates that public water can be provided by connecting to the main 
on the north side of Railway Avenue.  Stormwater will continue to be managed by collecting stormwater 
on the site and discharging it into the public drainageway on the north side of Railway Avenue.  Since 
the subject property is included in Silverton’s Water, Sanitary Sewer, and Stormwater Master Plan 
planning areas, the recently upgraded public facilities were sized to accommodate full development of 
the site. 
 
 
GOAL 12: TRANSPORTATION  
 



August 10, 2023                                                         Railway Investments Annexation          Page 28      

 Summary:    The goal aims to provide "a safe, convenient and economic transportation 
system." It asks for communities to address the needs of the "transportation 
disadvantaged." 

 
COMMENT: 
 
As demonstrated by the attached Existing Conditions Plan, the subject property is located adjacent to 
Railway Avenue NE.  When public facilities for Phase I of the West-Side Gateway project were 
constructed, additional right-of-way was dedicated along the road frontage.  The West-Side Gateway 
improvements included increasing the street pavement width to 30-ft., providing storm system 
improvements, and installing a curb and 5-ft. sidewalk along the street frontage.  Therefore, the site’s 
road frontage currently complies with Local Street standard.  These facilities provide a safe route 
between the residential neighborhood to the southwest of the site and existing commercial uses to the 
east of the subject property.  As such, existing transportation facilities in the vicinity of the site meet the 
Transportation Statewide Planning Goal.   
 
 
GOAL 13: ENERGY  
 
 Summary:    Goal 13 declares that "land and uses developed on the land shall be managed 

and controlled so as to maximize the conservation of all forms of energy, 
based upon sound economic principles." 

 
COMMENT: 
 
The proposed annexation will encourage energy conservation by fully developing the subject property 
with light industrial uses which are conveniently located within bicycling and walking distance of the 
West-Side Gateway residential neighborhood to the southwest of the site.  Energy conservation will also 
be encouraged through building code compliance when an additional warehouse is developed on the 
site.  Therefore, the proposed annexation is consistent with the Energy Planning Goal. 
 
 
GOAL 14: URBANIZATION  
 

Summary:    This goal requires cities to estimate future growth and needs for land and then 
plan and zone enough land to meet those needs. It calls for each city to 
establish an "urban growth boundary" (UGB) to "identify and separate 
urbanizable land from rural land."  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



August 10, 2023                                                         Railway Investments Annexation          Page 29      

COMMENT: 
 
To address commercial and industrial land needs, the City directed the preparation of an Economic 
Opportunity Analysis in 2011.  This plan was used to designate an adequate supply of Commercial land 
on the Comprehensive Plan Map.  The adopted 2013 West-Side Land Use and Transportation Plan also 
designated the subject site within West Silverton Employment Area and encouraged the development of 
a business park and low-impact industrial uses.  The subject site is currently zoned 
Industrial/Commercial by Marion County within this Employment Area, and the property is not currently 
utilized for rural or agricultural purposes.  Upon annexation, the site will be automatically zoned General 
Commercial and may be fully developed for commercial and light industrial uses. Therefore, the 
proposed annexation separates urbanizable land from rural land, and is consistent with the Urbanization 
Planning Goal.  
 
 
 
 
V. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS 
 
Based upon the findings of this Applicant’s Statement and submitted exhibits, the applicant has 
demonstrated compliance with relevant sections of the Silverton Development Code, Statewide 
Planning Goals, and Silverton Comprehensive Plan.  Therefore, the applicant requests that the submitted 
application be approved. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 

PRELIMINARY PLANS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT 3 











AN-23-01  

ATTACHMENT C:  STAFF REPORT, AN-23-01 

 
FINDINGS OF FACT 
 

A. Background Information:   

 

1. The applicant submitted an application on September 12, 2023 requesting annexation of 

a 1.48 acre parcel of land that is outside the City Limits. 

 

2. Notice was mailed to all property owners within 700 feet of the subject area on October 

25, 2023.  As of this writing, November 7, 2023, no written testimony has been 

received.  The notice was published in the Statesman Journal on November 1, 2023.  

The site posted on November 2, 2023. 

 

3. This annexation will allow the property to connect to the City Sewer and Water system. 

 

4. The annexation was reviewed by the Silverton Planning Commission on November 14, 

2023 and recommend the City Council approve the application.  

 

 

B. Silverton Development Code (SDC): 

 

1. Article 4 – Administration of Land Use and Development 

 
Section 4.1.500  Type IV Procedure 

 

A minimum of two hearings, one before the Planning Commission and one before the City 

Council, are required for all Type IV applications  
 

Findings:  This application is being reviewed through a Type IV procedure.  The applicant 

submitted an application on September 12, 2023, meeting Criterion A.  A public notice for 

this request was mailed to all property owners within 700 feet of the site on October 25, 

2023.  The notice was published in the Statesman Journal on November 1, 2023.  The site 

posted on November 2, 2023.  The application was reviewed by the Planning Commission 

November 14, 2023 and will be before the City Council December 4, 2023. 

 
Section 4.10.140  Review Criteria – Annexation  

 

When reviewing a proposed annexation of land, the Planning Commission and City 

Council will consider the following standards and criteria:  
 

1. Adequacy of access to the site; and 
 

Findings:  The site currently has driveway access off Railway Ave NE which is classified 

as a local roadway under Marion County jurisdiction.  Criterion 1 is met. 
 

2. Conformity of the proposal with the City’s Comprehensive Plan; and; 
 

Findings:  The parcel to be annexed is located within the UGB and is not located in the 

Area of Special Mutual Concern.  This annexation request is for the existing building and 



AN-23-01  

the future 6,000 square foot building on the property to acquire city water and sewer 

services.  The zoning of the site is Industrial Commercial and will be zoned General 

Commercial.   

 

Unless mandated by state law, annexation, delayed annexations, and/or extension of city 

services may only be approved by a majority vote among the electorate.  On March 15, 

2016, the State enacted SB 1573 that states that the legislative body of a city shall annex a 

territory petitioning annexation without submitting the proposal to the electors of the city if 

the territory is within the Urban Growth Boundary (UGB), the territory upon annexation 

will be subject to the acknowledged comprehensive plan, the territory is contiguous to the 

city limits and the proposal conforms to all other requirements of the city’s ordinances.  

The territory is within the UGB, is contiguous to the city limits and would be subject to the 

Comprehensive Plan upon annexation.  This staff report will review the proposal for 

conformity with all other requirements of the city’s ordinances.  Criterion 2 is met. 

 
3. Adequate public facilities, services, and transportation networks are in place or are 

planned to be provided concurrently with the development of the property. If extensions 

or upgrading of any improvement is necessary to serve the area, such extension must 

be consistent with the city’s infrastructure plans and must be an orderly and efficient 

arrangement for the extension of public services; and 
 

Findings:  The property is requesting annexation in order to obtain City water and sewer 

service.  The water and sewer systems are already in place and are available to the site.  

The applicant will have to pay Water and Wastewater System Development Charges as 

connecting to the water and sewer system increases the usage of a capital improvement.  

Criterion 3 is met.  
 

4. The new area will meet city standards for any public improvements which may be 

necessary to serve the area (including but not limited to streets, including sidewalks, 

sanitary sewer, water, storm drainage); and 
 

 

Findings:   Recent road and frontage improvements were completed by the West-Side 

Gateway development, bringing them up to current standards.    Water and sewer mains are 

available at Railway Avenue NE.  The applicant will continue to manage stormwater 

collection on site and discharge into the public drainageway on the north side of Railway 

Avenue. 

 

The proposed annexation will not change the existing use of the transportation facilities and 

public facilities are adequate to serve the areas being annexed, therefore Criterion 4 is met. 

 
5. The area to be annexed is contiguous to the city and represents a logical direction for 

city expansion; and 
 

Findings:  The area is contiguous to the City.  Considering the area is contiguous to the 

city limits and the parcel is being annexed to obtain city water and sewer services and city 

water and sanitary sewer services fronts the site, the annexation represents a logical 

direction for city expansion, meeting Criterion 5. 

 
6. The area is within the urban growth boundary, unless a health hazard due to failing 

septic systems or groundwater supplies is found to exist; and 
 



AN-23-01  

Findings:  The area considered for annexation is inside the Urban Growth Boundary, 

therefore the criterion is met. 

 
7. The proposed use of the property is consistent with the applicable comprehensive plan 

designation; and 
 

Findings:  The proposed area for annexation is identified on the comprehensive plan map 

as Commercial and will be zoned General Commercial once annexed thereby meeting 

Criterion 7. 

 
8.  The proposed annexation shall be consistent with all applicable goals and policies of 

the Silverton Comprehensive Plan; and 
 

Findings:  The proposed annexation has been reviewed for conformity with the city’s 

comprehensive plan earlier in the report.  The use of the site will not increase beyond its 

commercial use in conformance with the Comprehensive Plan, thereby meeting Criterion 8. 

 
9. Shall be in compliance with applicable sections of ORS Chapter 222; and 

 

Findings:  ORS 222 provides for a means of annexation by election or by action of the 

governing body.  However, as noted above the City is no longer allowed to submit 

proposals for annexation to the electors of the city for their approval or rejection.   

 

The proposal is following the Type IV procedure, consistent with ORS 222 for annexation 

procedures. 

 

This application has been found to be in compliance with the applicable sections of ORS 

Chapter 222 and will follow all applicable state and local procedures.  Therefore, this 

criterion has been met. 

 
10. Natural hazards identified by the City, such as wetlands, floodplains and steep slopes 

have been addressed; and 
 

Findings:  There are no areas within the annexation boundary that are identified as 

wetlands, floodplains, or steep slopes, therefore the criterion is met. 

 
11. Urbanization of the subject property shall not have a significant adverse effect on 

areas identified or designated in the Comprehensive Plan as open space or as 

significant scenic, historic or natural resource areas; and 
 

Findings:  There are no areas on the site identified or designated in the Comprehensive 

Plan as open space or as significant scenic, historic or natural resource areas.  The criterion 

is met.  

 
12. Economic impacts which are likely to result from the annexation shall be evaluated in 

light of the social and physical impacts. The overall impact which is likely to result 

from the annexation and development shall not have a significant adverse effect on the 

economic, social and physical environment of the community, as a whole. 
 

Findings:  The annexation will have minimal physical and environmental impacts on the 

community.  A 6,000 square foot manufacturing building will be built, and the applicant 



AN-23-01  

will be required to connect the new and existing building to water and sewer services and 

pay the System Development Charges for the impact to the system.  The criterion is met.   

 

13. If the proposed area for annexation is to be residentially zoned, there must be 

less than a five-year supply of vacant and redevelopable land in terms of 

dwelling units per acre within the current city limits. “Redevelopable land” 

means land zoned for residential use on which development has already 

occurred but on which, due to present or expected market forces, there exists 

the likelihood that existing development will be converted to more intensive 

residential uses during the planning period. The five-year supply shall be 

determined from vacant and redevelopable land inventories and by the 

methodology for land need projections from the housing element of the 

comprehensive plan. If there is more than a five-year supply but less than an 

eight-year supply, the city may consider additional factors, such as the 

likelihood of vacant parcels being developed in the near future, to determine if 

the public good would be served by the annexation. Properties proposed for 

annexation that have a current or probable public health hazard due to lack of 

full city water or sanitary sewer may be exempt from this criterion; and 
  

Findings:  The property is proposed to be zoned General Commercial, therefore the 

criterion does not apply. 

 

14. Promotes the timely, orderly and economic provision of public facilities and 

services; and 
 

Findings:  The property is requesting annexation to connect to the water and sewer systems.  

Public facilities already exist fronting the site.  This review criterion is subjective in nature 

and the City Council is able to make its own interpretation as to if it is met or not. 

 

15. The annexation is reasonable and that the public interest, present and future, 

will be best served by annexing the property.  
 

Findings:  The annexation will allow a property that fronts existing City utilities to be 

annexed and developed in accordance with Silverton Development Code standards.  This 

review criterion is subjective in nature and the City Council is able to make its own 

interpretation as to if it is met or not. 

 

III.  SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION 

 

Findings have been made for all of the applicable Code sections.  The proposed annexation 

may meet applicable Silverton Development Code Review Criteria and Standards.   

 

The Planning Commission held a public hearing to evaluate the proposed annexation and 

recommends the City Council approve the application.   

 

Once the City Council receives Planning Commission’s recommendation on the annexation, the 

Council will review the findings and the recommendation in a public hearing.   

 

Staff and the Planning Commission finds the application, as presented, meets or can meet the 

applicable City codes and requirements. 



AN-23-01  

 

City Council Options: 

 

The City Council shall: 

 

a.  Approve, approve with modifications, approve with conditions, deny, or adopt an alternative 

to the application, or remand the application to the planning commission for rehearing and 

reconsideration on all or part of the application; 

 

b.  Consider the recommendation of the planning commission; however, the city council is not 

bound by the commission’s recommendation; and 

 

c.  Act by ordinance, which shall be signed by the mayor after the council’s adoption of the 

ordinance. 

 

 



AN-23-01  

ATTACHMENT D:  TESTIMONY 
 

 

None received.  

 



 

November 14, 2023, City of Silverton Planning Commission Regular Meeting  Page 1 of 14 

CITY OF SILVERTON 1 
PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES 2 

7:00 P.M.                   November 14, 2023                                                                                                                                                          3 
The Planning Commission of the City of Silverton, met in person at the Silverton High School 4 
Library, located at 1456 Pine Street with a Teleconference option through the virtual meeting 5 
platform, Zoom on November 14, 2023 at 7:02 p.m. with Madam Vice-Chair Kaser presiding. 6 
 7 

I. I. PLANNING COMMISSION ROLL CALL: 8 
 9 

Present 
 

 Absent 
 

  

  X  Chairman Clay Flowers 
X    Madam Vice-Chair Cara Kaser  
  X  David Castle 

X    Peter Matzka 
X    Rich Piaskowski 
X    Morry Jones  
X    Randell Walling 

 10 
STAFF PRESENT:   11 
Community Development Director, Jason Gottgetreu, Associate Planner Shauna Godlevsky, 12 
Planning and Permit Assistant, Cleone Cantu.   13 
 14 
II. MINUTES: None. 15 
 16 
 17 
III. BUSINESS FROM THE FLOOR: None.  18 
 19 
IV.     AGENDA:  20 
  21 
 22 
4.1 File Number AN-23-01. Annexation application to annex 827 Railway Avenue NE into the City 23 
Limits and zone the property GC, General Commercial. The total area of the annexation request is 24 
1.48 acres. The purpose of the annexation is to allow the existing building to be able to connect to 25 
the City sewer and water system. The application will be reviewed per Silverton Development Code 26 
sections 4.10.140.  27 
 28 
 29 
4.2 File Number ZC-23-01. Zone Change Application to change the zoning of 602 Eureka Avenue 30 
from R-1, Single Family Residential to R-5, Low Density Residential. The site is 5.15 acres in area 31 
and is currently vacant. The application will be reviewed per Silverton Development Code sections 32 
4.7.300. 33 
 34 
 35 
 36 
4.1 File Number AN-23-01. Annexation application to annex 827 Railway Avenue NE into the City 37 
Limits and zone the property GC, General Commercial. The total area of the annexation request is 38 
1.48 acres. The purpose of the annexation is to allow the existing building to be able to connect to 39 



 

November 14, 2023, City of Silverton Planning Commission Regular Meeting  Page 2 of 14 

the City sewer and water system. The application will be reviewed per Silverton Development Code 1 
sections 4.10.140.  2 
 3 
Madam Vice-Chair Kaser reviewed the Public Hearing procedures for a formal Quasi-judicial 4 
meeting and opened the public hearing at 7:04pm.  5 
 6 
No Commissioners abstained, claimed conflict of interest, or declared ex parte contact for the 7 
application before them. No member of the audience wished to challenge the jurisdiction of the 8 
Planning Commission to hear the matter at hand. No member of the audience wished to 9 
challenge the Planning Commission for bias, or conflict of interest.  10 
 11 
Director Gottgetreu presented the annexation application to annex 827 Railway Avenue NE into the 12 
City Limits and zone the property GC, General Commercial. The property is near an acre and a half and 13 
the annexation would allow the existing building and potential future buildings to connect to City water 14 
and sewer. The subject property is currently surrounded by the City limits on all sides classifying the 15 
location in the unannexed enclave. The site is currently developed for a manufacturing and production 16 
use, and a masonry business is on site. Director Gottgetreu referred to the City’s Comprehensive Plan and 17 
provided the current zoning of the site and adjacent sites in the area; with this the annexation was a 18 
logical allowance. The public facilities, transportation network, and utilities were then provided. Director 19 
Gottgetreu outlined the historical use of the property which created consistency if the property were to be 20 
annexed. The urbanization of the subject property was iterated along with potential economic impacts. 21 
The applicant had submitted a conceptual site plan of the property providing potential expansion, a visual 22 
example was provided.  23 
 24 
Director Gottgetreu opened the floor for questions.  25 
   26 
Commissioner Piaskowski inquired about utility capacity versus current utilization.  27 
 28 
Director Gottgetreu provided the process for the current sewer and water lines on the property.  29 
 30 
Commissioner Matzka inquired about the water quantity use, will there be a higher demand.  31 
 32 
Director Gottgetreu stated generally industrial manufacturing uses are not a high demand on water 33 
systems.  34 
 35 
Commissioner Piaskowski and Director Gottgetreu discussed future application for the site and design 36 
review requirements.  37 
 38 
Commissioner Jones and Director Gottgetreu discussed the zoning for the property.  39 
 40 
Madam Vice Chair Kaser provided the parameters for public testimony.  41 
 42 
Applicant(s) Testimony: 43 
 44 
Steve Kay, applicant representative of Cascadia Planning and Development Services, PO 45 
Box 1920 Silverton, OR 97381.  46 
The applicant stated the property owner currently operates Kaufman Masonry within an existing 47 
warehouse structure near nine thousand square feet. The business is a multi-generational 48 
business and has been a piece of the Silverton community since 1956. Kaufman Masonry 49 



 

November 14, 2023, City of Silverton Planning Commission Regular Meeting  Page 3 of 14 

specializes in fireplace, concrete block, brick, and stone construction. The company has 1 
completed notable public projects around Silverton, including the Veteran Memorial at Town 2 
Square Park, and the mosaic fountain in Coolidge McClaine Park. A portion of the warehouse is 3 
leased to Tiny Mountain Homes, which construct homes in entirety. The subject property is a 4 
small island within Marion County, however parcels to the East, West, and South are all 5 
currently within City limits. Use of the property is currently constrained by the reliance on a well 6 
on the site, and a septic holding tank which needs to be pumped every couple weeks. The 7 
proposed annexation will allow the existing warehouse to connect to City water, and sanitary 8 
sewer services within Railway Avenue. The submitted concept plan illustrated the property has 9 
potential to develop a secondary warehouse would provide additional manufacturing and 10 
production companies in Silverton. Future development would then be subject to City standards 11 
with upgrades to the existing parking lot and landscaping. The applicants have reviewed the staff 12 
report and do not have any concerns; they feel it is a cohesive representation of how the 13 
application meets criteria for approval.  14 
 15 
Steve Kay opened the floor for questions. There were none.  16 
 17 
PROPNENT TESTIMONY: There were no comments. 18 
 19 
OPPONENT TESTIMONY: There were no comments.  20 
 21 
NEUTRAL TESTIMONY: There were no comments. 22 
 23 
STAFF FOLLOW UP: There were no comments.  24 
 25 
REBUTTAL: There were no comments.  26 
 27 
Commissioner Matzka moved to close the Public Hearing, Commissioner Walling seconded the 28 
motion and the hearing was closed by consensus at 7:19pm.  29 
 30 
DISCUSSION: 31 
Commissioner Piaskowski stated they do not have any concerns regarding the application, it 32 
meets the criteria for annexation. Their questions had been answered regarding utility capacity 33 
and can be revisited during design review. Commissioner Piaskowski would vote to approve the 34 
application.  35 
 36 
Commissioner Matzka concurred with Commissioner Piaskowski and stated they do not see any 37 
issues with the application. It made logical sense.  38 
 39 
Commissioner Jones was in favor of the application.  40 
 41 
Madam Vice Chair Kaser stated the application made logical sense as the property was an island 42 
of County jurisdiction in the middle of the City.  43 
 44 
Commissioner Walling motioned to recommend approval of the application to the City Council. 45 
Commissioner Matzka seconded the motion, and it passed unanimously.  46 



 

November 14, 2023, City of Silverton Planning Commission Regular Meeting  Page 4 of 14 

 1 
4.2 File Number ZC-23-01. Zone Change Application to change the zoning of 602 Eureka Avenue 2 
from R-1, Single Family Residential to R-5, Low Density Residential. The site is 5.15 acres in area 3 
and is currently vacant. The application will be reviewed per Silverton Development Code sections 4 
4.7.300. 5 
 6 
No members of the Planning Commission wished to abstain or declare conflict of interest.  7 
 8 
Commissioner Jones declared ex parte contact. They reside near the property and drive by it 9 
every day. They received a phone call from a citizen regarding the application and 10 
Commissioner Jones recommended they attend the meeting. Commissioner Jones stated they are 11 
willing and able to make a decision solely based on evidence.  12 
 13 
No member of the audience wished to challenge the jurisdiction of the Planning Commission to 14 
hear the matter before them. No member of the audience wished to challenge any individual 15 
member of the Planning Commission for bias or conflict of interest.  16 
 17 
Madam Vice-Chair Kaser reviewed the guidelines for public testimony.  18 
 19 
Director Gottgetreu reviewed the zone change application for 602 Eureka Avenue. The 20 
application requested a zone change from R-1, Single Family Residential to R-5, Low Density 21 
Residential. The site is located on the South side of Eureka Avenue and South of Keene avenue, 22 
the property is 5.15 acres and currently vacant. The site underwent a previous land use decision 23 
by the Planning Commission in 2021 and was approved by the City Council for a 21-lot 24 
subdivision under the R-1 zoning district designated single family on the City’s Comprehensive 25 
Plan. The R-5 zone is listed as a compatible zoning district with the single-family residential plan 26 
designation. Density requirements for R-5 zoning are development between five and ten units per 27 
acre; comparatively the R-1 zone requires properties to develop at densities between two and six 28 
units per acre. With this, theoretically, under R-1 zoning, density for the property has potential to 29 
develop between ten and thirty-one units. Per State law House Bill 2001 the property may be 30 
developed to the approved 21-lot subdivision with duplexes resulting in 42 dwellings. Under the 31 
R-5 zoning, the property would have the potential to develop between 26 and 52 dwellings on 32 
the site.  33 
 34 
Director Gottgetreu addressed the Comprehensive Plan from an alternate point, which indicates 35 
multifamily development should be encouraged, especially, but not limited to, areas close to the 36 
central business district, or the walking districts to neighborhood commercial areas, or areas of 37 
mixed-use designation. Additionally multifamily development should be scattered around the 38 
community and not concentrated in any one area, preferably scattered within existing 39 
neighborhoods.  40 
 41 
Director Gottgetreu referred to the City’s Housing Needs Analysis which was adopted as a 42 
support document to the Comprehensive Plan in 2020. The document identified a deficit of 43 
housing for low-income households indicating a need for a wider range of housing types for 44 
renters and homeowners. The Housing Needs Analysis additionally indicated a deficit of land for 45 
three hundred and four multifamily style dwelling units; not necessarily affordable units, but 46 
multifamily style units; over the twenty-year planning period. Since the housing needs analysis 47 



 

November 14, 2023, City of Silverton Planning Commission Regular Meeting  Page 5 of 14 

in 2020, ninety-seven multifamily units have been approved for development.   1 
 2 
Director Gottgetreu presented the maximum traffic impact potential of the development. The 3 
data was gathered from the Institute of Transportation Engineer Trip Generation Manual and 4 
provided PM peak trips with differential between single family occupancy and multifamily 5 
occupancy. R-1 single family occupancy for the site would add 21 PMPHT power trips to the 6 
transportation system, duplexes would add an estimated 42 PMPHT trips to the transportation 7 
system. If the site were developed under the 51-unit multifamily development proposal (with an 8 
assumption of apartments) 31 PMPHT trips would be added to the transportation network; there 9 
is a possibility for flexibility with this assumed amount as R-5 zoning allows for a variety of 10 
uses.  11 
 12 
Director Gottgetreu then displayed a visual example of the previously approved subdivision site 13 
plan and informed the Planning Commission of the available utilities on the site. The differential 14 
between R-1 and R-5 zoning was then provided with development housing options for each 15 
category. Altering the current zoning for the site to R-5 would allow multiple styles of 16 
development. Approval would depend on the development application displaying code 17 
compliance and require additional public process and review. Director Gottgetreu then 18 
summarized the potential density options for the site with comparison of R-1 and R-5 zoning. 19 
They then addressed the drainage for the site as public comment had initiated concern. 20 
Topography maps were displayed to the Planning Commission to illustrate the specifications of 21 
the area along with the development standards for stormwater detention and retention and 22 
potential flood events. Director Gottgetreu then elucidated the applicants previous plan for 23 
stormwater. Public comment had additionally iterated concern for wetlands on the property to 24 
which Director Gottgetreu confirmed the applicant had proposed to protect the wetlands.   25 
 26 
Director Gottgetreu opened the floor for questions.  27 
 28 
Commissioner Walling requested clarification on the drainage for the property.  29 
 30 
Director Gottgetreu and Commissioner Walling discussed the proposed plan for stormwater.  31 
 32 
Commissioner Jones and Director Gottgetreu discussed the water on the site and the possible 33 
water usage if the application were approved and 51-units were developed. Updating the water 34 
treatment plan was then discussed, there is not a current timeline. Commissioner Jones inquired 35 
about density development for the site and if the Master Plan had indicated a need for housing 36 
development in the area. Director Gottgetreu referred to the Housing Needs Analysis and 37 
provided elucidation. Commissioner Jones and Director Gottgetreu then discussed the landscape 38 
conservation standards for the site and the Oregon Garden access easement and water line use. 39 
Pedestrian connectivity for the site was then discussed.  40 
 41 
Commissioner Matzka asked for clarification on the current subdivision approval and the 42 
potential buildable lot/units if the zoning change were allowed.  43 
 44 
Director Gottgetreu outlined the approved lot potential and the possible development under R-5 45 
zoning.  46 



 

November 14, 2023, City of Silverton Planning Commission Regular Meeting  Page 6 of 14 

Commissioner Matzka and Director Gottgetreu discussed design criteria, density, and structure 1 
standards, for R-1 and R-5 zoning.  2 
 3 
Commissioner Piaskowski referenced the wetlands on the property in correlation with drainage 4 
volumes and requested clarification on the proposed drainage location for the site.  5 
 6 
Director Gottgetreu and Commissioner Piaskowski discussed guidelines and process for 7 
development near wetlands. Drainage capacity was then spoken about in relation to R-1 and R-5 8 
zoning. Commissioner Piaskowski mentioned a four hundred- and fifty-year-old Oak tree in the 9 
wetland area. Director Gottgetreu conveyed general sustainability for Oak trees and direction of 10 
drainage on the site.  11 
 12 
The Planning Commission collectively discussed the modification of subsurface water flow on 13 
the site.  14 
 15 
Madam Vice Chair Kaser and Director Gottgetreu discussed the applicant’s capability of 16 
beginning the development process for the current approved application. Discussion was then 17 
had on the zoning approval retainment with the land and the extension process for the application 18 
and the applicants current request for extension.  19 
 20 
Madam Vice Chair Kaser stated per the code the applicant is not obligated to present a 21 
development plan for rezoning consideration.  22 
 23 
Director Gottgetreu elucidated the review criteria for the application.  24 
 25 
Commissioner Piaskowski asked if there were water pressure issues in the adjacent residential 26 
areas; additionally, they inquired about the available utility capacities.  27 
 28 
Commissioner Walling and Director Gottgetreu discussed the current subdivision approval 29 
regarding drainage and the wetlands with the potential of revisiting the topics if a new 30 
development plan were submitted.  31 
 32 
 Commissioner Piaskowski inquired about the design review process and minimum development 33 
densities.  34 
 35 
Commissioner Jones and Director Gottgetreu discussed current developable lots within the City 36 
of Silverton and the housing deficit.  37 
 38 
Madam Vice Chair Kaser asked for clarification on conditioning the application for approval and 39 
the process for encumbrance on the previous approval.   40 
 41 
Commissioner Walling and Madam Vice Chair Kaser discussed the process for disapproval of 42 
the application.  43 
 44 
APPLICANT(S) TESTIMONY:  45 
 46 



 

November 14, 2023, City of Silverton Planning Commission Regular Meeting  Page 7 of 14 

Britney Randall with Brand Land Use, representing the developer and property owner, 1 
1720 Liberty Street SE, Salem Oregon 97302 2 
Britney stated they have reviewed the staff report and concur with the findings. They noted the 3 
applicant prepared and provided a detailed narrative addressing the criteria to uphold the 4 
required burden of proof for the application; specifically highlighting pages nine through twelve. 5 
Britney referenced a subsection of page ninety-three: “the requested designation for the site has 6 
been evaluated against relevant comprehensive plan policies and on balance could be found to 7 
be more supportive of the comprehensive plan as a whole than the current designation” and 8 
stated the staff report did an excellent job of going through and itemizing the housing needs 9 
analysis and how the [proposed zone change] could fill a deficit in the City for alternative 10 
housing types. Under the current subdivision approval generally single-family homes are 11 
developed, after further review the potential for R-5 zoning was considered to fill the void. The 12 
applicant(s) had a pre-application conference with City staff where a presentation was given for 13 
the high [density] designation; with this, the applicants took consideration for feedback from 14 
staff and community input from the previous application. Britney stated the applicant(s) 15 
reevaluated their development plan after review of the Housing Needs Analysis and the City’s 16 
Comprehensive Plan. Future development other than the approved subdivision would be before 17 
the Planning Commission again and be subject to public process and development standards. 18 
Britney addressed the public comment that stated the entire property was wetlands, the applicant 19 
wished to clarify there is a small area on the site designated as wetlands and it would remain and 20 
be protected, any change from the current subdivision approval would be subject to the rules and 21 
regulations of the Department of State Lands. Britney then went over the minimum density for 22 
the site. They addressed concern over utility capacities and stated the development would be 23 
connected to City services. The applicant had minimal focus on presenting a development design 24 
as there had not been a decision made; future development design will be to City standards.  25 
 26 
The floor was opened for questions.   27 
 28 
Commissioner Matzka and Britney clarified the minimum density for the site currently is ten 29 
units.  30 
 31 
Commissioner Piaskowski asked if the applicant is potentially moving forward with the current 32 
approved lot layout.  33 
 34 
Britney stated the 21-lot subdivision would meet the criteria for R-5 zoning, should the 35 
application be approved it affords flexibility for a new plan to be presented to the City.  36 
 37 
Commissioner Piaskowski and Britney discussed the flexibility options if the zone were 38 
changed. There was not a solid design to present.  39 
 40 
Commissioner Jones referenced the minutes from the previous application meeting and stated the 41 
architect had relayed there had been a typo for duplex development, and the proposal intention 42 
was for single-family homes. With this, Commissioner Jones asked why the applicant changed 43 
their mind to switch to R-5 zoning.  44 
 45 
Britney stated they were not included in the original approval, they were unaware of which 46 



 

November 14, 2023, City of Silverton Planning Commission Regular Meeting  Page 8 of 14 

architect made the statement, and iterated the R-5 zone change is to allow flexibility and 1 
different housing types. They want to fill the gap that is seen in Silverton’s Housing Needs 2 
Analysis and reiterated over and over in the Comprehensive Plan. The applicant may still move 3 
forward with the development of 21 single-family dwellings as currently approved; R-5 zoning 4 
affords more flexibility.  5 
 6 
Commissioner Jones referred to the minutes from the previous meeting and iterated comment of 7 
economics determining the number of lots. They stated an assumption for economics being the 8 
driving force behind the zone change request.  9 
 10 
Britney stated it is the flexibility of being able to develop the property appropriately with what 11 
the housing need shows Silverton need.  12 
 13 
Commissioner Matzka asked for clarification on the wording of gap in housing in Silverton; how 14 
will the zone change fill the gap.  15 
 16 
Britney stated the gap is shown in the staff report and is shown in the Housing Needs Analysis. 17 
There is a surplus of single-family homes and a lack of differentiated housing types like 18 
duplexes, tri-plex’s, townhomes, cottages, multi-family apartments. The zone change would 19 
continue to allow the 21 single-family dwellings but would afford the ability to fill the gaps of 20 
the missing housing types in Silverton.  21 
 22 
Commissioner Matzka and Britney discussed the potential of changing the lot design for the 23 
property.  24 
 25 
Commissioner Piaskowski asked if there was a timeline to develop conceptual design.   26 
 27 
Britney stated there was not a current timeline for conceptual design, there is a deadline for the 28 
subdivision of 2025.  29 
 30 
Commissioner Piaskowski stated general process for zone change applications, typically the 31 
Planning Commission is provided with design to assist in the decision-making process for the 32 
application to ensure it meets the required criteria.  33 
 34 
Britney stated if the design changed from the current zone approval, it would be presented once 35 
again to meet the criteria for approval. 36 
 37 
Madam Vice-Chair Kaser inquired about the driver for zone change.  38 
 39 
Britney stated the ability to diversify the housing type [in Silverton] and have more flexibility. 40 
 41 
Madam Vice Chair Kaser asked for description of the community outreach the applicant had 42 
completed to assist in their request for zone change.  43 
 44 
Britney stated there had not been community outreach. Based on information they gathered from 45 
City staff at the pre-application conference their proposal was revised to R-5 zoning which falls 46 



 

November 14, 2023, City of Silverton Planning Commission Regular Meeting  Page 9 of 14 

under the current Comprehensive Plan designation and meets statewide planning goals.      1 
 2 
PUBLIC TESTIMONY:      3 
 4 
Proponant Testimony: There was none.  5 
 6 
Opponent Testimony:  7 
Dean and Lauren Christensen, owners of 110 Jade Hills Silverton, Oregon 97381 & 412 8 
Eureka Silverton, Oregon 97381 9 
The two properties are downstream from the property in question. Dean stated they were not 10 
necessarily speaking against the development. They had concerns and questions related to the 11 
drainage. Dean relayed the previous plan addressed stormwater management by hitting the 12 
southerly drainage way as it moves past the Oregon Garden and their properties, and not the 13 
northerly drainage way. If the developer were to move forward and submit additional revised 14 
plans and receive approval, they would continue to meet the criteria for stormwater management 15 
from the City of Silverton. Additionally meet the criteria through drainage easements or 16 
whatever needn’t be sure charging the southerly drainage way with their stormwater and not 17 
impacting their properties below with additional stormwater runoff. Lastly, Dean stated as 18 
property owners downstream it is important, they do not receive negative impact from 19 
stormwater in annual or an one-hundred-year event.  20 
 21 
Commissioner Matzka asked about water flow near their property, has there been changes within 22 
the last ten years on their property or near the wetland area.  23 
 24 
Dean stated they had not noticed changes within the last ten years, there were significant changes 25 
with the development of the Oregon Garden in the wetland area.  26 
 27 
Jenny Siewell, 847 Woodland Drive, Silverton Oregon 97381 28 
Jenny relayed concern for the families who live on Eureka and Edison road; It was their 29 
understanding that the water that feeds the properties is gravity fed. There have been water 30 
pressure issues, and they have run out of water in the past. With the addition of 21 to 51 homes 31 
Jenny stated they were concerned about the people’s water capability with the gravity being fed 32 
on Edison.  33 
 34 
Director Gottgetreu clarified the proposed development would be on a separate system and 35 
provided information on the utilities.  36 
 37 
Jenny reiterated the potential number of homes on the property and relayed concern for increased 38 
traffic in the area directly related to a nearby church and school. Jenny has witnessed children 39 
and pedestrians’ traffic in general in the area and inquired if speed zones would be altered.  40 
Director Gottgetreu inferred the developer would be required to install sidewalks on the frontage 41 
of the property near eleven-hundred feet, but they do not have to connect to existing systems on 42 
Eureka. In terms of traffic and pedestrian crossings, these elements are addressed as development 43 
is constructed.  44 
 45 
Lastly, Jenny asked for clarification on the process if the R-5 zoning were approved and what the 46 



 

November 14, 2023, City of Silverton Planning Commission Regular Meeting  Page 10 of 14 

design criteria would be with public process.  1 
 2 
Madam Vice Chair Kaser clarified the processes and criteria for zone changes, and stated the 3 
applicant would need to return to the Planning Commission if they proposed design other than 4 
the approved 21-lot subdivision.  5 
 6 
Stephen Purdy, 884 Woodland Drive, Silverton Oregon 97381   7 
Stephen relayed concern for the flexibility the applicant referred to in terms of site development. 8 
They asked if the zone change would allow for manufactured homes. 9 
 10 
Director Gottgetreu stated there is a State law that cites any lot that allows a single-family home 11 
must also allow a manufactured home.   12 
 13 
Stephen iterated confusion and frustration toward the applicant for not providing a direct answer 14 
on future design yet requesting the zone change. The flexibility comments did not provide 15 
clarification.  16 
 17 
Neutral Testimony:  18 
Mike Bliss, 879 Woodland Drive, Silverton Oregon 97381  19 
Mike inquired about the process for denial of the application and what the criteria are.   20 
 21 
Madam Vice-Chair Kaser referenced page 89 of the staff report and stated the decision is a 22 
Quasi-Judicial zoning amendment. They then summarized the eight criterium the Planning 23 
Commission must utilize for consideration of the application to remain in compliance with the 24 
statewide planning goal and relevance to the Comprehensive Plan of the City.   25 
 26 
Director Gottgetreu and Mike discussed density potential and the applications compatibility with 27 
the City’s Comprehensive Plan and Housing Needs Analysis.  28 
 29 
Madam Vice-Chair Kaser provided elucidation on the process for consideration of the 30 
application.  31 
 32 
Rebecca Murphy, 614 Keene Avenue, Silverton Oregon 97381 33 
Rebecca stated they are a lifetime Silverton resident and they have four young children. Their 34 
main concern is traffic and safety, with pertinence to the approved subdivision and the 35 
application. Rebecca asked the applicant to keep children in mind and consider provisions for 36 
sidewalks and a turn lane. They asked for consideration on moving the forty-five mile an hour 37 
sign located in the area, currently the area is not safe.  38 
 39 
Director Gottgetreu provided information on how community members can request a speed limit 40 
change.  41 
Written Testimony: See attached.  42 
 43 
Rebuttal:  44 
Britney stated regarding the unknown for development, it will be submitted in the future. To 45 
determine feasibility is very expensive. To state putting the cart before the horse to approve the 46 



 

November 14, 2023, City of Silverton Planning Commission Regular Meeting  Page 11 of 14 

zone change, prior to seeing what would be proposed, in Britney’s opinion, was the opposite. 1 
They relayed coming to the [Planning Commission] with the 21-lot subdivision previously was 2 
putting the cart before the horse before exploring all the opportunities that could be available on 3 
the site. Britney iterated the applicant was not putting effort into being untransparent, they are 4 
simply unaware of what the recommendation will be. If the application were to be approved then 5 
the next step would be to develop feasibility and determine what sort of development makes 6 
sense; then it would go through the same process of public hearings etc. depending on what is 7 
proposed. Britney wanted to reiterate that any future development must happen for the frontage 8 
of the site to be improved, meaning sidewalks etc. if the 21-lot subdivision continues, those 9 
improvements would be made under approval. The applicants recognize and understand the 10 
concerns surrounding neighbors and citizens. They have taken it into consideration and will 11 
continue to if a different proposal is brought forward.  12 
 13 
Commissioner Piaskowski stated concern for being unaware of the future development plans. 14 
They asked if the Planning Commission extended the review period, was there potential for the 15 
applicant to return with conceptual designs.  16 
 17 
Britney said providing a conceptual design is not a part of the criteria, therefore they did not 18 
think they could do that. It would be an additional investment, especially if the applicant was 19 
unaware of the direction the [Planning Commissions decision was leaning] for any future 20 
proposal to be subject for review.  21 
 22 
Commissioner Piaskowski agreed in the accuracy of Britney’s statement, and added conceptual 23 
designs would assist in the decision-making process to ensure congruency with the 24 
Comprehensive Plan for the City.  25 
 26 
Britney stated they believed they submitted supporting evidence and the staff report was clearly 27 
directed at the criteria; they thought the application displayed satisfactory criteria and upheld the 28 
burden of proof. 29 
 30 
Commissioner Matzka iterated in the initial approval of the 21-lot site, there were discussions 31 
about constructing a sidewalk across Eureka avenue. There was not a determination on whether 32 
it was possible due to unconstructed sidewalks in the area. Commissioner Matzka asked if there 33 
was a required crosswalk for the 21-unit approved development for pedestrians.  34 
 35 
Commissioner Jones recalled discussion on safe routes to school with an island community on a 36 
busy forty-five mile an hour road.  37 
 38 
Commissioner Matzka iterated the applicant is asking for freedom to develop without confirming 39 
the pedestrian safety for the current 21-lot subdivision approval.  40 
 41 
Director Gottgetreu stated previously John Rasmussen an engineer with Marion County 42 
commented on the crosswalk initiation, Eureka avenue is Marion County jurisdiction.   43 
 44 
Britney added there are proportionality laws, should a greater density development be proposed, 45 
the proportionality improvements could go up, therefore there could potentially be additional 46 



 

November 14, 2023, City of Silverton Planning Commission Regular Meeting  Page 12 of 14 

requirements.    1 
 2 
Commissioner Matzka added they were stating there was no confirmation for successful 3 
pedestrian crossing for the current approved development at its density.  4 
 5 
Commissioner Walling asked for clarification on the potential approval of the R-5 rezoning, the 6 
applicant had stated they were unaware if they would continue to move forward with the 21-lot 7 
subdivision or develop an alternative. If the R-5 were approved, the minimum density would be 8 
twenty-five units, therefore Commissioner Walling added the 21-lot subdivision would not be 9 
developed.  10 
 11 
Britney disagreed.  12 
 13 
There was collective discussion on the potential development of the site under R-1 and R-5 14 
zoning. Additionally, discussion was had on if the R-5 zoning were approved and if it is not 15 
congruent with the approved site plan, what the next steps would be.  16 
 17 
Commissioner Walling iterated, the applicant is asking for an opportunity to develop either R-1 18 
or R-5 zoning because the [Commission] cannot encumber a previously granted approval [the 19 
21-lot subdivision). Commissioner Walling asked if the applicant would be agreeable with 20 
maintaining the R-1 zoning and returning with a plan displaying the need for R-5 density in the 21 
community.  22 
 23 
The Commission considered continuing the hearing to receive additional information.  24 
 25 
Director Gottgetreu provided clarification on code allowance for the development situation.  26 
 27 
Commissioner Matzka moved to close the public hearing, Commissioner Walling seconded the 28 
motion and it passed unanimously.  29 
 30 
The Public Hearing was closed at 9:20pm. The Planning Commission recessed until 31 
9:33pm.  32 
 33 
DISCUSSION:   34 
The Planning Commission considered the unique position they were in with the approved 35 
subdivision and requested R-5 zoning. There was collective discussion on the previous 36 
application meeting and the process that led to approval from the City Council.  37 
 38 
Madam Vice-Chair Kaser read the eight criterion for the application consideration.  39 
 40 
Concern was relayed for lack of information and insight into the applicants motive for rezoning 41 
and their plan for development. Additional information was preferred to ensure the rezoning for 42 
R-5 density aligned with the City’s Comprehensive Plan and met the criterium. The Planning 43 
Commission reviewed page ninety-two of the staff report which did find the R-5 zoning to be 44 
compatible with the Comprehensive Plan designation. Pedestrian safety and connectivity to 45 
schools was considered with a higher density for the property.   46 



 

November 14, 2023, City of Silverton Planning Commission Regular Meeting  Page 13 of 14 

Commissioner Piaskowski asked Director Gottgetreu for clarification on the Comprehensive 1 
Plan identifying the area as single-family, within the staff report criterion two, single family 2 
would include R-1, R-5 and others. Commissioner Piaskowski requested confirmation if R-5 was 3 
included.  4 
 5 
Director Gottgetreu stated R-1 and R-5 are compatible zoning districts for the property within the 6 
Comprehensive Plan.   7 
 8 
The Planning Commission considered negative impacts if the application were approved. They 9 
referred to the eight criterion and found inconsistencies. Under House Bill 2001 the applicant can 10 
develop 42-units on the property. There was discussion on the applicant satisfying the burden of 11 
proof to increase the density from what had been previously approved.   12 
 13 
Madam Vice-Chair Kaser stated the Planning Commission is restricted on their process for 14 
consideration of the application. They believed the application met the criteria. Negative impacts 15 
can be subjective, the applicant has shown they meet the requirements needed; Madam Vice-16 
Chair Kaser stated they could not find constraints that were within what was allowed for 17 
consideration.   18 
 19 
Commissioner Walling motioned to recommend the City Council approval of the proposed zone 20 
change as it meets the criteria, Madam Vice-Chair Kaser seconded the motion.  21 
 22 
Commissioner Piaskowski reiterated for Commissioner Jones the following: The Housing Needs 23 
Analysis summarized in the report identifies that there is a deficit. There is a benefit of making 24 
the zone change, however as reported there are ninety-seven lots approved for multi-family, so 25 
the City has several years to meet the housing need; therefore, Commissioner Piaskowski stated 26 
they do not believe it is critical for the property to be designated as R-5 for purposes of meeting 27 
the Housing Needs Analysis. An additional inconsistency lay with the Comprehensive Plan, 28 
number two, four, and five do not align in their opinion.  29 
 30 
Commissioner Matzka agreed with Commissioner Piaskowski and stated the application did not 31 
align with having additional housing in an island community targeting needed housing that will 32 
have school aged children in the household. If the location had connectivity, it would be feasible, 33 
but [if approved] the creation of an island community with higher density outside of the walking 34 
ability into the infrastructure of our community is not agreeable. With this, Commissioner 35 
Matzka stated, the [application] does not meet the comprehensive goals, plans of the school 36 
district, the City, or the transportation network.   37 
 38 
Madam Vice-Chair Kaser stated they do not view the property as an island, the site has an 39 
approved plan currently. Frontage and sidewalks will be developed, unfortunately with County 40 
roads some infrastructure is not the City’s jurisdiction. The property is near a neighborhood, it is 41 
not segregated. The differential between R-1 to R-5 zoning is the shortest route to increasing 42 
housing, the Planning Commission and the City Council will be reviewing future site-plans for 43 
code compliance, Madam Vice-Chair Kaser believed the application met criteria looking strictly 44 
at what the Planning Commission was legally allowed to consider.   45 
 46 



 

November 14, 2023, City of Silverton Planning Commission Regular Meeting  Page 14 of 14 

The Planning Commission considered the adjacent properties and future frontage requirements. 1 
Lack of information from the applicant was reiterated.  2 
 3 
Commissioner Matzka relayed additional concern for approving the application.  4 
 5 
The motion did not pass, 1:4 6 
 7 
Commissioner Piaskowski motioned to recommend to the City Council the denial of the 8 
proposed zone change as it does not meet the review criteria, Commissioner Walling seconded 9 
the motion and it passed, 4:1.  10 
 11 
IV.REPORTS AND COMMUNICATIONS: 12 
Director Gottgereu informed the Planning Commission of upcoming meetings.  13 
 14 
Commissioner Matzka requested new public notice signs.  15 
 16 
V. ADJOURNMENT:  17 
The meeting was adjourned at 10:22pm 18 
 /s/ Cleone Cantu,  19 
Planning and Permit Assistant.  20 





City of Silverton Ordinance No. 23-06                         Page 1 of 6 

CITY OF SILVERTON 
ORDINANCE 

23-06 
 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE SILVERTON CITY COUNCIL ANNEXING A 1.48 ACRE PARCEL 
LOCATED AT 827 RAILWAY AVENUE INTO THE CITY LIMITS OF THE CITY OF 
SILVERTON, OREGON AND ZONING THE PROPERTY GC, GENERAL COMMERCIAL.  
MARION COUNTY ASSESSOR’S MAP 061W34CA TAX LOT 00700.  
 
WHEREAS,  the City of Silverton has been petitioned to annex 827 Railway Avenue into the City 
Limits of the City of Silverton, Oregon and zone the property GC, General Commercial.  Marion 
County Assessor’s Map 061W34CA Tax Lot 00700. 
 
WHEREAS, the area proposed for annexation is described as a tract of land situated in Section 34, T6S, 
R1W, W.M. Marion County Oregon and more particularly described as follows:   
 

 
Beginning at a point that is 599.96 feet North 00  31’ 26” West and 435/45 feet North 89  35’ 
38” West of the 3 inch iron pipe at the Southwest corner of Lot 7, Silverton Plaza.   
 
Thence 335.37 feet South 89  35’ 38” East; 
 
Thence 290.70 feet North 02  11’ 00” West; 
 
Thence 377.54 feet South 59  30’ 00” West; 
 
Thence 97.46 feet South 00  37’ 42” East to the beginning, more or less.   

 
NOW, THEREFORE THE CITY OF SILVERTON ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1:  Legislative Annexation. In accordance with ORS 222.120: 
 

(1) The Silverton Municipal Code Section 18.04.10 provides a process whereby the 
City Council can authorize an exception to the electorate annexation process when the 
City Council determines that an identified health hazard exists, the request is less than 2 
acres in size, and has limited potential.  This annexation proposal complies with said 
conditions and the Council is hereby authorizing the election exception and is not 
referring the annexation request to the electorate. The Council hereby sets the final 
boundaries of the area to be annexed by a legal description and proclaims the annexation.  
A public hearing before the Council was held on December 4, 2023, at which time the 
electors of the city had an opportunity to appear and be heard on the question of 
annexation.  
 
(2)  The area described above and as shown on Exhibit “B” is hereby annexed to the 
City of Silverton, effective January 3, 2024.  

 
Section 2:  Consent to Annexation. In accordance with ORS 222.125 the Council finds there is no 

need to hold an election in the city or in any contiguous territory proposed to be annexed 
as all of the owners of land in that territory, and not less than 50 percent of the electors, 
if any, residing in the territory, have consented in writing to the annexation of the land in 

Attachment to Agenda Item No. 5.1 



City of Silverton Ordinance No. 23-06                         Page 2 of 6 

the territory and statement of their consent is filed with the Council. 
 
Section 3:  Timing of Consents. The Council finds that only statements of consent to annexation 

which are filed within any one-year period prior to the hearing have been submitted and 
describes the 1.48 acres of real property, all located in Marion County, Oregon that shall 
be annexed to the City of Silverton upon recording with the Secretary of State. 

 
Section 4:  Notice to Utilities. In accordance with ORS 222.005 the City Recorder shall, no later 

than 10 working days after passage of this ordinance approving the proposed annexation, 
provide by certified mail to all public utilities, electric cooperatives and 
telecommunications utilities operating within the city, each site address to be annexed as 
recorded on county assessment and tax rolls, a legal description and map of the proposed 
boundary change and a copy of the City Council's resolution or ordinance approving the 
proposed annexation. 

 
Section 5:  Notice to County. In accordance with ORS 222.010, the City Recorder shall report to the 

Marion County Clerk and County Assessor all changes in the boundaries or limits of the 
city. The report shall contain a detailed legal description of the new boundaries 
established by the city. The report shall be filed by the city within 10 days from the 
effective date of the change of any boundary lines. 

 
Section 6:  Assessor Valuation. In accordance with ORS 222.030 the City Recorder shall request 

that the Assessor shall furnish within 20 days, a statement showing for the current fiscal 
year the assessed valuation of the taxable property in the territory to be annexed. 

 
Section 7:  Notice to Secretary of State. In accordance with ORS 222.177 the City Recorder shall 

transmit to the Secretary of State: 
 

(1)  A copy of this ordinance proclaiming the annexation. 
 (2)  An abstract of the vote within the city, if votes were cast in the city, and an abstract 

of the vote within the annexed territory, if votes were cast in the territory. The abstract of 
the vote for each election shall show the whole number of electors voting on the 
annexation, the number of votes cast for annexation and the number of votes cast against 
annexation. 
(3)  If electors or landowners in the territory annexed consented to the annexation 
under ORS 222.125 or 222.170, a copy of the statement of consent. 
(4)  A copy of the ordinance issued under ORS 222.120 (4). 
(5) An abstract of the vote upon the referendum, if a referendum petition was filed, 
with respect to the ordinance adopted under ORS 222.120. 

 
Section 8:   Exhibits.  The City Council adopts the Findings of Fact, attached hereto as Exhibit ‘A’, 

and a map of the area being annexed as Exhibit ‘B’, which shall be incorporated by 
reference herein. 

 
Section 9:   Zone Designation.  Upon annexation the property shall have a City of Silverton zoning 

designation of GC (General Commercial). 
 



City of Silverton Ordinance No. 23-06                         Page 3 of 6 

Section 10:  Effective Date. In accordance with ORS 222.180 the effective date of annexation shall 
be January 3, 2024. 

 
Ordinance adopted by the City Council of the City of Silverton, this 4th day of December, 2023. 
 

 
 
 

________________________________ 
Mayor, City of Silverton 

        Jason Freilinger 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
City Manager/Recorder, City of Silverton 
Corey Misley 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



City of Silverton Ordinance No. 23-06                         Page 4 of 6 

EXHIBIT ‘A’ 
AN-23-01 

 
The City Council of the City of Silverton adopts the following findings: 
 

1. The applicant submitted an application on September 19, 2023 requesting annexation of 827 
Railway Avenue, a 1.48 acre parcel of land that is outside the City Limits and within the Urban 
Growth Boundary.  The annexation request is for the existing building and the future buildings 
on the property to acquire city water and sewer services. 

 
2. The site is currently developed with a 9,035 square foot building. .  
 
3. Notice was mailed to all property owners within 700 feet of the subject area on October 25, 2023.  

As of this writing, November 7, 2023, no written testimony has been received.  The notice was 
published in the Statesman Journal on November 1, 2023.  The site posted on November 2, 2023. 

 
4. The Planning Commission reviewed the application at their November 14, 2023 meeting and 

recommended the Council approve the request. 
 
5. The application was reviewed by the City Council on December 4, 2023.  
 
6. Unless mandated by state law, annexation, delayed annexations, and/or extension of city services 

may only be approved by a majority vote among the electorate.  On March 15, 2016, the State 
enacted SB 1573 that states that the legislative body of a city shall annex a territory petitioning 
annexation without submitting the proposal to the electors of the city if the territory is within the 
Urban Growth Boundary (UGB), the territory upon annexation will be subject to the 
acknowledged comprehensive plan, the territory is contiguous to the city limits and the proposal 
conforms to all other requirements of the city’s ordinances.  The territory is within the UGB and 
is contiguous to the city limits and would be subject to the Comprehensive Plan upon annexation.   

 
7. The property is requesting annexation in order to obtain City water and sewer service.  The 

water and sewer systems are already in place and are available to the site.   
 
8. The applicant will have to pay Water and Wastewater System Development Charges as 

connecting to the water and sewer system increases the usage of a capital improvement. 
 
9. Recent road and frontage improvements were completed by the West-Side Gateway 

development, bringing them up to current standards.  Water and sewer mains are available at 
Railway Avenue NE.  The applicant will continue to manage stormwater collection on site and 
discharge into the public drainageway on the north side of Railway Avenue. 
The proposed annexation will not change the existing use of the transportation facilities and 
public facilities are adequate to serve the areas being annexed 

 
10. The area is contiguous to the City.  Considering the area is contiguous to the city limits and the 

parcel is being annexed to obtain city water and sewer services and city water and sanitary 
sewer services fronts the site, the annexation represents a logical direction for city expansion.   

 



City of Silverton Ordinance No. 23-06                         Page 5 of 6 

11. The area considered for annexation is inside the Urban Growth Boundary. 
 
12. The proposed area for annexation is identified on the comprehensive plan map as Commercial 

and will be zoned General Commercial once annexed. 
 
13. ORS 222 provides for a means of annexation by election or by action of the governing body.  

However, as noted above the City is no longer allowed to submit proposals for annexation to 
the electors of the city for their approval or rejection.   

 
14. There are no areas within the annexation boundary that are identified as wetlands, floodplains, 

or steep slopes. 
 
15. There are no areas on the site identified or designated in the Comprehensive Plan as open space 

or as significant scenic, historic or natural resource areas. 
 
16. The annexation will have minimal physical and environmental impacts on the community.  A 

6,000 square foot manufacturing building is proposed for the future, and the applicant will be 
required to connect the new and existing building to water and sewer services and pay the System 
Development Charges for the impact to the system. 

 
17. The annexation will allow a property that fronts existing City utilities to be annexed and 

developed in accordance with Silverton Development Code standards. 
 
18. That the details of the case are maintained in Case File No. AN-23-01 which is filed in the 

Planning Department in City Hall and is open for public inspection. 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



City of Silverton Ordinance No. 23-06                         Page 6 of 6 

 
Exhibit ‘B’ 

 

 



SILVERTON CITY COUNCIL STAFF REPORT 
TO THE HONORABLE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCILORS 

 
 

City of Silverton | 306 S. Water St., Silverton, OR 

 
Background:  
In May of 2023 the City and Oregon Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) signed the 
Mutual Agreement and Final Order (MAO). It outlines in the document tasks to be completed 
throughout 2023. Attached and outlined in DEQ Update 1 and 2 are the Tasks completed up to 
October 2023. The Harvest Report Attachment is also included as it was completed in November 
2023 and was an outlined task by the MAO. Also included in the attachments are Water Dudes 
Department Review and a Power Point Presentation that will be Presented to Council on Water 
Dudes Overall assessment of the Wastewater Treatment Plant Operation and Maintenance. 
 
Attachments:  

1. DEQ MAO (for Reference) 
2. DEQ Update (for Reference) 
3. Water Dudes Harvest Report (for Reference) 
4. Water Dudes Department Review (for Review) 
5. Water Dudes PP Review (for Review) 

 

Agenda Item No.: Topic: 
7.1 DEQ MAO Update/Water 

Dudes Discussion  
Agenda Type: 

Discussion/Action 
Meeting Date:  

December 4, 2023 
Prepared by: Reviewed by: Approved by: 
Brad Jensen Travis Sperle Cory Misley 













kodonne
Typewritten Text
May 17, 2023



 

Case No. WQ-M-WR-2022-015 
Amended Exhibit 1 Page 1   

AMENDED EXHIBIT 1 
 

FINDINGS AND DETERMINATION OF RESPONDENT'S CIVIL PENALTY 
PURSUANT TO OREGON ADMINISTRATIVE RULE (OAR) 340-012-0045 

 
VIOLATION NO. 1 Violating a condition of a wastewater permit (Ammonia-N limits), in 

violation of ORS 468B.025(2). 
 
CLASSIFICATION: This is a Class I violation pursuant to OAR 340-012-0055(1)(l). 
 
MAGNITUDE: The magnitude of the violation is major pursuant to OAR 340-012-

0135(2)(a)(A)(ii) because the receiving stream flow at the time of at 
least three of the water quality based effluent limit violations in July 
2021 was at or below the flow used to calculate the limit. According 
to OAR 340-012-0145(4)(e), If DEQ assesses one penalty for 
multiple occurrences of a violation, the penalty will be based on the 
highest classification and magnitude applicable to any of the 
occurrences. 

 
CIVIL PENALTY FORMULA: The formula for determining the amount of penalty of each 

violation is:  BP + [(0.1 x BP) x (P + H + O + M + C)] + EB 
 
"BP" is the base penalty, which is $8,000 for a Class I, major magnitude violation in the matrix 

listed in OAR 340-012-0140(3)(b)(A)(i) and applicable pursuant to OAR 340-012-
0140(3)(a)(E)(i) because Respondent has a NPDES permit for a municipal sewage treatment 
facility with a permitted flow of two million or more, but less than five million, gallons per 
day. 

 
"P" is whether Respondent has any prior significant actions, as defined in OAR 340-012-

0030(19), in the same media as the violation at issue that occurred at a facility owned or 
operated by the same Respondent, and initially receives a value of 10 according to OAR 
340-012-0145(2)(a)(C) and (D) and OAR 340-012-0145(2)(b), because Respondent has 
more than 10 Class I violations in case no. WQ-M-WR-2015-112, issued on October 16, 
2015. According to OAR 340-012-0145(2)(d)(A)(ii), this amount is reduced by 4 because 
all the formal enforcement actions in which prior significant actions were cited were issued 
more than five years before the date the current violation occurred. Therefore, the value of P 
is 6. 

  
"H" is Respondent’s history of correcting prior significant actions, and receives a value of -1 

according to OAR 340-012-0145(3)(b) because the violations were uncorrectable and 
Respondent took reasonable efforts to minimize the effects of the violations cited as PSAs. 
Respondent adopted a voluntary pretreatment program in response to the 2015 enforcement 
case, and has issues some fines an one Notice of Violation (2017) under that program.  

 
"O" is whether the violation was repeated or ongoing, and receives a value of 4 according to 

OAR 340-012-0145(4)(d) because there were more than 28 occurrences of the violation. 



 

Case No. WQ-M-WR-2022-015 
Amended Exhibit 1 Page 2   

There were 32 occurrences of the violation, described in Section II, paragraph 6 of the 
Notice. 

 
"M" is the mental state of the Respondent, and receives a value of 4 according to OAR 340-012-

0145(5)(c) because Respondent’s conduct was negligent. According to OAR 340-012-
0030(15), negligent means the respondent failed to take reasonable care to avoid a 
foreseeable risk of conduct constituting or resulting in a violation. In case no. WQ-M-WR-
2015-112, issued on October 16, 2015, DEQ cited Respondent for violating the Ammonia-N 
daily and monthly limits 59 times in 2014 and 2015. DEQ also cited Respondent for four 
violations of the Ammonia-N limits in Warning Letter No WLOC-2020-5521, issued on 
May 7, 2020. Despite this history of violations, Respondent has not taken corrective actions 
to ensure consistent compliance with the Ammonia-N limits in the Permit. Thus, 
Respondent failed to take reasonable care to avoid a foreseeable risk of conduct constituting 
or resulting additional Ammonia-N violations. 

 
"C" is Respondent's efforts to correct or mitigate the violation, and receives a value of -1 

according to OAR 340-012-0145(6)(e) because Respondent made reasonable efforts to 
ensure that the violations would not be repeated by cooperating and providing 
documentation to DEQ and agreeing to comply with the requirements in Section II, 
paragraph 2 of the MAO.    

 
"EB" is the approximate dollar value of the benefit gained and the costs avoided or delayed as a 

result of the Respondent’s noncompliance. It is designed to “level the playing field” by 
taking away any economic advantage the entity gained and to deter potential violators from 
deciding it is cheaper to violate and pay the penalty than to pay the costs of compliance. In 
this case, “EB” receives a value of $0 because DEQ has insufficient information to calculate 
an economic benefit for this violation.  

 
PENALTY CALCULATION:  Penalty = BP + [(0.1 x BP) x (P + H + O + M + C)] + EB 

= $8,000 + [(0.1 x $8,000) x (6 + -1 + 4 + 4 + -1)] + $0 
= $8,000 + ($800 x 12) + $0 

 = $8,000 + $9,600 + $0 
 = $17,600 



 

Case No. WQ-M-WR-2022-015 
Amended Exhibit 2 Page 1   

AMENDED EXHIBIT 2 
 

FINDINGS AND DETERMINATION OF RESPONDENT'S CIVIL PENALTY 
PURSUANT TO OREGON ADMINISTRATIVE RULE (OAR) 340-012-0045 

 
VIOLATION NO. 2 Violating a condition of a wastewater permit (TSS limits), in 

violation of ORS 468B.025(2). 
 
CLASSIFICATION: This is a Class I violation pursuant to OAR 340-012-0055(1)(k)(A). 
 
MAGNITUDE: The magnitude of the violation is major pursuant to OAR 340-012-

0135(2)(a)(A)(i) because the dilution of the technology based 
effluent limit exceedances was less than 2 for at least one violation 
the week of July 18-24, 2021. According to OAR 340-012-
0145(4)(e), If DEQ assesses one penalty for multiple occurrences of 
a violation, the penalty will be based on the highest classification and 
magnitude applicable to any of the occurrences. 

 
CIVIL PENALTY FORMULA: The formula for determining the amount of penalty of each 

violation is:  BP + [(0.1 x BP) x (P + H + O + M + C)] + EB 
 
"BP" is the base penalty, which is $8,000 for a Class I, major magnitude violation in the matrix 

listed in OAR 340-012-0140(3)(b)(A)(i) and applicable pursuant to OAR 340-012-
0140(3)(a)(E)(i) because Respondent has a NPDES permit for a municipal sewage treatment 
facility with a permitted flow of two million or more, but less than five million, gallons per 
day. 

 
"P" is whether Respondent has any prior significant actions, as defined in OAR 340-012-

0030(19), in the same media as the violation at issue that occurred at a facility owned or 
operated by the same Respondent, and initially receives a value of 10 according to OAR 
340-012-0145(2)(a)(C) and (D) and OAR 340-012-0145(2)(b), because Respondent has 
more than 10 Class I violations in case no. WQ-M-WR-2015-112, issued on October 16, 
2015. According to OAR 340-012-0145(2)(d)(A)(ii), this amount is reduced by 4 because 
all the formal enforcement actions in which prior significant actions were cited were issued 
more than five years before the date the current violation occurred. Therefore, the value of P 
is 6. 

  
"H" is Respondent’s history of correcting prior significant actions, and receives a value of -1 

according to OAR 340-012-0145(3)(b) because the violations were uncorrectable and 
Respondent took reasonable efforts to minimize the effects of the violations cited as PSAs. 
Respondent adopted a voluntary pretreatment program in response to the 2015 enforcement 
case, and has issues some fines an one Notice of Violation (2017) under that program. 

 
"O" is whether the violation was repeated or ongoing, and receives a value of 3 according to 

OAR 340-012-0145(4)(c) because there were from seven to 28 occurrences of the violation. 



 

Case No. WQ-M-WR-2022-015 
Amended Exhibit 2 Page 2   

There were 24 occurrences of the violation, described in Section II, paragraph 9 of the 
Notice.  

 
"M" is the mental state of the Respondent, and receives a value of 4 according to OAR 340-012-

0145(5)(c) because Respondent’s conduct was negligent. According to OAR 340-012-
0030(15), negligent means the respondent failed to take reasonable care to avoid a 
foreseeable risk of conduct constituting or resulting in a violation. In case no. WQ-M-WR-
2015-112, issued on October 16, 2015, DEQ cited Respondent for violating the TSS 
concentration limits seven times in 2014 and 2015. DEQ also cited Respondent for two 
violations of the TSS limits in Warning Letter No WLOC-2020-5521, issued on May 7, 
2020. Despite this history of violations, Respondent has not taken corrective actions to 
ensure consistent compliance with the TSS limits in the Permit. Thus, Respondent failed to 
take reasonable care to avoid a foreseeable risk of conduct constituting or resulting 
additional TSS limit violations. 

 
"C" is Respondent's efforts to correct or mitigate the violation, and receives a value of -1 

according to OAR 340-012-0145(6)(e) because Respondent made reasonable efforts to 
ensure that the violations would not be repeated by cooperating and providing 
documentation to DEQ and agreeing to comply with the requirements in Section II, 
paragraph 2 of the MAO. 

 
"EB" is the approximate dollar value of the benefit gained and the costs avoided or delayed as a 

result of the Respondent’s noncompliance. It is designed to “level the playing field” by 
taking away any economic advantage the entity gained and to deter potential violators from 
deciding it is cheaper to violate and pay the penalty than to pay the costs of compliance.  In 
this case, “EB” receives a value of $0 because DEQ has insufficient information to calculate 
an economic benefit for this violation. 

 
PENALTY CALCULATION:  Penalty = BP + [(0.1 x BP) x (P + H + O + M + C)] + EB 

= $8,000 + [(0.1 x $8,000) x (6 + -1 + 3 + 4 + -1)] + $0 
= $8,000 + ($800 x 11) + $0 

 = $8,000 + $8,800 + $0 
 = $16,800 



 

Case No. WQ-M-WR-2022-015 
Amended Exhibit 3 Page 1   

AMENDED EXHIBIT 3 
 

FINDINGS AND DETERMINATION OF RESPONDENT'S CIVIL PENALTY 
PURSUANT TO OREGON ADMINISTRATIVE RULE (OAR) 340-012-0045 

 
VIOLATION NO. 5 Violating a condition of a wastewater permit (pH limits), in violation 

of ORS 468B.025(2). 
 
CLASSIFICATION: This is a Class III violation pursuant to OAR 340-012-

0055(3)(b)(B). 
 
CIVIL PENALTY FORMULA: The formula for determining the amount of penalty of each 

violation is:  BP + [(0.1 x BP) x (P + H + O + M + C)] + EB 
 
"BP" is the base penalty, which is $700 for a Class III violation in the matrix listed in OAR 340-

012-0140(3)(b)(C) and applicable pursuant to OAR 340-012-0140(3)(a)(E)(i) because 
Respondent has a NPDES permit for a municipal sewage treatment facility with a permitted 
flow of two million or more, but less than five million, gallons per day. 

 
"P" is whether Respondent has any prior significant actions, as defined in OAR 340-012-

0030(19), in the same media as the violation at issue that occurred at a facility owned or 
operated by the same Respondent, and initially receives a value of 10 according to OAR 
340-012-0145(2)(a)(C) and (D) and OAR 340-012-0145(2)(b), because Respondent has 
more than 10 Class I violations in case no. WQ-M-WR-2015-112, issued on October 16, 
2015. According to OAR 340-012-0145(2)(d)(A)(ii), this amount is reduced by 4 because 
all the formal enforcement actions in which prior significant actions were cited were issued 
more than five years before the date the current violation occurred. Therefore, the value of P 
is 6. 

  
"H" is Respondent’s history of correcting prior significant actions, and receives a value of -1 

according to OAR 340-012-0145(3)(b) because the violations were uncorrectable and 
Respondent took reasonable efforts to minimize the effects of the violations cited as PSAs. 
Respondent adopted a voluntary pretreatment program in response to the 2015 enforcement 
case, and has issues some fines an one Notice of Violation (2017) under that program. 

 
"O" is whether the violation was repeated or ongoing, and receives a value of 2 according to 

OAR 340-012-0145(4)(b) because there was more than one but less than seven occurrences 
of the violation. There were 6 occurrences of the violation, described in Section II, 
paragraph 15 of the Notice.  

 
"M" is the mental state of the Respondent, and receives a value of 2 according to OAR 340-012-

0145(5)(b) because Respondent had constructive knowledge (reasonably should have 
known) of the requirement. As a permittee, Respondent has constructive knowledge of the 
pH limits in the Permit. 

 



 

Case No. WQ-M-WR-2022-015 
Amended Exhibit 3 Page 2   

"C" is Respondent's efforts to correct or mitigate the violation, and receives a value of -1 
according to OAR 340-012-0145(6)(e) because Respondent made reasonable efforts to 
ensure the violation would not be repeated. The pH limit violations were caused by a plug in 
the pH dose pump. Respondent unplugged the pump and returned the pump to normal 
operation, which prevented additional violations. 

 
"EB" is the approximate dollar value of the benefit gained and the costs avoided or delayed as a 

result of the Respondent’s noncompliance. It is designed to “level the playing field” by 
taking away any economic advantage the entity gained and to deter potential violators from 
deciding it is cheaper to violate and pay the penalty than to pay the costs of compliance.  In 
this case, “EB” receives a value of $0 because DEQ has insufficient information to calculate 
an economic benefit for this violation. 

 
PENALTY CALCULATION:  Penalty = BP + [(0.1 x BP) x (P + H + O + M + C)] + EB 

= $700 + [(0.1 x $700) x (6 + -1 + 2 + 2 + -1)] + $0 
= $700 + ($70 x 8) + $0 

 = $700 + $560 + $0 
 = $1,260 





































































 

  

Wastewater Treatment Plant 

Harvest Operations Report 
November 2023 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by 

 

 

 

 



Silverton WWTP Harvest Operations Report 

Page 2 of 24 
 

Table of Contents 

1.0 Introduction .................................................................................................................................... 3 

2.0 Process Evaluation and Optimization ......................................................................................... 5 

2.1 Influent Loading ......................................................................................................................... 6 

2.2 Primary Treatment ..................................................................................................................... 8 

2.3 Secondary Treatment ................................................................................................................. 9 

2.4 Solids Handling ....................................................................................................................... 12 

Appendix A – Sampling and analysis plan .................................................................................... 13 

Appendix  B - Harvest Season Slug Load Response Plan ............................................................. 15 

Appendix C – Sampling and analysis schedule............................................................................. 20 

Appendix D – Waste Calculator ....................................................................................................... 21 

Appendix E  - Process Memo ............................................................................................................ 22 

  



Silverton WWTP Harvest Operations Report 

Page 3 of 24 
 

1.0 Introduction  

In June of 2023 the city of Silverton contracted with Waterdude Solutions (WDS) to provide 
consulting services to assist with operation of the wastewater treatment facility during the food 
processing season. The WDS team included Andrew Grant, a process specialist from Solidsdude 
Solutions. The objective of this work was to ensure that the operation of the systems are 
optimized during the processing season. Another objective was to assist the city with 
identification of high strength wastewater discharge sources and how to manage slug loads. 

WDS conducted weekly site visits to meet with staff, review operations, review data, and adjust 
operating strategies. Process control tools were developed and implemented to aid operations.  

Operations staffing was adjusted to enable increased process control sampling and analysis 
during the harvest season. This sampling was instrumental in tracking and adjusting to 
changing influent characteristics.  

Diana Foods processes corn annually during the harvest season. The processing facility includes 
pretreatment prior to discharge to the city sewer. This discharge represents a significant 
increase in organic loading to the treatment plant.  The 2023 Harvest season began July 9, 2023 
and ended October 17, 2023. Figure 1 shows Dianna Foods loading as calculated from discharge 
sample results prior to and during the harvest season.  

 

Figure 1.0 

This was the first year of increased monitoring of industrial dischargers. Tillamook Smoker and 
Dianna Foods will be monitored monthly to collect discharge loading data. The data from 
Dianna Foods discharge is not commensurate with the observed increase in loading at the 



Silverton WWTP Harvest Operations Report 

Page 4 of 24 
 

treatment plant. Sampling location, frequency and amount of sample will be evaluated and 
adjusted for the 2024 harvest season.  

Treatment performance during the harvest season was maintained with all effluent NPDES 
sample requirements below permitted levels. Table 1 provides a summary of effluent quality 
prior to and through the harvest season.  

Table 1.0 

 

 

The effluent nitrate nitrogen is not a permitted parameter. This value is noted as it indicates that 
future process optimization is possible. The activated sludge process is currently operated in a 
fully aerated mode due to lack of monitoring and control. The system is designed to operate in 
an air on – air off mode to allow nitrate nitrogen to be consumed as oxygen when the air is off. 
This process is referred to as simultaneous nitrification denitrification (SNDN). When used this 
process will reduce both power and chemical demand. Section 2.3 includes a description of 
ongoing plans for secondary treatment process improvement. 

The operations staff at the Silverton wastewater treatment plant were instrumental in ensuring 
facility performance was maintained throughout the harvest season. Staffing limitations, 
maintenance requirements and implementation of new strategies were met with enthusiasm 
and tenacity. The WDS team commends their efforts and dedication to water quality.  

The remainder of this report focuses on process evaluation and optimization that took place 
during the 2023 harvest season.    

 

  

  

NPDES  Daily 
Limit 10 mg/l 10 mg/l <0.88 No limit

Month CBOD TSS NH3 NO3
May 2.1 5.8 0.06 15.2
June 1.8 6.6 0.05 24.1
July 1.9 9.0 0.05 23.7
August 2.3 5.2 0.08 20.7
September 1.6 3.1 0.21 17.5
October 1.7 5.4 0.07 19.2

Effluent Concentrations, mg/l



Silverton WWTP Harvest Operations Report 

Page 5 of 24 
 

2.0 Process Evaluation and Optimization  

Process evaluation began with a site orientation and project kick off including WDS and city 
staff. The facility employs an activated sludge process for liquids treatment and anaerobic 
digestion for solids treatment. The activated sludge process is in a modified oxidation ditch 
configuration set up for simultaneous nitrification denitrification (SNDN). The process is 
currently operated in complete aeration mode. Solids are treated anaerobically and then stored 
in sludge storage ponds. Figure 1 provides a process flow diagram of the facility. 

 

Primary Clarifier 1

Primary Clarifier 2

Bar 
Screen

Secondary 
Clarifier 1

Secondary 
Clarifier 2

Dissolved 
Air 

Floatation 
Thickener

Sludge  Storage 
Pond 2

UV Disinfection Post Aeration 

Outfall to 
Silver 
Creek

Effluent 
Pumping

Biosolids
Land Application

Aeration Basin 1

Aeration Basin 2

Anaerobic 
Digester 2

Anaerobic 
Digester 1

Gravity 
Thickener

Sludge  Storage 
Pond 1

Flow Equalization Basin

AB 
Splitter 

Box

Sludge 
Pumpng

 

 

Figure 2.0 

 

An initial review of existing process control and operations strategies highlighted the need for 
additional tools to aid with decision making. The operations and maintenance manual was 
scanned, and a design criteria table was developed for electronic reference.  

Several new tools were introduced to the operations staff including a sampling plan, sampling 
and analysis schedule, a waste activated sludge calculator and process control memo. These 
tools are included in appendix A-D.   

Process evaluation was continuous throughout the harvest season. Weekly site visits and data 
review was conducted as process meetings and plant walkthroughs. During these visits 
adjustments to operating strategies were made by operations staff.  



Silverton WWTP Harvest Operations Report 

Page 6 of 24 
 

Design conditions are based on the criteria listed in the 1999 Operations and Maintenance 
manual and the 2007 Wastewater Facility System Master plan.  

2.1 Influent Loading 
The loading to the facility was measured by CBOD, TSS, and ammonia. Samples are taken 
Wednesdays and Thursdays and analyzed by a contract laboratory. Average daily flow to the 
facility during the period June 1 2023 to September 30, 2023 was 0.93 mgd. This represents 
approximately 50% of the average daily design flow. Facility design flows are shown in table 2.  

2015 Design Flows, million gallons per day (mgd) 
 

Average Dry Weather 2.5 
Maximum Month Dry Weather 4.3 
Average Wet Weather 4.6 
Maximum Month Wet Weather 6.6 
Maximum Day Wet Weather 
Flow 

10.0 

Peak Hour Wet Weather Flow  12.0 
Source: Silverton Wastewater Management Facilities, HDR Engineering 
1998 Sheet 6 

Table 2.0 

TSS and BOD loading to the facility was monitored throughout the harvest season. Design 
loading for the facility is not included in the design drawings or O&M manual. Dry weather 
design flows and loads were identified in the 2007 wastewater facility plan and are shown as 
table 2.1. 

Design Flows and Loads 
Dry Weather Max Month  2.65 
TSS / BOD, mg/l 357 
TSS /BOD, lbs. Day 7,900 
Source: 2007 Wastewater Facility System Master Plan 

Table 2.1 

Table 2.3 summarizes the cBOD and TSS loading to the facility over the harvest season July 
through October 2023. Composite samples are collected on consecutive days, Wednesday, and 
Thursday. This is done to facilitate sample pickup and analysis by a contract laboratory.   

Data shows monthly average concentrations exceed the design criteria. The influent loading is 
50-60% of design due influent flows being lower than the 2.5 mgd average day design flow.   

Operations will update the current sampling and analysis plan for the 2024 season that will 
include updated sampling strategies at industrial sites and the treatment plant. The goal of this 
effort is to obtain additional loading data on different dates and ensure representative sampling 
is obtained at the industrial sites.  



Silverton WWTP Harvest Operations Report 

Page 7 of 24 
 

 

Table 2.3 

During the harvest season loading increased, peaking in September. Several peak conditions 
occurred that exceeded both the design concentration and loading as shown on Table 2.4. 
Process adjustments were made by operations staff as loading changes occurred.  

 

Table 2.4 

Figure 2.1 shows that while peak design loading conditions were periodically exceeded, the 
monthly maximum loading did not reach the maximum condition of 7,900 lbs. per day of 
BOD/TSS. 

 

Figure 2.1  

Monthly 
Average

Flow, 
mgd

CBOD, 
mg/l

% Design 
CBOD, 

lbs.
% Design  TSS, mg/l % Design TSS, lbs. % Design 

Jun-23 0.94 398 111% 3,120 39% 299 84% 2,344 30%
Jul-23 0.85 353 99% 2,502 32% 292 82% 2,070 26%

Aug-23 0.90 413 116% 3,100 39% 310 87% 2,327 29%
Sep-23 1.00 557 156% 4,645 59% 477 134% 3,978 50%
Oct-23 1.19 298 83% 2,945 37% 382 107% 3,775 48%

Influent Loading 

Source data monthly DMRs; Source design loading per 2007 Master Plan

Date
Flow, 
mgd

CBOD, 
mg/l

% Design 
CBOD, 

lbs.
% Design  TSS, mg/l % Design TSS, lbs. % Design 

9/6 1.02 563 158% 4,789 61% 575 161% 4,891 62%
9/20 0.88 1150 322% 8,440 107% 973 273% 7,141 90%
9/28 1.28 520 146% 5,551 70% 620 174% 6,619 84%

Influent Loading September

Source data monthly DMRs; Source design loading per 2007 Master Plan



Silverton WWTP Harvest Operations Report 

Page 8 of 24 
 

2.2 Primary Treatment 
Primary treatment includes two rectangular primary clarifiers. The settled sludge is pumped at 
operator set intervals to the gravity thickener. Surface scum is pumped manually to the 
anaerobic digesters. During the harvest season additional monitoring was performed on the 
clarifiers to determine removal efficiency and loading to the secondary system.  

Monitoring focused on total suspended solids (TSS) so that results could be obtained quickly, 
and adjustments made. Due to resource limitations testing of influent TSS and primary effluent 
TSS occurred on separate days. Sample date ranges were averaged to develop removal 
efficiency estimates of the clarifiers. The results show high levels of TSS removal most likely due 
to the readily settleable nature of the corn waste from Dianna Foods. Primary clarifier removal 
rates are typically 50-70%. Table 2.5 represents the results of the primary clarifier sampling 
effort.  

Primary Clarifier Removal Efficiency 

Sample Date Range 
Influent 
TSS, mg/l 

Primary Effluent 
TSS, mg/l 

Percent 
Removal 

August 23 to September 5 482 181 62 
September 6 to September 19 537 72 87 
September 20 to September 26 1290 83 94 
September 27 to October 3 719 47 93 
October 4 to October 9 455 69 85 
October 11 to October 17 465 61 87 

Overall Average for period 645 70 89 
Table 2.5 

Optimization of the primary clarifiers is made by adjusting sludge pumping rates. The current 
system is limited to one pump that serves both clarifiers. The city is planning a capital 
improvement project to replace the current pumping system with a two-pump system with new 
electrical and new structure. This work is expected to occur in the summer of 2024. 

  

 

Primary clarifier during 
harvest season. Typical of two. 



Silverton WWTP Harvest Operations Report 

Page 9 of 24 
 

2.3 Secondary Treatment 
Secondary treatment utilizes activated sludge in a modified oxidation ditch configuration with 
fine bubble air diffusers and mechanical mixers. The system is designed to operate in a 
simultaneous nitrification denitrification mode to remove ammonia while recovering alkalinity.  

The system is currently operated in continuous aeration mode focusing on ammonia removal. 
The process uses chemical addition to maintain alkalinity for treatment and pH stabilization. 

The activated sludge system was adjusted to carry additional biomass in the summer months. 
The increase in sludge residence time allows the system to absorb moderate peaks in organic 
loading and reduces sludge wasting volume.  

The return activated sludge flow rate is closely monitored to maintain a consistent food to mass 
ratio. Caustic soda is added to the process stream to supplement alkalinity and facilitate  
ammonia removal. 

A probe installed in the effluent channel continuously monitors ammonia levels. If the effluent 
ammonia level exceeds target an alarm is generated that notifies operators.  

Maintenance activities have been adjusted so they are not scheduled during peak loading 
months. The system lacks process automation including dissolved aeration control. Operators 
monitor dissolved oxygen periodically and adjust aeration rates manually as needed to 
maintain a target level.  

  

  

 

Aera�on basin in 
opera�on. Typical of two. 



Silverton WWTP Harvest Operations Report 

Page 10 of 24 
 

Increased sampling and analysis of the activated sludge system included additional monitoring 
of solids inventory. This included settling tests, microscopic examination and mixed liquor 
suspended solids concentration (MLSS). During the harvest season a sludge wasting calculator 
was implanted to maintain a target sludge resident time (SRT).  

Early in the harvest season the process control target transitioned from an MLSS target to a SRT 
target. Microscopic examinations were also conducted. From these efforts it was determined 
that an SRT of 19 days was needed. This target was reached and maintained through the harvest 
period. Figure 2.2 shows how the adjustment to the target SRT impacted the MLSS 
concentration.  

 

Figure 2.2 

As the loading to the activated sludge system increased during the harvest period operators 
adjusted the waste activated sludge flow. Waste activated sludge is pumped continuously over 
a 24-hour period. MLSS and return activated sludge (RAS) samples were analyzed several times 
per week. This data was used in the waste calculator to determine if any adjustment was needed 
to the waste pumping rate. Figure 2.3 shows the required increase in sludge wasting due to the 
increased loading to the activated sludge system.   



Silverton WWTP Harvest Operations Report 

Page 11 of 24 
 

Figure 2.3 

Throughout the harvest period settling characteristics of the activated sludge were good. The 
sludge volume index was steady in the 70 to 80 ml/g range. The return sludge ratio remained at 
45 to 50 percent of the influent flow. A clarifier state point analysis was performed on the 
secondary clarifier to show operators that the capacity of the clarifier was sufficient. Figure 2.4 
shows that the red dot (state point) is well below the blue settling curve.  

 

Figure 2.4 

 

0.000

0.002

0.004

0.006

0.008

0.010

0.012

0.014

0.016

0.018

0.020

6/1 6/8 6/15 6/22 6/29 7/6 7/13 7/20 7/27 8/3 8/10 8/17 8/24 8/31 9/7 9/14 9/21 9/28 10/5 10/12

Waste Sludge Flow, MGD



Silverton WWTP Harvest Operations Report 

Page 12 of 24 
 

Enhanced process control efforts have been incorporated into the facility operating strategy. 
These efforts include regular microscopic examination of the activated sludge to determine the 
health of the activated sludge, maintaining a laboratory sampling and analysis plan that can be 
adjusted as conditions change and establishing a target SRT based on influent conditions.  

A recent capital project replaced inoperative process sensors. These new sensors include 
dissolved oxygen, oxygen reduction potential, and total suspended solids concentration. The 
sensors will be on line by December of 2023. 

There is also a capital project to upgrade the process air blower system and include control 
modifications.  

 

2.4 Solids Handling 
Solids handling process includes sludge thickening, anaerobic digestion, sludge storage, and 
disposal. Dilute primary sludge is pumped to the gravity thickener. Thickened primary sludge 
is pumped to the anaerobic digesters. Waste active sludge is pumped to a dissolved air 
floatation thickener. The thickened waste sludge is pumped to the anaerobic digesters. The 
anaerobic digesters stabilize the sludge which overflows the anaerobic digesters into sludge 
storage ponds. Sludge is removed bi annually via contract haulers.  

During the harvest season one of the anaerobic discharge lines plugged with debris and had to 
be taken off line. Calculations showed that the required detention time could be met with one 
anaerobic digester on line. One digester remained on line though the remainder of the harvest 
season. The gas flare and digester boiler were both adjusted to manage digester gas. Gas 
production was consistent with the increased performance and remained stable though the 
harvest period.  

Increased monitoring and adjustment of the gravity thickener was implemented during the 
harvest period. Underflow rates were adjusted as increased blanket levels were detected. 

A capital improvement project is underway to introduce solids dewatering at the facility. A 
screw press has been procured and is on site. Final planning is underway to procure ancillary 
equipment and installation services for a new solids dewatering system.  

 

 

 

  



Silverton WWTP Harvest Operations Report 

Page 13 of 24 
 

Appendix A – Sampling and analysis plan 

 

  



Silverton WWTP Harvest Operations Report 

Page 14 of 24 
 

  



Silverton WWTP Harvest Operations Report 

Page 15 of 24 
 

Appendix  B - Harvest Season Slug Load Response Plan 

 



Silverton WWTP Harvest Operations Report 

Page 16 of 24 
 

 

 



Silverton WWTP Harvest Operations Report 

Page 17 of 24 
 

  



Silverton WWTP Harvest Operations Report 

Page 18 of 24 
 

 



Silverton WWTP Harvest Operations Report 

Page 19 of 24 
 

  



Silverton WWTP Harvest Operations Report 

Page 20 of 24 
 

Appendix C – Sampling and analysis schedule 
 



Silverton WWTP Harvest Operations Report 

Page 21 of 24 
 

Appendix D – Waste Calculator 



Silverton WWTP Harvest Operations Report 

Page 22 of 24 
 

Appendix E  - Process Memo 

 



Silverton WWTP Harvest Operations Report 

Page 23 of 24 
 

 

  



Silverton WWTP Harvest Operations Report 

Page 24 of 24 
 

 



 
 

Memorandum 
 
Date:   November 17, 2023 
 
To:   Brad Jensen, Water Quality Division Supervisor 
 
From:   Mark Walter, Operations Specialist 
  Andrew Grant, Operations Specialist 
 
Re:  Harvest Operations After Action Summary 

Introduction 
The following after-action summary is intended to present observations related to the efficient 
operation of the wastewater treatment facility. A separate report entitled Harvest Operations Report 
provides information on facility performance during the 2023 harvest season and ongoing optimization 
efforts. 

This memorandum provides wastewater program level observations made by the Waterdude Solutions 
team during the 2023 harvest operations season. Recommendations are intended to inform decision 
making related to the wastewater program. Wastewater program areas are grouped as follows. 
 

• Administration 
o Staffing and Resources 
o Data Management 

• Operations 
o Laboratory 
o Liquids 
o Solids  
o Maintenance 

Administration 
The administration of the wastewater treatment facility is performed by the Water Quality Division 
(WQD) supervisor. The supervisor also has administrative responsibility for the water treatment facility, 
remote sewage pump stations, industrial pretreatment, and the operation of the city swimming pool. 
Administration tasks include staffing, safety, budgeting, reporting, capital improvement project 
management, repair, and replacement coordination.  

Regulatory supervision of the wastewater treatment system is currently performed by a contractor. The 
contractor provides oversight of treatment operation to meet the department of environmental quality 
(DEQ) requirement for supervision by a certified grade IV system operator. This is a temporary 
agreement while the WQD supervisor pursues the required certification.  



Harvest Operations After Action Summary 

Page 2 of 13 

 

 

Staffing and data management are two of the primary administrative areas that were identified as 
affecting the performance of the wastewater facility. Each of these areas are highlighted in the following 
subsections.  

Staffing & Resources 
The WQD is currently staffed with five full-time equivalent employees, which includes the supervisor. A 
current WQD organizational chart is included as Figure 1. 

Figure 1. – Water Quality Division Organization 

Operator IIOperator III 

Water Quality 
Division Supervisor

Operator I

Operator 1

Water Wastewater

 

 

The WQD is responsible for operations and maintenance of several program areas within the city’s 
public works department. These areas include several systems and processes outside of the wastewater 
treatment plant. The operations and maintenance duties associated with the additional areas draw 
resources from the wastewater treatment plant. WQD areas of operation are shown as Table 1. 

Water Quality Division Operations and Maintenance 
Wastewater Treatment Water Treatment Water Pump Station (1ea) 
Sewage Pump Stations (8ea) City Swimming Pool Industrial Pretreatment 

 
Table 1 

WDS performed a staffing evaluation of the wastewater treatment plant utilizing the Northeast Guide 
for Estimating Staffing at Publicly and Privately Owned Wastewater Treatment Plants. This guide is used 
nationally to evaluate staffing at wastewater treatment plants. The calculations for the evaluation are 
included as Appendix A. The calculations in figure 2 below show that current staffing levels are not 
adequate to perform all operations and maintenance duties associated with the wastewater treatment 
plant.  



Harvest Operations After Action Summary 

Page 3 of 13 

 

 

Figure 2 

Data Management 
Data that is captured in SCADA and through laboratory analysis is not easily accessed. The SCADA 
reporting program needs to be updated to ensure needed data is captured and remove information tags 
that are no longer in use. The laboratory data is captured onto hand written sheets then entered into a 
spreadsheet. Not all data is entered into the spreadsheet making it difficult to develop historical 
trending. Trending is important because it allows operators to be proactive in decision making. Timely 
access to data is important so that operators can utilize diagnostic tools to make process adjustments.   

Over the past several years electronic file management has become more important. Email 
communication is the primary method of exchanging information. It is important to develop a folder and 
file structure that allows for ease of storage of and access to historical information. Development of an 
information management program will help ensure that information retention requirements are met. 

Recommendations – Administration 

• Develop a staffing plan that supports a desired level of service for the WQD. 
• Utilize Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for the WQD to measure effectiveness. 
• Update SCADA reporting software and create a data spreadsheet that contains both permit and 

process control data.  
• Evaluate the use of a wastewater treatment data database to support historical trending. 
• Create a WQD folder and develop consistent file naming conventions to aid with locating key 

information.  

Operations 
The city’s wastewater treatment facility operates under a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination 
System (NPDES) permit issued by the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality (ODEQ). Permit 
compliance is monitored and enforced by both ODEQ and the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA).  
The current NPDES permit expired in 2009 and has been administratively extended by ODEQ. The 
current estimate for permit renewal is 2025. The treatment facility has a history of permit compliance 
with the exception of exceedances in 2021. These exceedances have been corrected and strategies are 
in place to prevent a recurrence. Operating strategies were developed in 2022 and optimized during the 
summer of 2023.   



Harvest Operations After Action Summary 

Page 4 of 13 

 

The wastewater treatment facility was constructed in 1998 with digester upgrades completed in 2007. 
The facility treats primarily domestic wastewater and receives discharge from two food processors. The 
discharge from the food processors is by permit maintained through the city’s industrial pretreatment 
program.  

The facility operations and maintenance (O&M) manual is not current. The 2007 upgrade and 
subsequent changes are not represented in the manual making training and optimization difficult. 
Changes to operations and maintenance strategies that have occurred over the past twenty years are 
not captured in the manual. During the summer of 2023 the O&M manual was scanned for easier 
access. A design data table was also created as a ready reference for design information on the various 
systems in the facility.   

Wastewater operations typically includes three operators. Operators split duties between operations, 
and other program areas. Wastewater operations includes plant operation, laboratory sampling and 
analysis and maintenance. Activities within the facility are documented in the plant log book.  

The age of the wastewater treatment plant requires ongoing upgrades and refurbishments. WQD staff 
have been proactive in identifying and implementing projects. These projects include screening, primary 
sludge pumping, aeration control, and solids handling upgrades.  

Recommendations – Operations 

• Develop plan for NPDES permit renewal. 
• Update operations and maintenance manual to meet ODEQ requirements.  
• Develop consistent practice of documenting plant activities into log book.  
• Create a facility project plan and schedule to aid with managing projects. 

Laboratory 
Laboratory program activities are performed by a single operator and overseen by the supervisor. A 
laboratory sampling and analysis schedule was developed and employed to aid with process 
optimization. Effluent TSS sampling and analysis procedures were updated. 

The facility does not have a current laboratory quality manual as required by DEQ. A quality assurance, 
quality control program ensures that data that is generated in the laboratory has been performed with 
accuracy and control. 

Data generated in the laboratory is completed on several bench sheets. Some of the data is recorded in 
the facilities’ discharge monitoring report (DMR). Some of the data is only available on bench sheets 
making it difficult to trend important operating data.  

Recommendations – Laboratory 

• Review various testing and analysis requirements to identify workload fluctuations. 
• Label drawers in the laboratory to expedite locating needed tools and supplies. 
• Develop plan for annual QA testing coordination to ensure timely submittal. 
• Implemented a secondary review of daily testing to ensure required tests are being performed. 
• Document all laboratory duties and SOPs to support cross training. 
• Develop ODEQ required laboratory quality manual. 
• Develop electronic tools to ensure that historical data is accurate and accessible.  



Harvest Operations After Action Summary 

Page 5 of 13 

 

Liquids Area  
The liquids area includes the screening, primary clarifiers, flow equalization, activated sludge, secondary 
clarifier, ultraviolet disinfection, and post aeration. An effluent pump station is operated seasonally to 
provide water to the Oregon Gardens. 

There are two mechanical screens available for operation. A new fine opening screen was installed in 
the bypass channel to improve screening removal. The original screen is available for service but allows 
small screenings to pass through. The smaller screen has less hydraulic capacity than the original screen 
and can cause surcharges during high flow conditions. 

The primary effluent flows to the aeration basins which employ an activated sludge process to treat 
wastewater. This process includes mixers, blowers, and air diffusers. The activated sludge flows to 
secondary clarifiers which allow solids to settle and clear water to flow to the ultraviolet disinfection 
system. Once disinfected the water is aerated prior to discharge to Silver Creek.  

The aeration system is not currently automatically adjusting air based on air demand. This requires 
operators to manually adjust air settings. A project is underway that includes new dissolved oxygen 
sensors, oxygen reduction potential sensors and solids sensors. These sensors will allow for the 
reintegration of automatic aeration control.  

The activated sludge process relies heavily on the performance of the primary clarifiers and gravity 
thickener. When these processes are not efficient it creates an increased load on the activated sludge 
system. This load to the aeration basins has been shown to settle in the first zone of the aeration basin 
creating septic conditions. 

The ultraviolet disinfection system was recently retrofitted with a screen to prevent biofouling. Typically, 
one of the two modules are in service.  

Recommendations – Liquids 

• Utilize the process memo to identify target parameters and instruction on adjustments.  
• Evaluate and correct hydraulic conditions at the screens to prevent overflows during surge 

events.  
• Complete the reintegration of the activated sludge sensors to SCADA for automated blower 

control.  
• Monitor and adjust air to the first zone of the aeration basins to prevent settling of sludge and 

septic conditions.  
• Evaluate influent flow conditions for each of the two mechanical screens.  
• Develop operating strategies for use of the equalization basin and how the flow is returned to 

the system.  
 

Solids Area 
The solids area includes sludge pumping, grit removal, sludge thickening, anaerobic digestion, sludge 
storage and biosolids disposal.  

The grit system has been abandoned in place due to ragging issues from the poor performing headworks 
screen.  Grit is currently passing through to the gravity thickener and the digesters.  Grit can accumulate 
in digesters necessitating frequent cleaning in order to manually remove it. 



Harvest Operations After Action Summary 

Page 6 of 13 

 

During the processing season the gravity thickener appeared over loaded on several occasions. This 
included high sludge blankets and visible solids over the effluent weirs. A high blanket decreases the 
removal efficiency of the thickener. This condition was improved by increasing the settled sludge 
pumping rate. Solids that go over the weirs add additional organic loading to the secondary treatment 
system. 

The anaerobic digestion system experienced a failure of one digester due to a plugged discharge line. 
The condition caused one digester to get stuck in partial digestion. The digester was isolated, and a plan 
is being developed to address the sludge and remove the discharge line blockage.  

The sludge pumping data is not accurate making it difficult to determine loading and hydraulic detention 
time.  

The digester gas system was evaluated and adjusted to operate the waste gas flare. Operation of the gas 
flare reduces digester gas release to the atmosphere. The gas system was stabilized, and adjustments 
were made to the digester boiler so that it could operate on digester gas. This immediately reduced the 
facility’s natural gas consumption from boiler operation.  

Digested solids are stored in four lagoons on site.  Lagoons one and two are immediately downstream of 
the two digesters.  Lagoons 3 and 4 are former primary clarifiers that are utilized for seasonal storage 
and drying.  Sludge is pumped from lagoon 2 to lagoon 3 or 4 via trailer mounted pump and hose.  
Biosolids for land application are removed from the lagoons and transported to nearby agricultural land 
by tanker truck.  

Recommendations – Solids Area 

• Evaluate gravity thickener operation and loading to optimize removal during high load 
events. 

• Review sludge flow data recording to ensure that data is correct.  
• Develop hydraulic detention time targets for anaerobic digesters. 
• Implement approximate mass balance worksheet for digester compliance reporting. 
• Plan for replacement of the grit system. 
• Increase monitoring of anaerobic digester parameters through sampling and analysis. 
• Develop operating criteria and guidelines for the new screw press.  
• Update Biosolids Management Plan to reflect the use of the screw press.   

 

Maintenance 
Maintenance is performed by operations staff with support by specialty contractors as needed. 
Typically, one operator is assigned to corrective work and preventive maintenance tasks. Facility 
maintenance and ground tasks are performed by an operator. Reliance on electrical and 
instrumentation contractors’ availability has caused delays in project completion.  

The overall condition of the facility appears in good condition considering many systems have been in 
operation for over 20 years. The grounds, buildings and process areas are well maintained. Automation 
has declined as monitoring systems fail resulting in manual monitoring and adjustment by operators. 
Some control gates and valves are inoperative limiting flow routing options available to the operators.  



Harvest Operations After Action Summary 

Page 7 of 13 

 

 

The facility does not utilize a computerized maintenance management program. Maintenance planning 
and scheduling is performed verbally and captured on a white board. This practice does not enable the 
WQD to adopt a proactive approach to maintenance or asset management.  

Recommendations - Maintenance 

• Develop plan for maintenance management implementation. This includes development of 
asset register, systems, equipment class, failure modes, and work priority. 

• Perform system condition assessment and prioritize future repair, replace and refurbishment 
projects.   

• Develop maintenance plan for each system including preventive and predictive maintenance. 
• Identify key specialty contractors and develop agreements that define expected response times. 
• Develop an inventory system with parts stored in specific areas. 
• Conduct critical assessment of facility systems and identify critical equipment spares.  

  



Harvest Operations After Action Summary 

Page 8 of 13 

 

Appendix A – Staffing Calculations 

 

  



Harvest Operations After Action Summary 

Page 9 of 13 

 

 

  



Harvest Operations After Action Summary 

Page 10 of 13 

 

 

  

Begin Chart 2 – Maintenance

Unit Descriptons # of Units Activity/Flow Hours Calculated Subtotal
# of screens Manually Cleaned Screens 0.25 0.00
# of screens 0 Mechanically Cleaned Screens 0.25 0.00

# of screens 2
Mechanically Cleaned Screens with grinders/washer/         

compactors
1.00 520.00

# of units Comminutor/Macerator 0.25 0.00
# of chambers Aerated Grit Chambers 0.25 0.00

# of units Vortex Grit Removal 0.25 0.00
# of units Gravity Grit Removal 0.15 0.00
# of tanks Additional Process Tanks 0.10 0.00

# of chemicals 
added for 

processes 4
Chemical Addition (varying dependent upon degree of 

treatment)
0.10 104.00

# of clarifiers 2 Circular Clarifiers 0.50 260.00
# of clarifiers Chain and Flight Clarifiers 0.50 0.00
# of clarifiers Traveling Bridge Clarifiers X
# of clarifiers Squircle Clarifiers 0.50 0.00

X Pumps 250.00 0.00
# of trains Rotating Biological Contactor 0.25 0.00
# of TFs Trickling Filters 0.15 0.00

# of tanks Sequencing Batch Reactor 0.15 0.00
# of mixers Mechanical Mixers 0.10 0.00
# of blowers Aeration Blowers 0.20 0.00

# of cartridges Membrane Bioreactor 0.10 0.00
# of systems Subsurface Disposal System 0.10 0.00

X Groundwater Discharge 0.10 0.00
# of digesters Aerobic Digestion 0.10 0.00
# of digesters 2 Anaerobic Digestion 0.20 104.00

# of basins 1 Gravity Thickening 0.10 26.00
# of belts Gravity Belt Thickening 0.15 0.00

# of presses Belt Filter Press 0.15 0.00
# of units Mechanical Dewatering (Plate Frame and Centrifuges) 0.15 0.00
# of units Dissolved Air Floatation 0.10 0.00

X Chlorination (gas) 0.10 0.00
X Chlorination (liq.) 0.20 0.00
X Dechlorination (gas) 0.10 0.00
X Dechlorination (liq.) 0.20 0.00

# of racks 2 Ultraviolet 0.10 52.00
# of units Biofilter 0.50 0.00
# of units Activated Carbon 0.50 0.00
# of units Wet Scrubbers X

# of screens Microscreens 0.10 0.00
# of units Pure Oxygen X
# of units Final Sand Filters 0.20 0.00

# of different 
types of probes Probes/Instrumentation/Calibration

0.10 0.00

End of Chart 2 – Maintenance  SUBTOTAL: 1066.00



Harvest Operations After Action Summary 

Page 11 of 13 

 

 

  

Begin Chart 3 – Laboratory Operations

Frequency of test

# of times 
test is run 

for selected 
time frame Tests

Hours Calculated

Subtotal
Acidity 0.75 0.00

52 1 Alkalinity, total 0.75 39.00
Biochemical Oxygen Demand (BOD) 2.50 0.00

Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD) 2.50 0.00
Chloride 0.50 0.00

Chlorine, Total Residual 0.25 0.00
Coliform, Total, Fecal, E.Coli 1.00 0.00

52 1 Dissolved Oxygen (DO) 0.25 13.00
52 3 Hydrogen Ion (pH) 0.25 39.00

Metals 3.00 0.00
Toxicity 2.00 0.00

Ammonia 2.00 0.00
Total Nitrogen 2.00 0.00
Oil and Grease 3.00 0.00

Total and Dissolved Phosphorus 2.00 0.00
52 2 Solids, Total, Dissolved, and Suspended 3.00 312.00

Specific Conductance 0.25 0.00
Sulfate 1.00 0.00

Surfactants 1.00 0.00
Temperature 0.25 0.00

Total Organic Carbon (TOC) 0.25 0.00
Turbidity 0.25 0.00

52 3 Bacteriological Enterococci 1.00 156.00
12 1 Lab QA/QC Program 1.00 12.00
52 3 Process Control Testing 3.00 468.00
52 3 Sampling for Contracted Lab Services 0.25 39.00

Sampling for Monitoring Groundwater wells 0.50 0.00

End of Chart 3 – Laboratory Operations  SUBTOTAL: 1078.00

*Sampling time is built into testing time estimates.



Harvest Operations After Action Summary 

Page 12 of 13 

 

 

  

Begin Chart 4 – Biosolids/Sludge Handling

Unit Descriptons # of Units Process Hours Calculated Subtotal
Belt Filter Press 6.00 0.00

Plate & Frame Press 3.00 0.00
1 Gravity Thickening 0.50 130.00

Gravity Belt Thickening 0.50 0.00
Rotary Press 0.50 0.00

Dissolved Air Floatation 0.50 0.00
Alkaline Stabilization 0.25 0.00

Aerobic Digestion 0.50 0.00
1 Anaerobic Digestion 0.50 130.00

Centrifuges 3.00 0.00
Composting 4.00 0.00
Incineration X

Air Drying – Sand Beds X
Land Application 0.50 0.00

1 Transported Off-Site for Disposal 4.00 1040.00
Static Dewatering X

End of Chart 4 – Biosolids/Sludge Handling 
SUBTOTAL: 1300.00

Begin Chart 5 – Yardwork

Unit Descriptons # of Units Process Hours Calculated Subtotal
1 Janitorial/Custodial Staff 200 200.00

Snow removal 120 0.00
1 Mowing 120 120.00

# of vechicles Vehicle Maintenance 25 0.00
1 Facility Painting 80 80.00
1 Rust removal 80 80.00

End of Chart 5 – Yardwork   SUBTOTAL: 480.00



Harvest Operations After Action Summary 

Page 13 of 13 

 

 

 

 

 

Begin Chart 6 – Automation/SCADA

Automation/SCADA Yes/No
Automated attendant or Interactive voice recognition (IVR) 
equipment No
Automated Meter Reading (AMR), Touchpad meters or 
other automated metering technology No
Automatic Call Director (ACD) No
Billing system No
Computerized Facilities Management (FM) System No
Computerized preventative maintenance No
Computerized recordkeeping Yes
E-mail Yes
Geographical Information System (GIS) No
Integrated purchasing and inventory No
Internet website No
Laboratory Information Management System (LIMS) No
Local Area Network (LAN) No
Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition (SCADA) Yes
Telemetry Yes
Utility customer information system (CIS) package No

End of Chart 6 – Automation/SCADA

Begin Chart 7 – Considerations for Additional Plant 
Staffing

Activities Yes/No
Management responsibilities (i.e., human resources, 
budgeting, outreach, training, town/city meetings, 
scheduling, etc.) and responsibility for clerical duties (i.e., 
billing, reports, correspondence, phones, time sheets, 
mailings, etc.) Yes
Plant staff responsible for collection system operation and 
maintenance, pump station inspections, and/or combined 
sewer overflows Yes
Plant operators responsible for snow plowing, 
road/sidewalk repair, or other municipal project Yes
Plant staff involved in generating additional energy No
Plant receives an extra high septage and/or grease load 
(higher than designed organic and grease loadings) or 
plant takes in sludge from other treatment plants No
Plant is producing a Class A Biosolid product No
Plant operators responsible for operating generators and 
emergency power No
Plant responsible for industrial pre-treatment program Yes
Plant staff responsible for plant upgrades and large 
projects done both on-site and off-site (i.e., collection 
systems, manholes, etc.) Yes
Plant operators responsible for machining parts on-site No
Age of plant and equipment (over 15 years of age) Yes
End of Chart 7 – Considerations for Additional Plant 
Staffing



Silverton 
WWTP

Harvest Season Report



Summary 
Report

Oregon Department of Environmental Quality
Mutual Agreement and Order

Wastewater Treatment Plant Evaluation

Industrial Loading

Optimization 

Report Due December 30, 2023



Wastewater 
Treatment 
Plant 
Evaluation 

Site visits focused on operations 

Laboratory sampling

Data management

System operational status

Staffing

Industrial loading conditions



Primary Clarifier 1

Primary Clarifier 2

Bar 
Screen

Secondary 
Clarifier 1

Secondary 
Clarifier 2

Dissolved 
Air 

Floatation 
Thickener

Sludge  Storage 
Pond 2

UV Disinfection Post Aeration 

Outfall to 
Silver 
Creek

Effluent 
Pumping

Biosolids
Land Application

Aeration Basin 1

Aeration Basin 2

Anaerobic 
Digester 2

Anaerobic 
Digester 1

Gravity 
Thickener

Sludge  Storage 
Pond 1

Flow Equalization Basin

AB 
Splitter 

Box

Sludge 
Pumpng

SILVERTON WASTEWATER 
TREATMENT PLANT



Wastewater Treatment Plant Loading

Monthly 
Average

Flow, 
mgd

CBOD, 
mg/l

% Design 
CBOD, 

lbs.
% Design  TSS, mg/l % Design TSS, lbs. % Design 

Jun-23 0.94 398 111% 3,120 39% 299 84% 2,344 30%
Jul-23 0.85 353 99% 2,502 32% 292 82% 2,070 26%

Aug-23 0.90 413 116% 3,100 39% 310 87% 2,327 29%
Sep-23 1.00 557 156% 4,645 59% 477 134% 3,978 50%
Oct-23 1.19 298 83% 2,945 37% 382 107% 3,775 48%

Influent Loading 

Source data monthly DMRs; Source design loading per 2007 Master Plan



Wastewater Treatment Plant Loading

Date
Flow, 
mgd

CBOD, 
mg/l

% Design 
CBOD, 

lbs.
% Design  TSS, mg/l % Design TSS, lbs. % Design 

9/6 1.02 563 158% 4,789 61% 575 161% 4,891 62%
9/20 0.88 1150 322% 8,440 107% 973 273% 7,141 90%
9/28 1.28 520 146% 5,551 70% 620 174% 6,619 84%

Influent Loading September

Source data monthly DMRs; Source design loading per 2007 Master Plan



Industrial 
Loading



Optimization 

Process  Monitoring and Adjustment

Enhanced sampling and analysis

Data management

Process control targets



Wastewater 
Treatment 
Plant 
Optimization 

Sampling and analysis schedule

Process control targets and actions

Aeration system 

Anaerobic digester

Sludge feed

Industrial monitoring



Wastewater Treatment Plant Effluent

NPDES  Daily 
Limit 10 mg/l 10 mg/l <0.88 No limit

Month CBOD TSS NH3 NO3
May 2.1 5.8 0.06 15.2
June 1.8 6.6 0.05 24.1
July 1.9 9.0 0.05 23.7
August 2.3 5.2 0.08 20.7
September 1.6 3.1 0.21 17.5
October 1.7 5.4 0.07 19.2

Effluent Concentrations, mg/l

100% Permit Compliance



Harvest 
Operations  
After 
Action 
Summary

Wastewater Treatment Facility

Staffing

Data Management

Operations 



Wastewater Treatment Plant Staffing

Operator IIOperator III 

Water Quality 
Division Supervisor

Operator I

Operator 1

Water Wastewater

Water Quality Division Operations and Maintenance

Wastewater Treatment Water Treatment Water Pump Station (1ea)

Sewage Pump Stations (8ea) City Swimming Pool Industrial Pretreatment



Wastewater Treatment Plant Staffing



Wastewater 
Treatment Plant 
Recommendations 

Staffing

Laboratory QA/QC

Data management

Maintenance management

Solids processing evaluation

Asset condition assessment



Thank you



SILVERTON CITY COUNCIL STAFF REPORT 
TO THE HONORABLE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCILORS 

 
 

City of Silverton | 306 S. Water St., Silverton, OR 

Recommendation: 
 
Adopt Resolution 23-30: A Resolution Adopting Updates to the City of Silverton Emergency 
Operations Plan. 
 
Background:  
 
The Silverton Emergency Operations (EOP) plan requires review every five years or after an 
emergency incident, with all amendments or updates to be approved by the City Council.  The 
current plan was adopted on December 6, 2021, and Silverton experienced an ice-storm 
emergency in 2021. 
 
City Staff should review the Emergency Operations Plan annually for technology, service 
provider, staff, and stakeholder updates. Changes related to these items are the only updates 
included in this EOP update.  
 
Attached, please find Resolution 23-30 and the updated Emergency Operations Plan.  Specific 
updates are attached, first are from the current Plan for comparison, second are the updates  
(highlighted in yellow). 
 
The following is an executive summary of the proposed updates to the EOP. 
 
Cover Page Added the latest revision date 
Resolution Added Resolution 23-30 
Page ix  Added the date for this updated plan 
Page x Added the dates when the plan will be distributed (if approved by the City 

Council) 
Appendix E.  Emergency Contact List 
Page E-1 
Appendix FA1  Emergency Services 
Page FA1-iii  Table of Contents 
Page FA1-8  Section 5 City of Silverton Emergency Services Functions 
Page FA1-8   5.1 Alert and Warning 
Page FA1-9  5.1.3 CodeRED  
 

 

Agenda Item No.: Topic: 
8.1 Resolution 23-30: A 

Resolution Adopting Updates 
to the City of Silverton 
Emergency Operations Plan. 

Agenda Type: 
Consent 

Meeting Date:  
December 4, 2023 

Prepared by: Reviewed by: Approved by: 
Tammy Shaver Cory Misley Cory Misley 



SILVERTON CITY COUNCIL STAFF REPORT 
TO THE HONORABLE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCILORS 

 
 

City of Silverton | 306 S. Water St., Silverton, OR 

 
 

 
 
Attachments:  
Attachment 1 – EOP – updated pages and current pages for comparison – Redacted 

Budget Impact Fiscal Year Funding Source 
None 2023-2024 General Fund 



CITY OF SILVERTON 
RESOLUTION 

23-30 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SILVERTON 
ADOPTING UPDATES TO THE CITY OF SILVERTON EMERGENCY OPERATIONS 
PLAN 
 
WHEREAS, Section 2.44.010 of the Silverton Municipal Code provides that all changes to the 
City of Silverton Emergency Operation Plan be adopted by resolution of the City Council; and 
 
WHEREAS, the current Silverton Emergency Operations Plan requires the plan to be reviewed 
and approved by the City Council every five years, or after an incident; and 
 
WHEREAS, the current Silverton Emergency Operation Plan was adopted on December 6, 
2021; and 
 
WHEREAS, the current Emergency Operations Plan shall be reviewed annually by City Staff 
for technology, service provider, staff, and stakeholder updates; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY OF SILVERTON AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1: That the City of Silverton hereby amends the City of Silverton Emergency 

Operations Plan as provided in respective “City of Silverton Emergency 
Operations Plan” and dated October 2008, Revised May 2015, Revised December 
2021, and Updated December 2023” which by this reference is hereby 
incorporated into this resolution as though it were set forth verbatim herein. 

 
Section 2: That this resolution is and shall be effective after its passage by the City Council 

of the City of Silverton. 
 
Resolution adopted by the City Council of the City of Silverton, this 4th day of December, 2023. 
 
 
 
      _________________________________ 
      Jason Freilinger 
      Mayor, City of Silverton 
 
ATTEST 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Cory R. Misley 
City Manager/Recorder, City of Silverton 







































SILVERTON CITY COUNCIL STAFF REPORT 
TO THE HONORABLE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCILORS 

 
 

City of Silverton | 306 S. Water St., Silverton, OR 

Recommendation: 
Ratify the City Manager amendments to the construction contract with Corp Inc. from 
$15,211,892.31 to $15,258,578.09. 
 
Background:  
As noted during the August 7, 2023, City Council meeting, the City Council adopted modified 
purchasing policies for the Civic Center project to allow contract modifications of up to $60,000 
to be staff approved.  The intent moving forward is to have the contract amendments ratified by 
Council each month rather than the previous practice of informing the Council through the 
Community Development Department Monthly Report.   
 
The Civic Center is under construction.  The exterior walls are framed, and exterior sheathing is 
complete.  The interior framing is installed on the first floor and second floor.  Mechanical, electric, 
and plumbing are generally finished on the first floor and second floor.  Insulation and drywall are 
installed on the first floor and second floor.  The lobby floor polish finish is complete.  Site concrete 
work has begun and is mostly complete.  Roadwork on N Water St is complete for the season.  
Road paving on A Street and within the driving area occurred mid-October.  Sidewalks around the 
site are installed.  Site walls are being installed.  The windows are installed.  Painting of the interior 
is underway.  Tile work in the bathrooms is complete on the first floor and is in progress on the 
second floor.  Landscape irrigation is complete, and plants are being planted.  The City of Silverton 
Public Works crew graded and seeded the southern portion of the site.  Casework is being installed.  
Flooring is being installed.   
 
The construction contract amount was initially $14,750,000.  There have been several Change 
Order Requests as part of the project that to date have added an additional $508,578.09 to the 
contract for a new contract total of $15,258,578.09, a 3.45% increase.  This increase is $46,685.78 
from the November Council report.  As of the November payment requests total $13,269,528.35 
and there is a $1,989,049.74 remaining balance. 

 
Attachments:  

 

 

Agenda Item No.: Topic: 
8.2 Civic Center Change Order 

Ratification 
Agenda Type: 

Consent 
Meeting Date: 

December 4, 2023 
Prepared by: Reviewed by: Approved by: 

Jason Gottgetreu Kathleen Zaragoza Cory Misley 

Budget Impact Fiscal Year Funding Source 
$46,685.78 2023-2024  Civic Center Project Fund 



SILVERTON CITY COUNCIL STAFF REPORT 
TO THE HONORABLE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCILORS 

 
 

City of Silverton | 306 S. Water St., Silverton, OR 

Recommendation: 
Accept the Systems Development Charge (SDC) Annual Report for Fiscal Year 2022-2023. 
 
Background:  
The City is required per ORS 223.311 to prepare an annual SDC report which provides revenues 
and expenditures for the previous fiscal year. 
 
The City collects SDC’s for Transportation, Storm Drainage, Sanitary Sewer, Water and Parks & 
Recreation.  The revenues and expenditures are accounted for in the financial system as separate 
funds to assure that resources are expended as per Statutes.   

 
The attached report provides information related to revenues received and the expenditure for the 
various SDC funds for the Fiscal Year 2022-2023. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Attachments:  

1. SDC Annual Summary Report FY 2022-2023 
2. Copy of the letter to the Home Builders Association of Marion and Polk Counties  

 

Agenda Item No.: Topic: 

8.3 Accept the Systems 
Development Charge (SDC) 
Annual Report for Fiscal Year 
2022-2023 

Agenda Type: 

Consent 

Meeting Date:  

December 4, 2023 

Prepared by: Reviewed by: Approved by: 

Kathleen Zaragoza Cory Misley Cory Misley 

Budget Impact Fiscal Year Funding Source 
No 2023-2024 SDC’s 





                                 CITY OF SILVERTON

I STREET IMPROVEMENT SDC FUND
Beginning Fund Balance 021-000-49090 2,184,397.10$      

A. Revenue from SDC Fees - Street Improvement 021-000-42307 110,233.96            
Revenue from SDC Fees - Steelhamer SDC 021-000-42308 27,008.12              
Interest 021-000-45002 64,999.51              

Revenue Subtotal: 202,241.59           
B Other Financing Expenditures - Refunds 021-021-61053 (49,662.00)$          
C. Improvement Project Expenditures/Transfers 021-021-95217 -                        

Contracted Services - 021-021-61059 (3,410.50)              
D. Street Capacity Improvements 021-021-81072 (43,778.00)            

Expense Subtotal: (96,850.50)            
Unexpended Street Improvement SDC Funds: 2,289,788.19$      

 
II STREET REIMBURSEMENT SDC FUND

Beginning Fund Balance 022-000-49090 574,045.07$         
A. Revenue from SDC Fees 022-000-42309 20,973.53$            

Interest 022-000-45002 16,983.70              
Revenue Subtotal: 37,957.23             

B. Other Financing Expenditures - Refunds 022-022-61053 (10,079.00)$          
C. Improvement Project Expenditures/Transfers 022-022-95217 -                        
D. Street Capacity Improvements 022-022-81072 -                        

Expense Subtotal: (10,079.00)            
Unexpended Street Reimbursement SDC Funds: 601,923.30$         

III STEELHAMMER PROJECT FUND
Beginning Fund Balance 217-000-49090 22,552.53$           

A. Revenue from SDC Fees - Steelhammer 217-000-42308 -$                      
Interest 217-000-45002 -                        

Revenue Subtotal: -                        
B Other Financing Expenditures - Transferred to St Imp SDC 217-217-95021 (22,552.53)$          
C. Improvement Project Expenditures- widening and sidewalk 217-217-85020 -                        

Contracted Services - Engineering 217-217-85010 -                        
Expense Subtotal: (22,552.53)            

Unexpended Steelhammer Porject Funds: -$                      
 

IV STORM WATER IMPROVEMENT SDC FUND
Beginning Fund Balance 023-000-49090 263,330.22$         

A. Revenue from SDC Fees 023-000-42307 14,956.55$            
Interest 023-000-45002 7,644.81                

Revenue Subtotal: 22,601.36             
B. Other Financing Expenditures - Refunds 023-023-61053 (13,839.00)$          
C. Improvement Project Expenditures/Transfers

Contracted Services - SDC Methodology update 023-023-61059 (3,410.50)$            
Improvement Project Expenditures - Westrand Development 023-023-81072 (3,780.00)              

D. SDC Reimburse/Credit Payments to Developers 023-023-81801 (2,100.00)              
Expense Subtotal: (23,129.50)            

Unexpended Storm Water Improvement SDC Funds: 262,802.08$         

V STORM WATER REIMBURSEMENT SDC FUND
A. Beginning fund Balance 024-000-49090 184,691.60$         

Revenue from SDC Fees 024-000-42309 10,672.68$            
Interest 024-000-45002 5,460.12                

Revenue Subtotal: 16,132.80             
B. Other Financing Expenditures - Refunds 024-024-61053 (15,991.00)$          

   System Capacity Improvements 024-024-81072 (2,468.34)              
Expense Subtotal (18,459.34)            

Unexpended Storm Water Reimbursement SDC Funds: 182,365.06$         

SUMMARY OF IMPROVEMENT & REIMBURSEMENT                                                                                                                          
SDC REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES FOR FISCAL YEAR 2022-2023

Page 1 of 2



SUMMARY OF IMPROVEMENT & REIMBURSEMENT                                                                                                                          
SDC REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES FOR FISCAL YEAR 2022-2023

VI SEWER IMPROVEMENT SDC FUND
Beginning Fund Balance 031-000-49090 1,601,830.25$      

A. Revenues from SDC Fees 031-000-42307 89,518.39$            
Interest 031-000-45002 47,947.63              

Revenue Subtotal: 137,466.02           
B. Other Financing Expenditures - Refunds 031-031-61053 (3,136.00)$            
C. Improvement Project Expenditures/Transfers

Contracted Services - 031-031-61059 (3,410.50)              
D. SDC Reimburse/Credit Payments to Developers 031-031-81801 -                        

Expense Subtotal: (6,546.50)              
Unexpended Sewer Improvement SDC Funds: 1,732,749.77$      

VII SEWER REIMBURSEMENT SDC FUND
Beginning Fund Balance 032-000-49090 2,246,946.86$      

A. Revenues from SDC Fees 032-000-42309 39,080.65$            
Interest 032-000-45002 66,013.16              

Revenue Subtotal: 105,093.81           
B. Other Financing Expenditures - Refunds 032-032-61053 (1,517.00)$            
C. Reimbursement Project Expenditures/Transfers 032-032-95226 -                        
D. SDC Reimburse/Credit Payments to Developers 032-032-81801 -                        

Expense Subtotal: (1,517.00)              
Unexpended Sewer Reimbursement SDC Funds: 2,350,523.67$      

VIII WATER IMPROVEMENT SDC FUND
Beginning Fund Balance 041-000-49090 2,406,195.01$      

A. Revenues from SDC Fees 041-000-42307 156,699.39$          
Interest 041-000-45002 40,681.38              

Revenue Subtotal: 197,380.77           
B. Other Financing Expenditures - Refunds 041-041-61053 (6,928.00)$            
C. Improvement Project Expenditures/Transfers 041-041-95___ (1,756,673.77)       

Contracted Services - 041-041-61059 (3,410.50)              
Expense Subtotal: (1,767,012.27)       

Unexpended Water Improvement SDC Funds: 836,563.51$         

IX WATER REIMBURSEMENT SDC FUND
Beginning Fund Balance 042-000-49090 556,731.91$         

A. Revenues from SDC Fees 042-000-42309 35,158.89$            
Interest 042-000-45002 16,626.06              

Revenue Subtotal: 51,784.95             
B. Other Financing Expenditures - Refunds 042-042-61053 (1,357.00)$            
C. Improvement Project Expenditures/Transfers 042-042-95073 -                        
D. SDC Reimburse/Credit Payments to Developers 042-042-81801 -                        

Expense Subtotal: (1,357.00)              
Unexpended Water Reimbursement SDC Funds: 607,159.86$         

X PARKS & RECREATION IMPROVEMENT SDC FUND
Beginning Fund Balance 072-000-49090 2,389,494.55$      

A. Revenues from SDC Fees 072-000-42307 134,060.78$          

Interest 072-000-45002 68,214.35              

Revenue Subtotal: 202,275.13           

B. Other Financing Expenditures - Refunds 072-072-61053 (3,881.00)$            
C. Improvement Project Expenditures - All abilities park 072-072-81040 (127,000.00)          
C. Improvement Project Expenditures/Transfers 072-072-95___ (75,000.00)            

Contracted Services - SDC Methodology update 072-072-61059 (3,410.50)              

D. SDC Reimburse/Credit Payments to Developers 072-072-81801 -                        
Expense Subtotal: (209,291.50)          

Unexpended Parks & Recreation SDC Funds: 2,382,478.18$      

11,246,353.62$    

Page 2 of 2



SILVERTON CITY COUNCIL STAFF REPORT 
TO THE HONORABLE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCILORS 

 
 

City of Silverton | 306 S. Water St., Silverton, OR 

Recommendation: 
Reappoint Darin Rybloom to the Oregon Garden Foundation (OGF).  
 
Background:  
Darin Rybloom has served on the Oregon Garden Foundation. His current term is set to expire in 
December 2023. Mr. Rybloom has indicated he would like to be reappointed to the OGF for 
another three-year term expiring December 2026. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Attachments:  

1. None 
 

 

Agenda Item No.: Topic: 
9.1 Reappointment to the Oregon 

Garden Foundation 
Agenda Type: 

Appointments to Committees 
and Advisory Groups 

Meeting Date:  
December 4, 2023 

Prepared by: Reviewed by: Approved by: 
Tammy Shaver Cory Misley Cory Misley 

Budget Impact Fiscal Year Funding Source 
None 2023-2024 N/A 



Community Development Department 
Monthly Report – December 2023 

1 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 
MONTHLY REPORT 

For The December 4, 2023, City Council Meeting 
Planning Division 

 
• The Civic Center is under construction.  The steel frame is erected roof installed and 

the second floor has been poured.  The exterior walls are framed, and exterior 
sheathing is complete.  The streel re-work has been completed on the second floor.  
The interior framing is installed on the first floor and second floor.  Mechanical, 
Electric, and Plumbing is generally finished on the first floor and second floor.  
Insulation and drywall are installed on the first floor and second floor.  Interior mason 
work for the holding cells and armory is complete.  The lobby floor polish finish is 
complete.  Site concrete work has begun with the concrete curb around the south 
parking area has been poured as well as the pervious concrete parking stalls and 
plaza and walkway areas near the entrances.  Roadwork on N Water St is complete 
for the season.  Road paving on A Street and within the drive area occurred mid-
October.  Sidewalks around the site are installed.  Site walls are being installed.  Old 
train tracks were discovered under the road and have been removed.  The windows 
are installed.  Painting of the interior is underway.  Tile work in the bathrooms is 
completed on the first floor and is in progress on the second floor.  Landscape 
irrigation is completed, and plants are being installed.  The City of Silverton Public 
Works crew graded and seeded the southern portion of the site.  Casework is being 
installed.  Flooring is being installed.   
 
The construction contract amount was initially $14,750,000.  There have been 
several Change Order Requests as part of the project that to date have added an 
additional $476,987.57 to the contract for a new contract total of $15,258,578.09, a 
3.45% increase.  This increase is $46,685.78 from the November Council report.  As 
of the November payment request, $12,606,051.93 has been paid out on the project 
with a $2,652,526.16 balance to finish. 
 

• The Affordable Housing Task Force met on November 21st and reviewed the Draft 
Request for Proposals for a potential Affordable Housing Development on the 
Westfield property.  The RFQ has been advertised with a submission date of 
December 12th. 

 
• The Silverton Urban Renewal Advisory Committee met October 30th to review a draft 

survey for public input on a Main Street Project.  The survey will be available for the 
tree lighting on December 1st.  

 
• The Planning Commission met on November 14th to review:   

 
o An Annexation application to annex 827 Railway Avenue NE into the City 

Limits and zone the property GC, General Commercial.   
 Recommended Council approve the request. 

o A Zone Change Application to change the zoning of 602 Eureka Avenue from 
R-1, Single Family Residential to R-5, Low Density Residential.   
 Recommended Council deny the request.  

 
• Staff approved a Minor Partition application request to divide 216 Cherry Street, a 

0.45 acre parcel, into three parcels with parcel 1 containing 5,092 square feet, parcel 
2 containing 6,646 square feet, and parcel 3 containing 7,248 square feet.  The 
parcels will be accessed via a 20’ shared access and utility easement off Cherry 
Street. 



Community Development Department 
Monthly Report – December 2023 

2 

 
• Staff approved a Property Line Adjustment application to adjust the common 

property lines between 1507 N. 2nd Street and Marion County Assessor Map and tax 
lot #061W27DA01200.  The application also includes a concurrent Minor Partition 
application request to divide 1507 N. 2nd Street into two parcels with parcel 1 
containing 10,750 square feet and parcel 2 containing 10,750 square feet.   

 
• Staff is reviewing a Minor Partition application to partition tax lot 3500 into two 

parcels with parcel 1 containing 6,599 square feet and parcel 2 containing 6,600 
square feet with a concurrent adjustment to allow a 10% deviation from minimum lot 
size and width standards. 
 

• The Parks and Recreation Master Plan Update Project Advisory Committee held its 
seventh meeting on November 7th and discussed the format of the Open House 
scheduled for December 5th at the Silverton Senior Center to be held from 6 p.m. to 8 
p.m. 
 

 



Page 1 of 3 
 

City of Silverton 
Public Works Department 
 

 

MEMO  
 
DATE:  November 30, 2023  
FROM:   Travis Sperle, Public Works Director 
TO:    Cory Misley, City Manager; City Council Members 
RE:   Public Works Department December 4, 2023, Council Meeting Update 
 
ENGINEERING | ADMINISTRATION DIVISION 
 
Public Projects: 

• Silver Creek Intake | Supply Line (EDA Grant): Pumps have been installed.  Waiting for electrical 
to be completed. 

• ASR Study:  Water Resources Commission approved a $250,000 grant for this study at their 
June 15-16 meeting.  The agreement between the City and OWRD is with the City Manager. 

•  WWTP Screw Press Project: Is moving forward. 
• Civic Center: Project under construction and being reviewed by City Staff.  Contractor working 

on new curb and sidewalk.  Final paving is set for spring of 2024 for Water Streets.  
• 2nd Street Reconstruction: Majority of underground utilities installed, road currently being 

excavated, and sub graded, curb and sidewalk install to commence.   
• WWTP Blowers Project: Contractor has started work on instrumentation portion of project.  

Blowers are not expected to arrive until December. 
• Silverton Overlay Project:  Project is completed.  
• WWTP UV Screen Project: bar screen at the WWTP upstream of the UV units is moving forward.  
• Sewer CIPP Project: Project to slip line 4, Project to start in December and January . 

Programs: 
• Banner reservations calendar full for the entirety of December and January.  

 

Private Projects: 
 
Residential (# of lots) 

• Pioneer Village Phase VI (38): PGE has completed streetlight installation. 
• Westside Gateway (30 PH 1, 34 PH 2):  Public Works Improvements are complete. 
• Habitat for Humanity Development (18):  Contractor has begun work on development.  The site 

has been cleared and grubbed and rock base placed on road sections. A new plan for install of 
storm line approved to minimize residential and existing utility impact.  

• Paradise Village Subdivision (39): Contractor has completed utility installation on interior 
streets.  Sanitary sewer and storm sewer utilities on James Street started on 5/31/23. Sewer and 
Storm lines have passed all mandrel and vacuum testing. James Street paved and open, dry 
utilities being installed, prepping for final PW walkthrough.  



Page 2 of 3 
 

• Pioneer Village Phase VII (6): Sewer system being installed. Rough grading of road completed. 
Sewer laterals installed, storm and waterline installation to commence.  
 

Commercial 
• Silverton Hospital Expansion: ROW work ongoing.  New ADA ramp on east side of Fairview 

completed this month. Sidewalk and driveways along Phelps, Cherry, and Center streets 
completed this month. Old sewer laterals capped and abandoned, several more to be 
completed.  

• 115 S James Street (apartments): Contractor has installed new storm pond on north side of 
building that accepts roof drains.  New water services to building and apartments in the back 
completed so existing 3” line could be abandoned.  Work includes ½ width improvements on 
James and new sidewalk on James and Silver Streets. New sidewalks and curbs completed. Road 
improvements on James and Silver completed.  
 

MAINTENANCE DIVISION 
 
Street 

• Monthly street sweeping.  
• Responded to damaged street signs. 
• Pothole patching 
• Gravel road maintenance as weather allows. 

 
Sewer   

• Responded to customer sewer related calls. 
• Worked with contractors on new sewer service installations. 
• Service lateral replacements or repairs.  
• CCTV Coolidge st sewer mainline. 

 
 
Water 

• Installed and changed out water meters for new construction and failed meters. 
• Completed monthly water meter reading routes. 
• Installed new water services for new construction. 

 
 

Facilities 
• Maintenance on buildings and grounds including equipment maintenance and vegetation 

management. 
• Pre-planning for new Civic Center needs. 

 
Parks 

• Maintenance on buildings and grounds including mowing and vegetation management. 
• Graffiti removal. 
• Leaf removal 
• Winterizing of park buildings, drinking fountains and sprinkler systems. 

 
  



Page 3 of 3 
 

 
 

 
WATER QUALITY DIVISION 

Water Treatment Plant 
• General Cleanup at water treatment plant under way. Usage has been about the same 
• Routine Quarterly Sampling 
• Abiqua Creek around 11cfs Water Plant Flow around 3.5cfs 
• New Emergency lighting installed on buildings and parking area. 

Wastewater Treatment 
• Treatment plant flows averaging less than 1 MGD, 
•  Oregon Garden New VFD Project is a work in process.  Waiting on a few crucial parts to complete 

project. 
• Blower Project. Still waiting for the new blowers to arrive. Instruments have been installed and 

are working, programming into SCADA still needed at this time. 
• UV Bar Screen Project is underway. Parts and equipment have been ordered. 
• Screw Press Project is underway. Reviewing of Submittals, parts and equipment are ordered. 
• DEQ Required Independent Study almost complete. Council Presentation of the report coming in 

December 
• NO VIOLATIONS  

 

Community Swimming Pool 
• Construction of the new Silver Creek raw water intake is underway. 
• Pool Cover installed the week of Oct 16-20 

   



SILVERTON POLICE ACTIVITY REPORT Oct-23
CALLS FOR SERVICE Oct YTD ARRESTS Oct YTD CITATIONS Oct YTD
Arson 0 1 Arson 0 2 Traffic Crimes
Assist Other Agency 19 227 Assault/Harassment 1 33 DUII 5 52
Attempt to Locate 10 143 Burglary 3 7 DWS-Misd./Felony Level 5 23
Auto Theft/Including Attempt 2 11 Drug 0 9 Traffic Violations
Burglary 1 13 Forgery/Fraud/Counterfeit 2 5 All Other 124 1128
Deaths/Natural 1 12 Juv-Curfew 0 0 Warnings 39 456
Emotionally Disturbed Person 4 50 Runaway 1 1 Violations
Disturbance 3 85 Kidnap 0 0 MIP Alcohol 0 3
Family Disturbance 10 79 Furnishing Liquor 0 1 MIP Marijuana 0 2
Fraud/Forgery/Counterfeit 5 41 Menacing 0 6 PCS Schedule I-IV 0 2
Harassment/Assault 4 68 Murder/Criminal Death 0 0 Civil Infractions
Ordinance Violations 33 342 Rape 0 2 Dogs-Noise/Leash/Vicious 1 5
Prowler/Trespass 9 123 Robbery 0 0
Public Assist 41 393 Sex Crimes/Other 1 7 TOTAL CITATIONS ISSUED 174 1673
Rape 0 2 Stalking 0 0
Robbery/Including Attempts 0 1 Theft 9 39
Runaway 4 23 Trespassing 1 19
School Resource 38 269 UUMV 0 1 3 YEAR COMPARISON 2021 2022 2023
Sex Crimes 1 14 Vandalism 3 19 Arson 1 0 1
Shots Fired 0 5 Violation of Court Orders 24 220 Auto Theft/Include Attempts 35 53 11
Stalking 0 1 Weapons Violations 1 14 Burglary 14 11 13
Suicide/ Including Attempts 2 32 Misc./Other Crimes 18 187 School Resource 101 204 269
Suspicious  57 669 Sex Crimes 15 19 14
Theft/Including Attempts 9 124 Rape 1 0 2
Weapons 0 0 JUVENILE ARRESTS 6 31 Robbery 0 1 1
Vandalism     10 67 ADULT ARRESTS 58 570 Vandalism 46 45 67
Misc./Other 462 3493 TOTAL ARRESTS 64 602

CALLS FOR SERVICE 4426 4456 6327
TOTAL CALLS FOR SERVICE 743 6327 TOTAL ARRESTS 393 446 602

TOTAL CITATIONS 1129 2914 1673



Working in a Proactive Partnership with Our Community to Solve Problems and Enhance the Quality of Life for Our Citizens 

CITY OF SILVERTON POLICE DEPARTMENT

306 S. Water Street | Silverton, Oregon 97381 
 Jim Anglemier, Chief of Police 

October
2023 Monthly Statistics: Calls For Service Misc./Other Breakdown 

911 Investigation 2 
Alarm – Burglary 17 
Area Check 144 
Bar Tavern Check 10 
Civil Situation 4 
Crash – Hit and Run 5 
Crash – Injury 4 
Crash – Non Injury 8 
DHS Referral 2 
DUII 6 
Elude 1 
Emergency Message 1 
Extra Patrol 10 
Field Interview 20 
Fireworks 1 
Foot Patrol 5 
Insecure Premise 23 
Intoxicated Subject 2 
MIP Tobacco 1 
Missing – Child/Elder 1 
Missing Person 3 
Neglect – Child/Elder 1 
Property – Lost/Found 15 
Reckless Driving 3 
Restraining Order Violation 1 
Traffic Assist 4 
Traffic Stop 136 
Warrant Service 12 
Welfare Check 20 


	City Council Presentation - Survey Ready (1).pdf
	Economic Development �Strategy Project
	Economic Development Program
	Funding
	Slide Number 4
	Economic Development Strategy Project
	Get Involved!
	Contact Us
	Slide Number 8

	Police Stats 09-23.pdf
	Stats 9-23
	Sheet1

	Sept Stats Breakdown

	Ord 23-06  Annexing 827 Railway.pdf
	(5) An abstract of the vote upon the referendum, if a referendum petition was filed, with respect to the ordinance adopted under ORS 222.120.

	DEQ MAO.pdf
	2023 Mutual Agreement and Final Order_signed by Silverton.pdf
	Silverton 2022-015 Amended Exhibits 1-3.pdf
	Silverton 2022-015 Amended Exhibit 1 Ammonia N.pdf
	Silverton 2022-015 Amended Exhibit 2 TSS.pdf
	Silverton 2022-015 Amended Exhibit 3 pH.pdf


	Water Dudes Harvest Report.pdf
	1.0 Introduction
	2.0 Process Evaluation and Optimization
	2.1 Influent Loading
	2.2 Primary Treatment
	2.3 Secondary Treatment
	2.4 Solids Handling

	Appendix A – Sampling and analysis plan
	Appendix  B - Harvest Season Slug Load Response Plan
	Appendix C – Sampling and analysis schedule
	Appendix D – Waste Calculator
	Appendix E  - Process Memo

	Water Dudes Department Review.pdf
	Introduction
	Administration
	Staffing & Resources
	Data Management

	Operations
	Laboratory
	Liquids Area
	Solids Area
	Maintenance

	Appendix A – Staffing Calculations

	Water Dudes PP Review.pdf
	Silverton WWTP�Harvest Season Report
	Summary Report
	Wastewater Treatment Plant Evaluation 
	Slide Number 4
	Wastewater Treatment Plant Loading
	Wastewater Treatment Plant Loading
	Industrial Loading
	Optimization 
	Wastewater Treatment Plant Optimization 
	Wastewater Treatment Plant Effluent
	Harvest Operations  After Action Summary
	Wastewater Treatment Plant Staffing
	Wastewater Treatment Plant Staffing
	Wastewater Treatment Plant Recommendations 
	Thank you

	Stats 10-23.pdf
	Stats 10-23
	Sheet1

	Stats Breakdown October

	Ord 23-06  Annexing 827 Railway.pdf
	(5) An abstract of the vote upon the referendum, if a referendum petition was filed, with respect to the ordinance adopted under ORS 222.120.




